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One: Introduction

New South Associates completed this study to fulfill part of the Programmatic Agreement Regarding
the Construction of Route 1 Improvements Project. In Fairfax County, Virginia, a 3.4-mile section of
U.S. Route 1/Richmond Highway between Telegraph Road (Route 611) and Mount Vernon Memorial
Highway (Route 235) will be widened and partially realigned by the Federal Highway Administration
(FHWA), Eastern Federal Lands Highway Division, in cooperation with Fairfax County, U.S. Army
Garrison Fort Belvoir, and the Virginia Department of Transportation. The realigned roadway section
will traverse a parcel owned by the National Trust for Historic Preservation, on which the historic Otis
Tufton Mason House is currently sited (Figure 1). The realignment will result in the relocation of the Otis

Tufton Mason House to a new and permanent site.

Though now called the Otis Tufton Mason House, the central and most historic section of this building
is believed to have been constructed circa 1854, prior to ownership by Otis T. Mason, pioneer of
anthropology and District of Columbia resident. Following two major additions, Mason’s weekend

retreat reached its current L shape around 1880. Located near his parents’ high-style mansion at

Woodlawn Mansion

Proposed Right-of-Way of U.S. Route 1
Proposed Realignment of U.S. Route 1 & ¥ 1

o < Otis Tufton Mason House
250 500 Feet 1 7 s £ R
] ] ¥ : ¢ i

100 Meters \

o iz

Figure 1. Project Location Map NAD 83, UTM Zone 18N. Source: ESRI World Imagery
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Woodlawn, Mason’s modest house is comparatively simple in type and design. The house is nonetheless
important to the historic fabric of the area, as it continues to convey the feeling of a nineteenth-century

rural vernacular home.

While no relocation site has been selected yet, the house, located south of what is now U.S. Route
1, may be moved to the north side of realigned U.S. Route 1. When a permanent site is selected for
the house, it will be placed in a reconstructed, historically accurate setting, where historic feeling and
associations will remain intact. Additionally, site improvements such as access and a parking area will

be developed at the selected site.

This study provides a record of significant architectural features of the Otis Tufton Mason House
and documents the history of the building and its added and removed architectural features. It also
identifies and records features for documentation for removal and reconstruction, including the cellar,
foundation, and chimneys, as well as describes significant architectural features of the building using

both written and photographic descriptions.

Information for this study was not only gathered while on site at the Otis Tufton Mason House but
was also obtained during visits to area repositories. Research was conducted at the Virginia Room
of the Fairfax County Public Library in Alexandria, Virginia, the offices of the National Trust for
Historic Preservation in Washington, D.C., and at the archives in the Woodlawn Mansion. The notes,
photographs, and drawings of Laura Walker, located at both the archives at Woodlawn Mansion and
at the National Trust offices, were of particular importance in describing the major restoration project
that took place at the Otis Tufton Mason House between 1974 and 1976. At times, Walker described
mid-twentieth-century photography when referencing changes to the house. Though Walker mentions
that such photographs were obtained from the National Trust, no such images were located during the

current study.

This report is divided into sections and includes a timeline outlining the building’s ownership and
development, which follows this introduction. An account of the evolution of the building, including
written and illustrative information concerning historic and non-historic alterations and additions,
follows an historical context. A written and photographic description of the building’s setting and
landscape and current architectural elements is next, beginning with a discussion of character-
defining features. Descriptions of the exterior and interior architectural elements are presented next.
An assessment of existing conditions follows and conclusions are presented in the final chapter. ,
Reproduced documentation from previous major restoration and repair projects can be found in the

appendices, located at the end of the document after the References Cited.



Two: Timeline of Ownership and Development

1799

1820

1846

1847

1848

1850

1854

1865

1872

General George Washington gives Eleanor (Nelly)
Custis and Lawrence Lewis nearly 2,000 acres, which
include a hilltop personally selected by Washington as

the site of their future home, Woodlawn Mansion.

The Lewises grant Woodlawn to their son, Lorenzo, but

remain primary residents of Woodlawn Mansion.

Lorenzo Lewis enters into an agreement with New

Jersey and Pennsylvania Quakers to sell Woodlawn.

Lorenzo Lewis dies before the sale of Woodlawn is

finalized.

Jacob Troth, Chalkley Gillingham, Lucas Gillingham, and
Paul Hillman Troth, all Quakers from Camden County,
New Jersey and Philadelphia, finalize the purchase of

Woodlawn.

John Mason purchases Woodlawn Mansion and

surrounding acreage from the Quaker settlers.

Approximate date of construction for the earliest

building phase of the Otis Tufton Mason House.

Otis Mason purchases 63 acres of the Woodlawn
tract, on which the circa 1854 building stands, from his

parents, John and Rachel Mason.

Otis T. and Sarah Mason sell a two-acre parcel of their
existing tract to trustees assembled for the purposes

of constructing Woodlawn Baptist Church.

Eleanor Custis Lewis

Source: Library of Congress

Chalkley Gillingham

Source: Library of Congress

Rachel Lincoln

Source: The Alexandria Gazette,
February 28, 1970
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1873

1879

1880

1902

1905

1925

1948

1951

1957

Approximate date of construction for the second

building phase of the Otis Tufton Mason House.

“Otis Mason” first demarcated on Griffith
Morgan Hopkins, Jr's map of the Mt. Vernon
District.

Approximate date of construction for the third
and final building phase of the Otis Tufton Mason

House.

Otis Mason sells his 61 acres to Paul Kester, who
previously purchased the Woodlawn Mansion

tract.

Paul Kester sells the whole of his Woodlawn
acreage, including the Otis Tufton Mason House,

to Elizabeth Sharpe.

Senator Oscar W. and Bertha W. Underwood
purchase Sharpe's Woodlawn acreage following
her death in 1924.

Bertha Underwood dies, and Woodlawn Public
Foundation, Inc. purchases the tract for the

purposes of preserving the Woodlawn Mansion.

National Trust for Historic Preservation begins

leasing the entire Woodlawn acreage.

National Trust for Historic Preservation purchases

the Woodlawn tracts.

Otis Tufton Mason

Source:The Popular Science Monthly,
January 1909

Mr. and Mrs. Underwood

Source: Library of Congress
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National Trust

Source: Library of Congress




Three: Historical Context

First constructed circa 1854, the building now known as the Otis Tufton Mason House was built in three
phases. It is believed that Otis Tufton Mason first enlarged the house circa 1873, while an additional
wing was attached to the residence circa 1880. The following context draws on the previous work
of historians such as Susan Hellman, Tony P. Wrenn, Martha Claire Catlin, and Brad Botwick, whose
writings and notes on the house provide a framework from which to draw for the current study (see
Catlin 2009; Hellman 2013; Patch et al. 2013; Wrenn 1972).

Unfortunately, deed, census, and tax data associated with the Otis Tufton Mason House do not give
a clear description of the building’s history of ownership or of its dates of construction. However,
such primary resources do relay a history of land ownership and actions in the vicinity that help form a

context to which the house is related.
FAIRFAX COUNTY HISTORY

The Otis Tufton Mason House sits south of U.S. Route 1 near the head of Dogue Creek, a short
tidal embayment of the Potomac River. This location is in southeastern Fairfax County near the
Potomac River. The Potomac forms the northern boundary of the Northern Neck of Virginia, with the

Rappahannock River being the southern boundary.

The Northern Neck, containing roughly 5,000,000 acres, was originally held as a proprietary by a
group of six Englishmen who received a grant to the territory in 1649 as a reward for their support of
King Charles Il during his exile. Eventually, in 1692, the Fairfax family obtained control of the entire
proprietary, in part though marriages to the Culpepers. Thomas, Lord Fairfax, appointed Robert Carter
his agent in 1702 and charged him with placing tenants on the Northern Neck for nominal quitrents

(Bryant and Sperling 2007:14; Cooke et al. 2001:11).

The Virginia Assembly originally included the entire Northern Neck in a single large county called
Northumberland. As population expanded, requiring smaller divisions with separate courthouses,
Northumberland was divided up, the majority of its northern portion becoming Westmoreland County
in 1653. Stafford County was carved from the northern part of Westmoreland in 1664. Over the next
60 years, population grew enough to require the division of additional counties. In 1730, the Assembly
created Hamilton Parish in the northern part of Stafford County and, using the parish boundaries,
established Prince William County in 1731. The following year, the Assembly separated the northern
part of Hamilton Parish to form Truro Parish, which became Fairfax County in 1742 (Netherton et al.
1978; Figure 2).

Otis Tufton Mason House: Context and Assessment
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Figure 2. Detail of the 1755 Dressée sur la Grande Carte Angloise de Mrs. Josué Fry et Pierre Jefferson by
Robert de Vaugondy, Washington’s Mt. Vernon Estate Denoted between Little Hunting and Dogue Creeks

Source: University of Virginia Library

Settlement was slow in the Northern Neck and only began in earnest during the first part of the
eighteenth century. Treaties with the local indigenous tribes restricted early settlement along
the Potomac Valley. A 1648 treaty, however, opened the region beyond the James River Valley for
colonization. Initial settlement (by Europeans) was sparse, and much of the initial landholding involved
speculation rather than actual settlement. Nevertheless, people moved into the area and by the time
Fairfax County was established, it contained three Anglican churches, tobacco warehouses, small farms,
and large plantations. In the northern part of the county, the settlement on Great Hunting Creek, later
Alexandria, contained the houses of factors for Scottish merchants. The county economy was based

on tobacco produced by slaves and tenant farmers (Netherton et al. 1978:11).



Tobacco emerged as the dominant staple of the Chesapeake region over the course of the colonial
period, and it had profound influences on aspects of the economy, settlement, and society. The crop
was the chief export of the region and sometimes served as a medium of exchange. The search for fresh
land instigated European expansion up the Potomac Valley and contributed to the sparse settlement
pattern because the tobacco cultivation required the accumulation of large land holdings so that new
fields could be continuously opened (Carr 1987:5-6). After the initial tenants, who were placed there to
secure patents, wealthy tobacco planters came to dominate the county, bringing with them slaves and

indentured servants (Cooke et al. 2001:11; Meinig 1986:149; Netherton et al. 1978:22).

Life during the first years of settlement was difficult and characterized by harsh and rudimentary
conditions. Documentary and archaeological evidence indicate early dwellings were small and
insubstantial earthfast structures. These rough shelters housed settlers of all economic and social ranks.
Larger, more durable and elaborate structures did not appear until well into the eighteenth century
(Carr 1987; Wells 1987). Material culture was also basic and crude, with the belongings of even the
wealthiest Chesapeake residents being only as good as those owned by the lowest economic groups
in England (Horn 1988). To sailors and new arrivals, the occupants of the region looked like Englishmen
living in “dangerous and squalid exile” (Meinig 1986:150). As people adapted to conditions, though,
greater economic and social stability emerged. These led to higher standards of living and increased
social stratification. By the late seventeenth century, refined lifestyles (for some residents) based on

land wealth, tobacco production, and slave labor had started to materialize (Carr 1987:21; Pogue 1993).

By 1780, dispersed large estates and small farms typified the landscape and the general character of
the region was rural. Trade was conducted through hundreds of collections points consisting of private
landings or storehouses that served local areas (Meinig 1986:154-156). Regional market towns or focal
points were rare and local capitals were busy only during political seasons. County seats, for example,
often consisted of a court building with a few related structures sitting alone at a crossroads. These
locations only became busy when court was in session, times that were occasionally combined with

markets or special social events (Netherton and Waldeck 1977:1).

Except for river travel, transportation was primitive through this era. Roads were underdeveloped,
although Fairfax County residents did not require many because of the access to water transportation.
As settlement spread inland, however, the road network developed, with roads extending from river
landings and connecting churches and courthouses. As networks developed further, the roads often
followed old Indian paths, animal trails, or other paths with less resistance, such as natural ridge crests.
One of these, the Potomac Path, began as an Indian trail along the natural ridge between the Potomac
and Rappahannock rivers. A branch of this road that ran closer to the Potomac to serve the plantations
here later became the Potomac Path and was ultimately incorporated into U.S. Route 1 (Frisbee 1969:1;
Netherton et al. 1978:20). In 1773, the road became an official postal route and its name changed to
King's Highway. The road gained prominence during the American Revolution as a major route for

American and French forces heading south toward Yorktown (Cooke et al. 2001:12).
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Another outcome of the Revolution was the change in land ownership. Residents of Virginia were
considered to be British subjects, and therefore enemy aliens, had their personal property, including
slaves, confiscated beginning in 1777. Land in the Northern Neck belonging to Fairfax family heirs was
taken and given to American citizens in possession of it upon obtaining a certificate from the Governor,

completing a Northern Neck survey, and paying a small fee (Bryant and Sperling 2007:15).

In the last quarter of the eighteenth century, the county’s economy began to transition from tobacco
to wheat, rye, corn, and related processing activities (i.e., milling). This switch was a consequence
of the tobacco fields becoming exhausted and increased duties on tobacco, with a simultaneous
increase in the demand for wheat in England (Bryant and Sperling 2007:15). Market demand caused
the Chesapeake to emerge as the preeminent wheat producer in the country during the first part of
the nineteenth century and contributed to the growth of the port of Alexandria at this time (Cooke
et al. 2001:13). Outmoded farming methods combined with general depletion of the soils led to an
economic depression in the county during the early 1800s, however, and damage to Alexandria during
the War of 1812 exacerbated the situation. Many northern Virginia residents migrated westward, leaving
their farms to go fallow. An outcome of the sagging economy was an influx of northern farmers into
northeastern Virginia who took over abandoned farms and introduced new agricultural practices, such

as resting the soil, crop rotation, and deep plowing (Bryant and Sperling 2007:17; Cooke et al. 2001:14).
WOODLAWN QUAKERS AND GROWTH

The land on which the Otis Tufton Mason House is sited was part of one such area, having been
redeveloped up by a partnership of Quaker lumbermen from Philadelphia and neighboring New
Jersey who later subdivided portions of it into farms of between about 50 and 200 acres and sold
them to fellow Friends (name Quaker use for themselves) from the northeast. This practice gave rise
to a community of Quakers and the establishment of the Woodlawn Friends Meetinghouse around
1853 (Frisbee 1969:1; Muir 1943). The town of Accotink, situated on King's Highway at the ford of
Accotink Creek (southwest of Woodlawn Baptist Church Cemetery), became the business center for
this community. The town served as a post village and had an official post office by 1853. The arrival of
the Friends to the area led to improvements being made to the old gristmill as well as the addition of

a sawmill, stores, a blacksmith shop, and a carriage maker (Muir 1943:84-85).

After struggling through economic hardships early in the century, the county experienced an upswing
in the late antebellum period along with rising population rates. Commercial fertilizers, growing
urban markets, transportation upgrades, and agricultural diversification contributed to the improved
circumstances (Cooke et al. 2001:15; Lowery 1973; Netherton et al. 1978; Rubin 1984:121). The region’s
society at this time was highly stratified on the basis of wealth, ethnicity, gender, and legal status (King
1994:238).



The Quaker settlement was an exception, however. In addition to acquiring timber, the Troth-Gillingham
Company had an interest in demonstrating to the local aristocracy the workability of farming the land
with free labor. Land sales were thus made not only to northeastern Quakers, but also to local families,
including former slaves and other abolitionists, such as a Baptist from New England named John
Mason, who acquired Woodlawn Mansion and 546.3 acres of land from Paul Hillman and Hannah Maria

Troth in 1850 (Frisbee 1969:4; Tuminaro 1998:21).

On March 11, 1856, enterprising interested parties, including several Quakers, founded the Alexandria,
Mt. Vernon, and Accotink Turnpike Company and began construction on the road the following
year (Figure 3). The current alignment of modern U.S. Route 1 follows roughly the same path as
this nineteenth-century road. The founding of the turnpike not only provided a better link between
Woodlawn and Accotink Road near the Quaker Meetinghouse and other operations throughout the
vicinity, but it also brought together slave-holding Virginians such as Mount Vernon heir, John Augustine
Washington, and free-labor advocates like Chalkley Gillingham and Paul Hillman Troth for what was a

major transportation project for the area (Catlin 2011:7; State of Virginia 1856:122).

Figure 3. Detail Showing Location of Mount Vernon of the 1859 Map of George Washington’s Land
at Mount Vernon, Fairfax Coy, Virginia. As it was & As it is. Laid Down from Old Maps made by G.
Washington and from Actual Surveys by W. Gillingham

Source: Library of Congress
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day would not last long. Because the population of the
area was primarily composed of northerners, many of who
were Quakers, the Accotink district was overwhelmingly
opposed to the Ordinance of Secession of 1861. When
war began, many Union sympathizers evacuated. Those
who remained faced various hardships. Paul Hillman

Troth, one of the original members of the northern

Quakers to arrive and buy land, was taken prisoner
and sent to Richmond (Frisbee 1969:5). Although

the only major fighting in Fairfax County were the two

Battles of Manassas, the overall region was the scene
of considerable disruption from both sides during the

war. After First Manassas, Confederate forces occupied

Figure 4. Detail of the Map of the Lower

Potomac Showing Picket Lines, January various parts of the county, including the area around
1862 by Robert Knox Sneden Accotink where forward troops were placed in defense of
Source: Library of Congress the main army in Manassas (Figure 4).

Inlate 1861 and early 1862, Union troops were camped in the vicinity and used the Quaker Meetinghouse
as a headquarters. Carved graffiti by Union soldiers remains intact to date on the Meetinghouse facade.
Chalkley Gillingham, another of the first Quaker settlers, “entertained” three Union officers and two
privates for dinner at his farm near Mount Vernon on New Year's Day, 1862. He reported 15,000 Union
infantry and cavalry camped within four miles of the farm and complained about the damage and mess
they created at the Friends’ meetinghouse, which they converted into their headquarters. Because of
the proximity of the forces, there were frequent clashes in the county, and much of the military activity
during the first years of the war involved troop movements, skirmishes, raids, and ambushes. In 1863
and 1864, operations turned mostly to guerrilla warfare as Confederate forces engaged in hit and run
attacks on Union supply and communication lines. Mosby's Virginia Rangers were the most well-known

and successful of these groups (Mauro 2006:62-63).

The war ended Virginia’s economic recovery and overturned established social hierarchies. Fairfax
County residents turned back to agriculture, producing dairy products, livestock, poultry, and flour as
well as fruit, vegetables, and flowers, which were marketable in Washington D.C. Despite the potential
market, the county’s economy remained depressed through the 1870s. The Quaker community
centered on Accotink and the meetinghouse just west of the study site prospered, however, and the
meetinghouse was expanded during the 1860s to handle increased membership (Lautzenheiser and
Hall 2007:17).

Additional local developments included the establishment of the Woodlawn Baptist Church
Congregation and construction of the church building during the late 1860s and early 1870s. In 1850,

New Hampshire-born John Mason purchased the remaining acreage of the Woodlawn plantation and



moved into the mansion with his family. His wife, Rachel, established a Baptist Sabbath School at
the plantation in 1859. A formal congregation based at the Woodlawn plantation was established in
1868. In 1869, the congregation was received into the body of the Potomac Baptist Association of the
Southern Baptist Convention (Woodlawn Baptist Church 1968).

Notably, the Masons also established one of the first free, public libraries in the state of Virginia at
the Woodlawn Mansion. When Woodlawn Baptist Church was constructed in 1872, the library and
other services previously held at Woodlawn Mansion, were relocated to the church (Tuminaro 1998:22).
Institutions oriented toward the many African American farmers in the vicinity also emerged. These
included an African American school, the Woodlawn Methodist Church and cemetery, and the Mount

Vernon Enterprise Lodge of the Odd Fellows (Lautzenheiser and Hall 2007:17).

A significant political development was the establishment of the Fairfax County Board of Supervisors in
1870. The Board took over county property, which had been handled by the courts, as well as worked
to pay off the county’s debt, promoted agriculture, implemented plans to improve transportation, and

established a county school system (Netherton et al. 1978; Cooke et al. 2001:16).

Transportation was an important theme during the last part of the nineteenth century. Railroads had
been established in the county during the 1850s, improving travel and haulage within the county’s
interior as well as better economic conditions. By the 1870s, three rail companies operated lines within
the county and were significant influences on economic development (Cooke et al. 2001:17). Later in
the century, trolley lines enhanced commuter travel, although these did not greatly affect the areas
outside the major cities. The project vicinity, like most of the county, remained rural until the twentieth
century, with only agricultural and cart roads and paths serving as transportation routes supplementing

the Turnpike. In some instances, localities promoted themselves as healthful retreats from the nearby
cities (Bryant and Sperling 2007:21, 24).

WOODLAWN VICINITY IN THE TWENTIETH CENTURY

During the first part of the twentieth century, the county became proactive with respect to growth and
development in an effort to attract Washington, D.C. residents. Taking advantage of access to electric
rail lines, bus lines, and improved roads, land developers started building housing for middle-class
residents. Despite these efforts, development did not extend very far into the Washington hinterland
until after World War Il (Bryant and Sperling 2007:24). The county’s fortunes remained tied to agriculture,
as it became a significant dairy producer. The dairy economy contributed to enhanced transportation
as improvements were made to better serve Washington, D.C. markets (Cooke et al. 2001:17). The
railroads remained viable transportation modes though the middle part of the century, but after World

War lI, they mostly ceased providing passenger service (Bryant and Sperling 2007:24).
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U.S. Route 1, however, which travels north of the Otis Tufton Mason House , became more prominent
during this period. As noted, this road began as an Indian path and later developed into a major post
road and turnpike. Eventually, by the early twentieth century, it became part of the major north-south

road along the east coast of the United States until Interstate 95 replaced it (Frisbee 1969:1).

An important event in the project vicinity during the early part of the twentieth century was the
establishment of Fort Belvoir. This military installation occupied the lands associated with Belvoir
Manor, the eighteenth-century tobacco plantation of William Fairfax, which lay between Accotink and
Dogue creeks. Fairfax was a cousin of Thomas, Sixth Lord Fairfax, who obtained the Northern Neck
proprietary in the 1730s. The Belvoir manor house was destroyed in the 1780s and was never rebuilt.
By the 1840s, the estate was essentially abandoned and came under the ownership of a German-
born Philip Otterback, who developed some of the property for agriculture and let the remainder
revert to forest. By the turn of the twentieth-century, the former Belvoir estate lands were generally
undeveloped and rural. The Federal Government purchased 1,500 acres of the property for use as a
children’s reformatory in 1910, but local opposition caused the abandonment of this plan. The land
was subsequently transferred to the War Department for use as an Engineer School, the original school
being squeezed out of its original location in Washington, D.C. and named Camp Belvoir. When the

U.S. entered World War | in 1917, the installation

was renamed Camp Andrew A. Humphreys
and expanded into a training cantonment for
engineer soldiers. By 1918, the government
obtained the remainder of the Belvoir estate.
Following the First World War, the installation
remained open as the permanent Army Engineer

School. It was renamed Fort Humphreys in 1922

and then Fort Belvoir in 1935 (Price and Joseph
2007:9-11; Figure 5).
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Through the period leading to World War I,
Fort Belvoir continued to develop. The Corps of
Engineers Board coordinated efforts to develop
and test new forms of equipment and materials.
In 1940, the Engineer Board obtained the Fort
Belvoir Engineer Proving Ground, located about
1.5 miles northwest of the main installation for
testing landmines. This post was subsequently
expanded for a variety of other programs (Price
and Joseph 2007:11).

After World War I, the county underwent
substantial growth, doubling in population
between 1940 and 1950. Nevertheless,
nearly half the land in the county remained
farmland through 1950, with development and
change toward suburban land use intensifying
afterwards.  The county population nearly
tripled in the decade leading up to 1960 (Bryant
and Sperling 2007:29; Figure 6). Urban and
suburban development expanded quickly,
requiring new schools, libraries, paved streets,
utilities, and other amenities. The growth of the
District of Columbia and the county’s emergence
as one of its principal suburbs led to the extension

of public transportation systems into the county.
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Virginia Topographic Map

Source: US Topo and Historical Topographic Map Collection

Ultimately, Fairfax County has grown into one of the most populous and affluent counties in Virginia

(Cooke et al. 2001:18).

EARLY LAND OWNERSHIP

The Otis Tufton Mason House currently sits atop land whose ownership stemmed from grants made

during the seventeenth century, and that later became part of George Washington's Mount Vernon

estate. When King Charles | was deposed in 1648, seven loyal supporters crowned his son King Charles

[Il. In thanks, Charles Il granted these seven the Northern Neck proprietary. Thomas, Second Lord

Culpeper and one of the grantees, became governor of Virginia in 1677 and by 1681 had bought the

Northern Neck interests of the other six grantees.
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After his death in 1689, most of his interest in the territory went to his daughter, Katherine Culpeper, who
married Thomas, the fifth Lord of Fairfax. Thomas's son, also Thomas, the sixth Lord Fairfax, took over
the entire proprietary in 1719 and appointed his cousin William Fairfax as collector of customs for the
South Potomac River. William established Belvoir plantation, which ultimately became incorporated
into Fort Belvoir (Cooke et al. 2001:11).

Previously, in 1674, Lord Culpeper granted 5,000 acres to John Washington and Nicholas Spencer as
payment for settling immigrants under the headright system. Spencer, an English merchant and 1650s
emigrant to Virginia, was a cousin of the Culpepers and served as their agent in the colony. Washington,
George's great-grandfather, settled in Virginia in the 1650s, established himself as a planter in the

Northern Neck, and eventually also became a member of the House of Burgesses.

Their shared grant faced the Potomac River on the south and covered land bounded by Little Hunting
and Epsewasson (later Dogue) creeks, with a line drawn between the two creeks as its north boundary.
John Washington died in 1677, leaving his share of the grant to his son Lawrence. In 1690, the
Washingtons and Spencers divided the grant, each family receiving a share with one half Potomac
Riverfront and one half of the backlot. The Washingtons took the west half with Dogue Creek as its
west boundary. Lawrence died in 1698, leaving the land, known as the Little Hunting Creek property,
to his daughter Mildred, which she then leased to her brother Augustine (George Washington's father).
In 1726, Augustine bought the property outright from his sister for $200 (Muir 1943:16-17).

Augustine Washington was a planter, land speculator, and iron producer with interests in various
locations in the Northern Neck. He appears to have been the first to establish a permanent homestead
on the Little Hunting Creek property, known then as “Epsewasson,” in 1735. The house, which burned
in 1739, later became the foundation of George Washington's Mount Vernon mansion. Among
other improvements, Augustine built a gristmill on Dogue Creek. With the destruction of the house,
Augustine moved the family to Ferry Farm on the Rappahannock River, which was close to his iron
interests near Fredericksburg. When he died in 1743, the Little Hunting Creek land went to his son
Lawrence, half brother of George (Muir 1943:18; Ferling 1988:2-4).

With his wife, Anne Fairfax of Belvoir Plantation, Lawrence took up residence on the Little Hunting
Creek estate in 1743. He soon renamed the estate Mount Vernon in honor of Admiral Edward Vernon,
with whom he had served in Cartagena de Indias (Colombia) during the War of Jenkins Ear. Lawrence
put up a new house, which became the central portion of the larger and more sprawling mansion that
his brother George built. Lawrence died in 1752, leaving the estate to his infant daughter Sarah, with
the provision that his wife should have a life interest in the estate. In the event that Sarah died childless,
the estate would pass to George Washington, who had become a protégé of his older brother. Sarah
died less than two years after her father, leaving the estate in the hands of Anne Washington for her
lifetime. Within the next few years, Anne married George Lee. George Washington, 20 years old when

his brother died, had been leasing the property from Anne since the late 1750s, and 1761, after her



remarriage, he bought out her interest, promising her husband the annual sum or quantity of 15,000
pounds of tobacco in 15 hogsheads or cash in the amount of 12 shillings and sixpence “for every
hundred weight of tobacco.” The agreement left George Washington clear title to Mount Vernon

(Wilstach 1916).

Washington spent considerable time improving the estate and accumulating land. His most active
period in this regard was between 1757 and 1774. By the time of his death, the Mount Vernon estate
totaled over 6,000 acres, which he had divided into five farms: Mansion House Farm, Union Farm, Muddy
Hole Farm, Dogue Run Farm, and River Farm. A map composed in 1801 using drawings completed
by General Washington in 1793 described that portion of his property labeled "B" as follows: “Great
part within these lines is in wood, but there is a sufficiency of grounds cleared and under cultivation for
a middle sized farm, with a house thereon; and a most beautiful site for a Gentleman'’s Seat” (Figure
7). That area and more acreage became Woodlawn Plantation, which Washington gave his foster
daughter (in actuality his step-granddaughter from Martha's first marriage) Eleanor (Nelly) Custis upon

her marriage to Lawrence Lewis, George's nephew (son of his sister Betty) in 1799 (Muir 1943).
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Washington'’s will, dated July 9, 1799 and probated January 20, 1800, described the property as:

...the residue of my Mount Vernon Estate, not already devised to my Nephew Bushrod
Washington-comprehended within the following description, viz, all the land North of the
Road leading from the ford of Dogue Run to the Gum Spring as described in the devise of
the other part of the tract to Bushrod Washington, until it comes to the Stone & three red or
Spanish Oaks on the knowl [sic]; thence with the rectangular line to the back line (between
Mr. Mason & me); thence with that line westerly along the new double ditch to Dogue
run, the tumbling Dam of my Mill; thence with the said run to the ford aforementioned; to
which | add all the Land | possess West of the said Dogue Run, and Dogue Creek bounded
Easterly and Southerly thereby; together with the Mill, Distillery, and all other houses and
improvements on the premises, making together about two thousands acres be it more or
less (Washington 1799).

The acreage included portions of Muddy Hole Farm, Union Farm, and all of Dogue Run Farm (Muir
1943:26).

The Lewis’ continued to live at Mount Vernon, Nelly's childhood home, until Woodlawn Mansion was
built between 1800 and 1805 on Gray's Hill, a prominent ridgeline that commanded the surrounding
area. Reportedly designed by William Thornton, first architect of the U.S. Capitol, the house included
a central portion with two flanking wings and connecting hyphens. At present, the mansion remains
largely unchanged, except for the hyphens and wings being raised between 1902 and 1920 (Frisbee
1969; Fairfax County Division of Planning 1971; National Park Service 2005).

A total of 1,959 acres or Woodlawn, or most of tract originally deeded to the Lewis” x George
Washington, remained in the Lewis family until purchased in 1846. Lawrence and Nelly Lewis deeded
the estate to their son, Lorenzo, on May 20, 1820 for $10. The transaction made Charles Calvert Stewart
the trustee of the property until Lorenzo turned 23, at which time Stewart or his heirs would convey the
premises to Lorenzo free from all encumbrances (Fairfax County Deed Book $-2:169). The objective
of this transaction was to establish a trust to protect the property or its value until Lorenzo could take
possession upon turning 23. The relationship between the Lewis family and Stewart was not made
explicit in the transaction, and it was not clear what his responsibilities, other than custodial, he had
under the arrangement. He did not take possession of the property, however, as the Lewises remained
in residence until Lawrence died in 1839. By that time, Lorenzo (b. 1803) was around 36 and Stuart no
longer had any involvement with the property, insofar as is known. Lawrence’s will, dated December 28,

1839, did not mention the earlier transaction (Fairfax County Will Book T-1:127).

Following Lawrence Lewis’ death, Nelly moved out of the mansion and spent the rest of her life (she
died in 1852) with her son Lorenzo and his wife, Esther Maria Coxe Lewis, at their plantation Audley in
Clarke County, Virginia, where they moved soon after their marriage. Woodlawn was closed up and the
grounds were left uncultivated and unmaintained for seven years. In 1846, Lorenzo decided to sell the

property but found no takers at a public auction (Muir 1943:33; Frisbee 1969:3).



Soon after, however, a group of Quaker businessmen from Philadelphia and neighboring Camden and
Burlington counties, New Jersey, agreed to purchase the estate. The four partners in the transaction,
Chalkley (sometimes incorrectly spelled “Chalkey”) Gillingham and Jacob Troth, of New Jersey, and
Lucas Gillingham and Paul Hillman Troth (Jacob’s son), both residents of Fairfax County by 1848
(Fairfax County Deed Book N-3:102), were lumber merchants whose principal business was supplying
Philadelphia shipyards. As timber sources in Pennsylvania, Maryland, New Jersey, and Delaware had
started to thin out, lumbermen began searching for new stocks and discovered a supply of white oak
at Woodlawn (Muir 1943:37; Frisbee 1969:36-37).

Although Lorenzo had entered an agreement to sell the land to Joseph Gillingham and Chalkley
Gillingham in 1846, he died in 1847 before finalizing the transaction and before the transfer could be
finalized, Esther Lewis, his wife and executrix, filed a lawsuit in Chancery Court against the heirs of
Charles Calvert Stuart to clear the title. Evidently, Stuart had never executed a conveyance to Lorenzo
as per the terms of the trust he held for Woodlawn and the legal title vested to his adult and underage
heirs. Ultimately, the suit was merely a formality and the title was cleared without any animosity (Fairfax
County Chancery Records Case CFF98X).

The land sale was officially made on August 26, 1848 between Grantors Lawrence B. Taylor, a
commissioner appointed by the County Clerk, and Esther Maria Lewis, still residing in Clarke County,
and Grantees Jacob Troth, Chalkley Gillingham, Lucas Gillingham, and Paul Hillman Troth for $16,630
(Fairfax County Deed Book N-3:102). Joseph Gillingham, Chalkley’s uncle, who had entered the original
agreement with Lorenzo Lewis had dropped out for unknown reasons and Chalkley took on the other
three as partners. Together, this group formed the firm of Troth-Gillingham Company (later renamed
Gillingham & Troth) with the intention of producing lumber for Philadelphia shipyards and bark for local
tanneries, as well as selling land (as cited in Muir 1943:36-38; Frisbee 1969:3). The partners mortgaged
the property with Mahlon Gillingham and Joseph Gillingham in 1849 (Fairfax County Deed Book
0-3:331).

Subsequent land transactions over the next few years involved Troth-Gillingham dividing off tracts that
had been cleared and selling them as small farms of around 50-200 acres. Buyers were often Quaker
or Baptist immigrants from the Philadelphia area and New England, but also included local whites
and former slaves. Terms of sale often reserved timber rights and easements to operate and maintain
the millrace associated with Washington’s gristmill on Dogue Creek (e.g., Fairfax County Deed Book
V-3:328; Frisbee 1969).

Three months after the Gillinghams and Troths jointly purchased Woodlawn, they divided it between
the two families. The deed, dated November 17, 1848, indicated that Chalkley Gillingham and Lucas
Gillingham (Party of the First Part) and Jacob Troth and Paul Hillman Troth (Second Part) decided to
partition their rights and interests in Woodlawn, and for this purpose had opened a road through the

land between Spencer’s Corner and a tract of land called “Muddy Hole.” The Gillinghams received
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the land south of the new road, “which has been called ‘the National Road’” and the Troths took the
land to the north, except for lots that had been previously sold and a seven-acre parcel that included
the mill, water rights, timber, and the oyster shell landing on Dogue Creek. The acreage and financial
consideration involved were not specified (Fairfax County Deed Book O-3:395). Muir (1943:53), however,

stated that each “partner” (as opposed to family) received 450 acres.

Comparison of the partition description with the accompanying plat and later transactions confuses
how the land was distributed. Although the deed describes the new or National Road as running
northwesterly, in fact it extends from southwest to northeast. Moreover, while the deed described the
land north of the road as going to the Troths, later information suggest the Gillinghams had possession

of Woodlawn Mansion.

Through these transactions, the Woodlawn Mansion had remained largely uninhabited. The Troth-
Gillingham Company used it as a headquarters and it was evidently occupied as a residence on a
temporary basis by new arrivals from the northeast until they could build their own houses (Frisbee
1969:4). Muir suggested that Paul Hillman Troth and his wife Hannah Maria, for example, moved into
the mansion in the late 1840s (1943:59).

On March 25, 1850, Jacob and Paul Troth formally divided their joint holdings of the former Woodlawn
estate. Jacob Troth and his wife Rebecca, still residents of Camden County, New Jersey, sold their
539.3-acre share of Woodlawn to their son Paul Hillman Troth and his Wife Hannah Maria for $1. In
the same deed, Paul and Hannah sold two tracts, one containing 255.05 acres and the other 100.25
acres, to Jacob for $1 (Fairfax County n.d. Deed Book O-3:329). This transaction gave clear title of
the Woodlawn Mansion to Paul Troth, and immediately afterwards, on April 9, 1850, Paul and Hannah
sold the parcel just acquired, but described as containing 546.3 acres, to John Mason for $3,700 (with
restrictions on timber and water rights). The parcel also contained provisions for each party to hold half

of the Woodlawn Mansion in common (Fairfax County n.d. Deed Book O-3:361).

In January 1855, several transactions documented an apparent series of agreements concerning the
consolidation of the remaining Woodlawn estate under the ownership of John Mason. On January 1,
Paul H. and Hannah M. Troth sold a half part of a tract, totaling 546.31 acres, to Chalkley Gillingham
for $6,000. The acreage is consistent with other transactions involving Woodlawn (Fairfax County n.d.
Deed Book V-3:317). On the same day, Chalkley and his wife Keziah sold a 460-acre parcel to John
Mason for $5,000. The deed described this tract as the same sold to Chalkley by Paul and Hannah Troth
on January 1, 1855 (Fairfax County n.d. Deed Book V-3:328).

A third deed dated to January 1 involved John Mason and his wife Rachel selling Paul H. Troth an
easement for $1. The deed described the tract as the one on which John Mason now resides and
being the land Mason acquired from Paul H. Troth and his wife and Chalkley Gillingham and his wife.
This particular agreement gave Troth-Gillingham and Company rights of access to the waterpower

from Dogue Creek, to the use of the road to the old mill, the mill race, and 20 feet of land on both



sides to allow for maintenance. The document further indicated that the tract was subject to two deeds
of mortgage executed between Mason and Benjamin Dalton of Parsonfield, York County, Maine and
Peter G. Mason, Tamworth, Carrol County, New Hampshire (Fairfax County n.d. Deed Book V-3:339).
In a final transaction, dated three weeks later on January 24, 1855, Paul and Hannah Troth signed a
quitclaim to “that tract of land ...known by the name of ‘Woodlawn'” (Fairfax County n.d. Deed Book
V-3:320; Figure 8).

THE MASONS AND WOODLAWN BAPTIST CHURCH

The Mason family was significant in the history of Woodlawn Baptist Church. John Mason was born in
New Hampshire in 1799. Trained as a tanner, he switched to commerce, first as an itinerant peddler in
remote Maine settlements and then opening a grocery in the town of Industry, Maine. Owing to “an
unfortunate turn in a love affair,” he became a partner in a freighter sailing routes in New England,

Virginia, and the West Indies. He seems to have been generally successful in all of his undertakings but

was ruined by the Panic of 1837 and in the aftermath, moved his family to Haddonfield, New Jersey, a
town in Camden County (Hatch 1893:234-236; Brown 1903:V:395).

Figure 8. Detail Showing Location of Woodlawn of the 1859 Map of George Washington’s land at Mount
Vernon, Fairfax Coy, Virginia. As it was & As it is. Laid down from old Maps made by G. Washington, and
from actual surveys by W. Gillingham

Source: Library of Congress
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John Mason’s selection of Haddonfield as his family’s new home was due to his association with John
Gill IV, a Quaker with whom he had become acquainted. The Mason'’s relocated to Gill's farm near
Haddonfield and lived there for nine years and, during that time, established business with the Troths
and Gillinghams. Mason found his own ideals compatible with philosophies of not only Gill, but also the
Troths and Gillinghams. These Quakers shared Mason's views on the abolition of slavery, progressive

agriculture, and education (Henry and Watson 2004:1:19).

Historian Tony P. Wrenn remarked that there was a lumber business relationship already intact between
Mason and the Camden County Quakers prior to the arrival of the Mason family to Fairfax County, and
it eventually led to the family’s relocation from New Jersey to Virginia (Wrenn 1972:27). Wrenn stated
that Mason was one of the initial members of the Troth-Gillingham Company, but that his contribution

to the group was primarily financial in nature (Wrenn 1974:7).

By 1850, John Mason purchased remnants of the Woodlawn estate, restoring the house and farm fields
(Frisbee 1969:5). U.S. Census records from 1850 to 1870 listed his occupation as “Farmer,” indicating
his main focus had switched from commerce. Mason remained in residence at Woodlawn until his
death in 1888 (Woodlawn Baptist Church 1968).

John Mason joined the Baptist Church in 1828, a year after he married Rachel Lincoln in Eastport, Maine
(Hatch 1893:234). Once settled at Woodlawn, Rachel organized a Sunday school, which operated out of
the mansion parlor, while John served as the school’s superintendent, a role he continued to his death,
at which point their oldest son Ebben (Ebenezer) took it over (Woodlawn Baptist Church 1968). Frisbee
(1969) implies that the Masons arrived in the area with other Baptists in the same sort of communal

migration as the Quakers.

Although the timing and circumstances are not entirely clear, enough Baptist families arrived over
the next few years to form the beginnings of a congregation. This group, which met in the parlor of
Woodlawn Mansion, drew the notice of a retired Washington D.C. minister, William F. Nelson, who
with several other members of the Calvary Baptist Church in Washington, assisted the community in
organizing what evolved into the Woodlawn Baptist Church. The congregation was formally established
in 1868 and for the first few years continued to meet in the Woodlawn parlor (Frisbee 1969:19; Woodlawn
Baptist Church 1968).

OTIS TUFTON MASON AND A FAIRFAX COUNTY RETREAT

Though John and Rachel were closely associated with the mansion at Woodlawn and the founding
of Woodlawn Baptist Church, Otis Tufton Mason was ultimately the most renowned of the Mason
family due to his ethnographic and anthropological work. Born in his mother’s hometown, Eastport,
Maine, on April 10, 1838, Otis Mason moved with his family to New Jersey and then Woodlawn in 1850.
Between 1856 and 1861, he studied at Columbian College (now George Washington University) in
Washington, D.C. and married Sarah Henderson of Alexandria in 1862. After finishing at Columbia, he

obtained a position as a teacher and principal in its Preparatory Department, which he held until 1884.



His scholarly activities focused on the culture and history of the eastern Mediterranean, and Mason
eventually come to become a prominent ethnologist and anthropologist (Brown 1903:V:395; Hough
1908; Coen and Baxter 1983; Wrenn 1972:30).

In 1872, Otis T. and Sarah Mason sold a two-acre parcel taken from their share of Woodlawn to a
group comprised of O.T. Mason, William H. Mason, Charles Clear, John Haislip, Thomas Williamson,
and David T. Frost, Trustees for the Woodlawn Baptist Church. The sale, dated August 31, was for $1
and was made on the condition that the said Baptist church would, within a reasonable time, put up
a suitable house of worship. Additionally, the land could never be leased, transferred, or assigned to
anyone or used for any purpose other than a “regular” Baptist church, “that is to say a church whose
principles are redemption by the blood of Jesus Christ, Baptism by Immersion upon a profession of
faith and communion with those thus baptized only and if at any time the said land and premises shall
cease to be occupied and used for the purposes above mentioned then said lot of ground shall revert
to said Otis T. Mason, his heirs, and assigns” (Fairfax County n.d. Deed Book Q-4:100).

In his diary, referenced by John Teschner in a 2007 article in the Mount Vernon Gazette, Taylor Blunt
recorded hearing Mason preach at Woodlawn Baptist Church on seven separate occasions between
1872 and 1892. According to the article, Mason sometimes delivered two sermons on the weekends
(Teschner 2007). Mason acted as the primary preacher at Woodlawn Baptist Church until Reverend
Samuel Chapman became the church’s first regular pastor (Woodlawn Baptist Church 2013).

In 1872, Mason also became affiliated with the National Museum (now the Smithsonian) as a collaborator
in ethnology and became the Curator of Ethnology in 1884, a position at which he remained until 1902
when he became Acting Head Curator in the Department of Anthropology. Mason's Basketwork of
the North American Aborigines became a standard in the subject, while his additional publications,
including The Origin of Inventions and Woman'’s Share in Primitive Culture remained popular well after
his death. During this period, Mason’s research interests switched from Oriental studies to the culture
of the Americas, and he earned a Ph.D. in 1884. The “Acting” designation was removed from his Head
Curator title in 1905 and he remained in this post until his death. When Mason passed away in 1908, he
was one of the country’s most well-known scientists and had become an internationally known lecturer.
Both Mason and his wife Sarah (d. 1900) are buried in Oak Hill Cemetery, Washington, D.C. (Brown
1903:V:395; Coen and Baxter 1983; Hough 1908; Wrenn 1972:30).

The land on which the Otis Tufton Mason House now sits was separated out of the larger Woodlawn
estate in 1865. John and Rachel Mason began dividing portions of Woodlawn among their children
in the 1860s. On January 1, 1865, their second son Otis, then 26 years old, purchased a 63-acre tract
separated from the southwestern portion of the Woodlawn estate for $1,500 from John Mason, plus an
additional $1 for Rachel Mason (Fairfax County n.d. Deed Book F4:196).

Though some studies suggest that Otis Mason constructed the house in two parts beginning around
1873, architectural evidence and additional scholarships support three individual construction phases.
Files at Woodlawn Plantation indicate that the date of construction for the house was 1854, while
Historic American Building Survey files confuse the original building section with the 1840s Gray's Hill
property (Hellman 2013; Pryor n.d.).
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As late as 1860, however, all of the Mason family members, including 22-year-old Otis (recorded as 21
years old) and the eldest married Mason son, Eben, are described as still residing in John and Rachel
Mason’s Woodlawn Mansion home (U.S. Federal Census 1860). Furthermore, as stated, Otis Mason

was enrolled at Columbian College between 1856 and 1861.

While no reference is given for the 1854 construction date, physical evidence of the building’s centermost
section indicates that this original two-story building may date to the 1850s, if not earlier (Hellman
2013). Though the history of the Otis Tufton Mason House is hazy, plausible theories related to its
original build date and subsequent phases of construction appear to be relatively limited. Watson &

Henry Associates proposed three scenarios in a 2004 report:

e John Mason had the first and possibly the second sections built in the 1850s or early 1860s and
Otis and [Sarah] Mason added the third build;

e Otis and [Sarah] Mason started the house in the early 1860s before buying the property and

constructed it in three builds over time; or

e Otis and [Sarah] Mason built all three sections over the period of time they owned by property,
starting in 1865 (Henry and Watson 2004:1:65).

It is also possible that the first stage of the building was constructed shortly before John and Rachel
Mason purchased the land. This scenario suggests that the original builders of the Otis Tufton Mason
House may have been some of the area’s earliest Quaker residents. Additionally, while Mason'’s
brothers, Ebenezer and William, received land farther east in 1864 and 1865, respectively, it is possible
that one of them resided in the home prior to constructing their own homes on their own property.
Both brothers are described as living in the near vicinity of John and Rachel Mason, though no longer
with their parents, in 1870 (U.S. Federal Census 1870).

Previously, historians have noted that no Mason besides John is indicated on Chalkley Gillingham'’s
1859 survey of the area or General Irvin McDowell’s 1862 map (Figure 9). Others have suggested that
the building on the tract reading 60 a” or northernmost of the two buildings denoted as “Wright”
could be the Otis Tufton Mason House. However, Gray's Hill, a house named for the hill (here denoted
as "Greys Hill") and owned by Thomas Wright at that time, was located farther southwest and has been
incorrectly identified as the Otis Tufton Mason House in previous surveys (Hellman 2013). Itis possible
that these maps did not indicate the Otis Tufton Mason House due to its small size. By 1862, its two

stories covered a humble footprint of approximately 14" x 15 V%'".

The most likely explanation for the tenacious application of the proposed circa 1873 build date by
researchers is the tax record associated with the property. Though Otis Mason acquired the property
from his parents in 1865, he is not listed in 1866, 1870, or 1872 land tax records for Fairfax County. In
1869, an “A.T. Mason” is described in the tax record as owning 63 acres at Woodlawn, whose buildings
total $0 of the $844.70 total. Records for 1874 reflect the first taxation for buildings valued at $100 on
Otis Mason's property in Fairfax County (Fairfax County 1820-1950). It is more likely that the circa 1873

build date is for the second phase of construction at the building’s southwest end.



Figure 9. Detail of 1862 Map of N. Eastern Virginia and Vicinity of Washington

Source: Library of Congress

By 1870, Otis T. Mason is living in “the west part” of Washington, D.C. with his wife, two children, and
19 other people. Described as a “professor in Col,” Mason houses a housekeeper, hostler, cook, nurse,
and 15 students. One student is J. Norman Gibbs, a 15-year-old member of one of the first Quaker
families to come to the Woodlawn area (U.S. Federal Census 1870; Hellman 2013). Thus, despite
his employment at Columbian College and later at the National Museum in Washington, D.C., it is
apparent that Mason maintained ties to Fairfax County and likely used his house there as a weekend
and occasional retreat instead of residing there on a permanent basis. As stated, Mason regularly
spoke at weekend services for Woodlawn Baptist Church. However, it is possible that during these

weekends he and his family retreated to his parent’s large Woodlawn Mansion home.

In 1879, Griffith Morgan Hopkins, Jr. denoted the Otis Tufton Mason House, alongside Woodlawn
Baptist Church, Friends Meeting House, Woodlawn Mansion, and Grand View on a map (Figure 10). At
this time, land taxes for Mason's property still described a building worth $100 out of the total $1,467.
However, by 1881, the building worth increases to $400 of a $1,466 total. This jump in the building’s
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Figure 10. Detail of the 1879 Map of the”Mt. Vernon Dist. No. 3,” from Atlas of Fifteen Miles around
Washington, including the County of Montgomery, Maryland

Source: Library of Congress

worth supports the circa 1880 construction date of the third phase of construction: the two-story,
northeast-facing gabled ell that houses what now reads as the building’s primary entrance. Another
jump in building value from $400 to $427 is described in 1895 records. This increase, though slight,
may be the reason previous researchers attached the circa 1893 build date to the northeast-facing ell
(Fairfax County 1820-1950).

A photograph of the Otis Tufton Mason House was marked with a circa 1890 date (Figure 11). In this
photograph, the third phase of construction appears recently completed. The persons represented in
the photograph are unclear. Itis likely that the Caucasian people to the left are part of the Mason family.
The man seated to the far left may be Otis Mason, as his appearance does correlated with images of
Mason featured in issues of The Popular Science Monthly (Figure 12). It would seem that the couple

and two children nearest the center would be children and grandchildren of Otis and Sarah Mason.



Figure 11. Otis Tufton Mason House, circa 1890

Source: Fairfax County Department of Planning and Zoning

However, in 1890, both Mason daughters remain in their parent’s home in Washington, D.C., while
George Mason, then 24 years old, is not described in either his parent’s household or in the vicinity of
Woodlawn (U.S. Federal Census 1890). As the house is continually described as a weekend retreat for the
Masons, however, it is probable
that neither couple resided in

this house on a regular basis.

Figure 12. Otis Tufton Mason

A. From "Anthropological Work in
America,” July 1892

B. From “The Progress of Science,”
January 1909

Source: The Popular Science Monthly
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It is still possible that this could be George Mason'’s family, or the family of nephew William H. Mason,
who is described as living in the Mount Vernon district in 1900 with his wife, seven-year-old daughter,
and four-year-old son. If this is indeed William H. and family, the photograph was likely taken closer to
1900 than 1890. Itis, furthermore, possible that the elders seated to the left are Ebenezer and Elizabeth
Mason, who are listed as residing in close proximity William H. Mason in 1900 (U.S. Federal Census

1900).

If the photograph was taken around 1900, it is even more likely that the older couple is Otis and Sarah
Mason, and the younger couple is their daughter, Emily Tufton Mason, and her family. On June 4,
1895, Emily married Edward B. Pollard, a college professor, in Washington, D.C. (District of Columbia
1895; U.S. Federal Census 1900). The 1900 census data associated with the Pollards supports creates
the strongest support behind the theory that they are indeed the couple in the photograph. In 1900,
both the Pollards and the Masons permanently resided on the same block of P St NW in the Dupont
Circle area of Washington, D.C. Furthermore, the children of Emily and Edward are described as three-
year-old Emily and one-year-old Otis in 1900 (U.S. Federal Census 1900). Though the children seem
slightly older than one and three years of age in the photograph, the age difference does not vary by
more than one or two years. The children may be the best indicator for more specifically dating the

photograph, which was most likely taken in 1902 or 1903.

The two African American men standing to the right are unknown. These men could be tenants of
the house, day laborers, or farmers of the property. African American surnames listed in the Mount
Vernon District in the vicinity of Woodlawn include Quander, Holland, Garrett, and Jackson in 1880 and
Newman, Williams, Taylor, Hodge, and Franklin in 1900 (U.S. Federal Census 1880; U.S. Federal Census
1900).

The man presumed to be Otis Mason, seated to the far left, and the two standing men appear to
be wearing boutonniéres, suggesting a special occasion. The flowering meadow indicates that this
photograph was most likely taken during the spring, which could mean that the gathering was a
birthday celebration for the elder Otis, who was born in April and would have been 65 years old in
1903. As Otis and the two standing men are all wearing boutonniéres, the photograph was more likely
commemorating an Easter gathering. It would also make sense that the Masons would travel to the

Woodlawn area for such holidays due to their strong associations with Woodlawn Baptist Church.

A third possibility is that this gathering signified the completion of the last major addition to the Otis
Tufton Mason House. Here, the two original sections appear to be covered in chipping paint, while the
later ell appears unpainted. If this third possibility is correct, the building’s third phase of construction
may date to around 1900. It may also indicate that the two standing men were involved in constructing

the addition.

The photograph also supplies information regarding the house setting around 1900. Tall oaks provide
a canopy along the northwest and southwest elevations and indicate a heavily wooded area still in

place by this time. The open, grassy meadow has been left to grow and flower naturally near the



northeast and southeast elevations. Closest to the house, however, the high grass does appear to
be trimmed. The two couples and the children are gathered in front of a fruit-bearing, possibly pear,
tree and additional, naturally growing shrubs. While somewhat less wooded along the northwest
and southwest elevations and lacking the fruit tree and shrubs to the southeast, the natural meadow
conditions along the northeast and southeast elevations remain in place to date. Also worth noting are
the large barrel planters flanking the circa 1890 entrance and the tiered table of potted plants in the

north corner of the southeast porch.
THE OTIS TUFTON MASON HOUSE IN THE TWENTIETH CENTURY

John and Rachel Mason both passed away in the late 1880s. While Otis Mason retained the house
near his parent’s residence following their deaths, in 1902, he sold his 61 acres to Paul Kester. Kester
had purchased the Woodlawn Mansion property just the year before (Fairfax County n.d. Deed Book
L6:379; Wrenn 1972:30). Following Kester's purchase of the Otis T. Mason'’s property, the house and
the land on which it sits transferred along with the Woodlawn Mansion property to the present. Thus,
occupancy and use of the Otis Tufton Mason House becomes even more obscure following the Mason-
Kester transaction. During Kester's brief ownership of Woodlawn Plantation between 1901 and 1905,
the playwright repaired and restored the residence (Wrenn 1972:30-31). However, little is known about
the state of the house during this period.

Elizabeth Sharpe purchased Woodlawn Plantation and all of its acreage from Kester in 1905. During
Sharpe’s period of ownership, restoration of the Woodlawn Mansion continued, as did the acquisition
of additional surrounding acreage (Tuminaro 1998:11). At the advice of a representative from the
Department of Agriculture, Sharpe had a bank barn, dairy, and corncrib constructed at their present

location, just northwest of the Otis Tufton Mason House around 1913 (Gomolinski-Lally 2005).

A regular traveler, Sharpe was often absent from her property, and likely housed some grounds
employees at both the Otis Tufton Mason House and Grand View, which she also acquired in 1905
(Wrenn 1972:31). Historical data regarding the subsequent ownership by Senator Oscar Wilder and
Bertha W. Underwood and later Woodlawn Public Foundation, Inc. continues to focus primarily on
Woodlawn Mansion and its immediate surrounds. However, it is highly probable that both the Otis
Tufton Mason House and Grand View were used as residential properties for associates or employees

of the owners between the years 1925 and 1957.

Field notes on the 1970s restoration of the Otis Tufton Mason House refer to “Mrs. Thorpe” as a former
resident of the building. This detail and other data provides some background as to at least one family
that resided at the house during the twentieth century. Richard L. and Ada B. Thorpe, along with their
three children and one immigrant lodger from Cuba, are described in the census listing immediately
above the Underwood household (Library of Congress 1925; Figure 13). By 1930, Oscar Underwood
had died and Bertha resided at Woodlawn with four servants. Richard and Ada are described as a

farmer and housewife, respectively, who rent a house on a farm with their son Elvan R. and daughters
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Figure 13. Senator and Mrs. Underwood and Colonel S.S. Underwood (Right)

Source: Library of Congress

Lucille E. and Doris M. Curiously, the Cuban immigrant, Blas. Garcia, is described as a chauffeur. It is
possible that Bertha Underwood employed Garcia as her chauffeur and housed him with the Thorpe
family at the Otis Tufton Mason House (U.S. Federal Census 1930).

The next census reveals a change in enumeration districts. Mount Vernon Magisterial District (30-18)
consists of those households NW of U.S. Road 1; while Mount Vernon Magjisterial District (30-19A)
are those households E of U.S. Road 1. Thus, the Thorpe and Underwood households are described
separately. This area remained relatively rural by 1940; therefore, street names are not described with
clarity. Consequently, while the Thorpes are still described as living in a rented house on a farm,
the census listing does not provide a full description of their exact location, and it is not clear if they

remained at the Otis Tufton Mason House at this time (U.S. Federal Census 1940).



Following the death of Bertha Underwood in 1948, Woodlawn Public Foundation, Inc. purchased the
full acreage and opened Woodlawn Mansion for tours the following year. In 1951, National Trust for
Historic Preservation began leasing the full property and took full ownership by 1957 (Wrenn 1972).
Names of Mason House residents from this period to the present appear to apply to associates of the

stable complex or employees of Woodlawn (National Trust Staff 1950-2014).

While the immediate surroundings of the Otis Tufton Mason House had long been used, in part, as a
farm, the focus of this area became more specifically centered on equestrian activities in the late 1950s
as the property was rezoned from agricultural to commercial in 1958. The addition of the larger stable
in the early 1960s and a smaller one in around 1970 by then-lessee Captain Stuart F. Updike aided in
the property’'s use by the Belvoir Polo Club and as a riding school. Updike leased the stable property
from the late 1950s until the 1970s. Records suggest that lessees of the land south of U.S. Route 1 often
sublet not only portions of the barns on the property, but at times, also rented the Otis Tufton Mason
House. For example, in 1965, Updike is forced to evict his veterinarian, “Doc” Boyd, who is renting the
Otis Tufton Mason House at that time, in order to update the building's septic tank and field (National
Trust Staff 1950-2014).

In the mid-1970s, Laura Walker and her husband, Captain Wickliffe Walker, resided in and restored
the Otis Tufton Mason House as part of an arrangement made with owners, National Trust for Historic
Preservation. The agreement with the Walkers was the first of its kind made by National Trust for
Historic Preservation (n.d.:2). Captain Walker, who then commanded B Company of the 30" Engineer
Battalion at Fort Belvoir, represented the United States in slalom canoeing in the 1972 Summer Olympic
Games in Munich, Germany (Hatcher 1975; Sports-Reference 2013). His wife, Laura, was trained as an
anthropologist/archaeologist.  Laura
specialized in the restoration and
preservation of historic buildings, and
recalled putting to use the writings of
Otis T. Mason in her studies at Brown
University in Providence, Rhode
Island. The Walkers hypothesized that
the house was constructed in three
phases between 1850 and 1890, and
aimed to restore the house to its circa
1893 appearance in order to preserve
all three historic construction phases.
Though attempting to restore the
house to this specific date, the house
would not be a museum and was

expected to remain in use as a private

) Figure 14. Laura Walker and Captain Wickliffe
residence (Hatcher 1975; Walker 1974-  walker at the Otis Tufton Mason House, 1975

1976; Figure 14). Source: Belvoir Castle
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As expected, following the departure of the Walkers, the Otis Tufton Mason House continued to be
used as a residence for tenants late 2006 (National Trust for Historic Preservation n.d.:2; Teschner 2007).
Typically, residents were those with employment ties to Woodlawn and/or Scanlin Farms, Inc. between
1978 and 1991 or Woodlawn Stables after 1991. According to former tenants, Steve Phelps, Nicole
Sours, Charles Sims and his wife Elizabeth Bancroft, Boyd Dunnavant and his mother, and Cindy Mitchell
and her family, who ranged in title from Woodlawn directors and groundskeepers to Woodlawn Stables

owners and employees, all resided in the Otis Tufton Mason House at one period of time.



Four: Building Evolution

The evolution of the Otis Tufton Mason House, an L-shaped, two-story residence with a cross-gabled roof, can
be divided into several periods, during which owners or tenants made substantial additions or subtractions
to the building. During the Mason tenure, the building’s three major sections were constructed. The earliest
section, a two-story, three-bay house was erected around 1854 and included a cellar that was accessible along its
southwest elevation. Around 1873, a two-story, two-bay addition covering the building’s southwest elevation
was built. Finally, an ell that created the building's current L shape was added circa 1880. This addition now

serves as the building’s facade.

Between 1880 and the 1930s, the building's appearance remained fairly static, with only minor alterations. The
Kester and Sharpe periods of ownership produced no known changes. Under the Underwoods’ ownership, a
hip-roof porch was added to the 1880 addition during the Thorpes’ occupancy in the 1930s and minor alterations
to the building continued. After the National Trust for Historic Preservation took ownership in the 1950s, minor
alterations and repairs continued until the 1970s, when a major preservation project was launched to restore
the building to the appearance of the circa 1893 Mason House, a date selected to reflect its significance as the

Otis Tufton Mason House.

Between 1974 and 1976, Laura and Wickliffe Walker, funded by the National Trust for Historic Preservation
(Appendix A), worked to restore the building to 1893, which was the presumed date of construction of the
latest building section at that time. Many of the original building elements had deteriorated beyond recovery
or had already been removed or filled in, which was the case with one of the original door openings. Failing
elements and features that were added following the Mason period of residence were removed and replaced
with materials that attempted to replicate the appearance of the circa 1893 Otis Tufton Mason House. Walker's
field notes, reproduced photographs, and drawings from the restoration helped to inform this study and are

reproduced in Appendix B.

After the restoration, the circa 1880 addition had follow up work to fix water and termite damage recorded in a
1992 conditions report. Christopher Owens of The Restoration Woodworking Company completed the work,
and his notes, reports, and drawings provided guidance for additional construction elements not visible during

site visits for the current study (Appendix C).
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BUILDING EVOLUTION

Description of Events

Approximate date of construction

for the earliest building phase
of the Otis Tufton Mason House.
Note the exterior access point

1854

to the cellar on the southwest

elevation.

Source: Walker 1974-1976

MASON TENURE

Approximate date of construction
for the second building phase

of the Otis Tufton Mason House,
which included a kitchen on the
first story and bedroom on the
second.

1873

Tl
]

Source: Walker 1974-1976




BUILDING EVOLUTION

MASON TENURE

UNDERWOOD TENURE

Description of Events

Approximate date of construction
for the third building phase of
the Otis Tufton Mason House,
which included a parlor on the first
story and two bedrooms with a
connecting hall on the second.

Approximate date of construction
for the southeast porch.

Source: Walker 1974-1976

Period of time during which the
hip-roof porch was added to the
northeast elevation of the circa
1880 building section.

R
R Car

-

Source: Walker 1974-1976
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BUILDING EVOLUTION

Tenures

1930s

TENURE

Approximate date that tongue-an

walls and ceiling. This type of board was popular in the 1930s, when tenants often used it
as a base on which to attach heavy wallpaper with decorative tacks.

Description of Events

d-groove boards were installed on the dining room

1940s

UNDERWOOD

Date of the two-panel bathroom door, which indicates an approximate date of the

bathroom'’s construction.

1953

The earliest possible date for
repositioning the outside cellar
access to the interior dining room
and the reuse of the circa 1873
trapdoor access as a coal chute.
The repositioning was done when
the stairway was altered and was
necessary in order to have ready,
interior access to a coal furnace,
which would need stoking.

Source: Walker 1974-1976

1968

A fire damaged much of the northwest wall at the Otis Tufton Mason House.

A new septic tank was installed east of the circa 1880 building addition.

1970

NATIONAL TRUST TENURE

Latest approximate date of
construction of the concrete step
lining the southeast edge and
south corner of the southeast
porch.

Because all but one original log
joist appeared to have collapsed,
the porch flooring was probably
not removed when the step was
added.

Source: National Trust for Historic Preservation circa 1976




BUILDING EVOLUTION

1974

Description of Events

An existing French drain in the cellar was enlarged. While digging in the drain, "“a natural
subterranean water-conducting layer of gravel overlaying a very hard layer impervious to
water” was described.

A small wood-or-coal stove was purchased for the smaller, circa 1880 second-story room.

The circa 1880 chimney was reported to have a small, 4” x 8" flue with an added flue liner
and was previously “reworked.”

1975

NATIONAL TRUST TENURE

A Real Apollo wood- or coal-burning stove was purchased for the kitchen from Acme
Stove Company in Washington, D.C., who acquired the stove from a razed D.C. house.
A plate screwed onto the front of the stove reads "W.S. Jenks & Son, Washington, D.C."”
This name signifies the stove’s original retailer which is still in business. A stove pad of
quarry tiles and plywood was built to hold the stove and to make the appliance movable.

A sump pump was installed,
replacing the French drain.
Workers dug a trench for a new

sump pump outlet, which is
located at a covered well southeast
of the house.

s
Source: Walker 1974-1976
Studs for the first phase of construction were identified as 4” x 3" poplar running from
sill to second-story plate. The second story was reported as hanging from a ribbon band
measuring 1” x 6" set into studs. Studs were originally irregularly spaced to fit doors and
windows. ; :

Fieldstone foundation exterior
walls were repainted.

Porch flooring (not original) was
removed and replaced with
tongue-and-groove wood board
affixed with lightweight cut flooring

nails.

Source: National Trust for Historic Preservation circa 1976
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BUILDING EVOLUTION

Description of Events

NATIONAL TRUST TENURE

Parlor ceiling joists were described as 2” x 6" rough-sawn boards in good condition
with a small amount of sag resulting in the attachment of 2" x 4" pre-stressed boards to

reinforce.

Roof shingle fragments were
found in the attic of the circa 1880
addition and were an appropriate
match for replacement square-butt
cedar shingles. Exterior-grade
plywood roof sheathing measuring
%" was added below fire-resistant
cedar shingles.

Source: National Trust for Historic Preservation circa 1976

The walls and ceiling of the circa 1873 second story were demolished, revealing sawn ceiling
joists tied to rafters. Salvaged tongue-and-groove boards were added to reinforce rafters.
Three newer 2" x 4" studs were identified in the northwest wall. This stud replacement
likely followed the 1968 fire.

A cement culvert associated with the creek was noted and later reported as destroyed.

Though no path was found during the present study, a loose brick path along the northwest
elevation was reported. -

The post-1953 cellar access was
closed and the interior access steps
were trimmed and relocated to
the reestablished, circa 1880 cellar
access point via a trap door in the

porch.

Source: National Trust for Historic
Source: Walker 1974-1976 Preservation circa 1976




BUILDING EVOLUTION

1975

NATIONAL TRUST TENURE

Description of Events

All gutters, downspouts, lightning rods, and cables were removed, set aside, and
reinstalled following roof and chimney work.

Reaching behind parlor

baseboards revealed two layers
of floor. Thus, floors in use at that
time were not original.

A metal sanitary vent pipe was
added for the bathroom.

Parlor floor joists were found
supported by a log girder running
southeast to northwest for the
length of the room.

Rotted verge boards were replaced.

Concrete block faced with brick
and 8" poured and stepped (to
match the slope of the land)

concrete footings replaced the
failing northeast wall of the
cobblestone foundation on the
circa 1880 addition.

The foundation wall was originally
set on cobblestones without
footings. Though a 1" bow was
found in the northeast sill, studs
and joists were deemed to have

sufficient bearing surfaces. Thus,
the new foundation wall was
constructed to follow the bowing

sill. This foundation wall remains
intact to date.

The southwest shed at the end of
porch was reclad in wood shiplap
siding.

Source: National Trust for Historic Preservation circa 1976
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BUILDING EVOLUTION

Description of Events

1975

The single-story, hip-roof porch
was removed. This decision was
made following the resolution to
restore the house to the last period
of Mason ownership.

This porch ceiling was composed
of rough-sawn nominal 1" x 6"
planks on the large north plane,
and finished nominal 1" x 6"
planks on the two smaller side
planes. The porch was screened in
at one point, but not originally.

NATIONAL TRUST TENURE

Sash moldings from the first and
second construction phases did
not match and windows held a mix
of old and new glass. The sashes
were scraped, stripped, repaired,
reglazed, and fitted. Older glass
was repositioned to high-visibility
locations.

Source: National Trust for Historic Preservation circa 1976




BUILDING EVOLUTION

Description of Events

1975

The southeast porch was described
as originally constructed with log
joists on a brick pier foundation
and chamfered supports.

NATIONAL TRUST TENURE

New rough lumber trim was
applied inside the cellar door to
cover pressure-treated framing
that was used to support the porch

floor and cellar door.

-t £ o P
Source: Walker 1974-1976
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BUILDING EVOLUTION

Description of Events

1975

NATIONAL TRUST TENURE

The parlor walls and ceiling were originally plaster, with Celotex boards and lattice battens

applied at a later date. Lath originally ran behind the door and window trim, as well as

behind the brick chimney.

Walls were refinished with drywall in an attempt to mimic a plaster appearance.

Resin core paper was found just outside the parlor's balloon frame, suggesting that it was
applied prior to the installation of the addition’s shiplap siding.

Diagonal bracing was found at the
parlor's east corner. As this bracing
was not mentioned during later
repairs, it is possible that it was
removed.

Horizontal tongue-and-groove
boards were found on the dining
room ceiling and walls when the
drywall was removed. As this
cladding was not original and was
not believed to date to the period
of restoration, it was removed and,
where salvageable, saved for use
elsewhere in the house.

{ e b s f ksl

et b ADAF

Source: Walker 1974-1976




BUILDING EVOLUTION

NATIONAL TRUST TENURE

Spacing behind the trim around
doors and windows of the dining
room suggested that when the
house was first constructed, lath
was applied, then trim installed,
and the room was plastered. All
salvageable trim pieces were
removed and labeled.

The northeast quadrant of the
dining room ceiling was rotted
and not salvageable. Joist
patches and cracks were found
in many places. Joists were
removed.

The dining room drywall sat on
the presumed original 1" x 6"
chamfered baseboards with 1"
quarter-round molding lining
wood plank floors. Baseboards
were left mostly intact, with new
wood patching in the dining
room'’s northwest corner. It is
not clear how much of the wood
flooring was retained in this
room.

The kitchen ceiling was removed,
revealing first whitewashed,

then blue painted ceiling joists,
suggesting that they were
originally left exposed. A new
northwest kitchen door was
installed with a rim lock salvaged
from the barnyard.

Description of Events

Source: Walker 1974-1976

Source: National Trust for Historic Preservation circa 1976
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BUILDING EVOLUTION

Description of Events

1975

NATIONAL TRUST TENURE

Intact plaster and tongue-and-

groove boards revealed an

earlier, winding stairwell behind a
replacement straight staircase and
drywall.

A high plaster scar suggested
a sloping stair ceiling. Though
this ceiling was not restored,
the winding stairwell was

reconstructed with one step in the
dining room, four winders, and five
steps in the main run. A railing

was constructed on the second
story along the southeast floor
edge of the stairwell and a door
was installed on the second step
leading from the dining room.

Source: National Trust for Historic Preservation Source: National Trust for Historic Preservation

circa 1976 circa 1976

Drywall ceilings and walls of the two second-story, circa 1880 rooms were removed,
revealing rough-sawn 2" x 4" joists. Joists were removed, leveled, and tied to 1" x 6"
rafters. Evidence of lath staggered every seven rows was found behind window and
door trim of this section, as well as behind the chimney in the smaller of the two rooms.
Lath was previously removed and the walls and ceiling re-finished in drywall. These two
rooms and their adjoining hall were originally floored at one time, prior to the erection of
partitions and the plastering of walls.




BUILDING EVOLUTION

1975

NATIONAL TRUST TENURE

Description of Events

Plaster in the small, circa 1880 second-story hall was mostly intact. Only minor patching

was necessary.

In both attic spaces, rafters were tied to joists by painted and unpainted tongue-and-

groove boards salvaged from floors and walls elsewhere in the building. Circa 1880 attic

joists were rough-sawn 2" x 4" boards.

The second story of the first construction phase was partially insulated and drywalled.

The southwest bathroom wall was
an early, non-load-bearing partition
wall. The partition wall sat directly
on the earliest tongue-and-groove,
random-width, pine flooring. No
break in lath along the southeast
wall was found, but marking
indicated that the partition was
installed prior to plastering the
walls. The partition was made

of four, rough 1" slabs nailed
vertically to the floor and a shaped
second-floor ceiling joist prior to
installing ceiling lath. Removing
the partition wall was necessary in
order to repair the floor. The wall
could not be reinstalled, but a new
partition wall was constructed to
the original dimensions.

Source: Walker 1974-1976

In the bathroom, rotted floorboards, drywall, and baseboards were removed. Covering
the northeast wall was uninterrupted lath. The northwest wall was deemed not original.
Joists measuring 2" x 6" were partially rotted, poorly notched for plumbing, and sagging

2" or more in places. New 2" x 8" joists with Teco metal joist hangers were installed.
These stronger joists helped carry the weight of new, heavy fixtures and removed existing
sag without altering the ceiling height of the dining room below. Waterproof drywall was

installed on the bathroom walls and ceiling, as well as on the new partition wall using
modern construction techniques. Ceramic tile was installed over drywall in the shower/
bathtub. Patterned vinyl Armstrong tiles were installed as flooring and framed by a 7"

squared baseboard.
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BUILDING EVOLUTION

Description of Events

1975

Joists were 3" poles in the circa
1854 building section. Here, poles
were flattened at bases, allowing
for the attachment of lath when
plaster was first applied. By 1975,
some had already been replaced
by 2" x 4" substitutes. Short,
cross-framing 2" x 4" boards had

also been applied to reinforce
pole joists prior to the restoration.
These smaller boards and any
failing joists were removed and

NATIONAL TRUST TENURE

original and replaced joists were
tied to rafters via painted and
unpainted tongue-and-groove
boards salvaged from floors and
walls.




BUILDING EVOLUTION

Description of Events
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Source: Walker 1974-1976

1975-
1976

NATIONAL TRUST TENURE

The previously enclosed northwest
elevation entrance of the original
building section was recovered
after installing a new sill.

Source: Walker 1974-1976
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BUILDING EVOLUTION

Description of Events

NATIONAL TRUST TENURE

1975-

1976

Paint layering on the southwest

kitchen wall provided evidence

for previous finishes. The color
sequence of kitchen wall paint,
from most recent to earliest
was green, ivory, red (faded and
burned, with many bleeding

shades), dark dull green, ivory,

LOCATION , INDICATED BY PAINT LAYERING

turquoise, light green, and bare

9.
1" OVERUANG OF SHELE

wood.

Source: Walker 1974-1976
Blistering caused by the 1968 fire on the northwest wall revealed evidence of a

chimney-centered faux mantel. The mantel was thought to be original to the circa
1873 construction. Evidence of green then blue paint was found, followed by a chair
rail applied up to the mantel height. When the room was painted ivory, the mantel was
removed and an added chair rail and the mantel ghosting were painted ivory. Rust-
colored shading suggested the mantel was painted or stained.

1976

Cellar access point and walls were spot-patched from the cellar interior.

A brick path identified south of the creek and west of the driveway was destroyed when
the creek bed was bulldozed.

Tongue-and-groove, cedar and pine flooring was removed in the kitchen, revealing log
floor joists laid in a southeast-northwest arrangement. The two southwestern-most joists
were rotted and removed. Replacement wood flooring was installed atop the remaining
south joists.

Bolts in a concrete pier in the kitchen floor suggested an early, attached washing machine.
This pier was located adjacent to the southwest wall, near the modern sink and stove.

The dining room chimney thimble was enclosed for safety. The close proximity to the
stove thimble and the kitchen flue required the closure of one to prevent fire.

Diagonal 1" x 6" framing braces were found in the kitchen’s southwest wall. Cabinets and
counters were removed, but tongue-and-groove boards and chair rails along that wall
were retained.

A break was retained in the replacement wood weatherboard siding applied to the
southeast elevation.




BUILDING EVOLUTION

1976

NATIONAL TRUST TENURE

Description of Events

Random-width, yellow pine
floorboards originally covered
the kitchen walls and ceiling.
This composition was partially
reconstructed during the
restoration and remains intact to
date. Northeast wall cladding
was not removed during the
restoration.

The northwest wall was fully
replaced due to fire damage, and
southeast and southwest tongue-

and-groove wall boards were

removed and reinstalled.
Source: Walker 1974-1976

A closet was installed below the restored stairs with a six-panel wood door originally used

in the kitchen. The door was trimmed to 5' 8” to fit the space and now has only four panels.

Glazed redware doorknobs found throughout the house were relocated to the first floor.
An old, four-panel wood door was purchased for the bathroom.

Electric baseboard heaters were installed below almost all the windows.

New, replica trim was fabricated for the windows and doors in the second-story, circa 1880
rooms using traditional building techniques, old knives, and 50-year-old lumber.

Cabinetry was installed covering the southwest kitchen wall. A cooktop stove was set
above the southeast cabinets and a refrigerator and freezer were hidden in the northwest
cabinets. Below the cabinets, two salvaged trimmed, painted tongue-and-groove boards
covered the cabinet base. Upper cabinets were installed two feet above the Formica
countertops and cooktop stove for safety. A recessed light was installed above the sink.

In order to meet specifications required for the under-counter refrigerator and freezer,
countertops had to reach a finished height of 36.” At that height, the southwest window
did not clear the countertop and was not approved for relocation, as such would
jeopardize the accuracy of the exterior restoration and could result in a loss of funding.

A simple wire hook indicated a site for hanging an oil lamp above the southwest window.
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BUILDING EVOLUTION

Description of Events

NATIONAL TRUST TENURE

1977
Earliest possible date for enclosing
the walk-in closet-turned-laundry STUDY GUEST
ROOM
room on the second floor. B3
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= VI
. BATH
Earliest date that concrete globes
were installed at the entrance. Cmmh
These globes were once part
of gates acquired at the 1907 —\/
Jamestown Exposition and
installed at Woodlawn Mansion PEDRCOM
by Elizabeth Sharpe. The gates
were removed sometime after
the renovation of the gardens at e ———
Woodlawn in the 1950s. Source: Walker 1974-1976
1985
Approximate date that a stackable washer/dryer was installed in the kitchen’s north corner.
1992- | A condition assessment of the
1993

circa 1880 addition, described a
“shallow foundation of River Rock
Rubble topped by two course

of poor quality brick two wythes
thick, a 9" x 9" x 21" dressed field
stone entirely below grade at the
south corner, and two brick piers
carrying sills at their midpoint.”
The brick and rubble foundation
was completely compromised, with
failed mortar joints.
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BUILDING EVOLUTION

1992-
1993

NATIONAL TRUST TENURE

Description of Events

Rubble was removed and bricks
were saved. In an attempt to
widen the proximity of structural
elements and the ground, material
was removed to lower the grade
to a minimum of 8” below the
underside of the south corner
sills. New foundation footings
were composed of poured 3,000-
PSI concrete, nominal 8" x 8" x
16" concrete blocks, rebar, and
poured concrete to fill voids. The
southwest sill was bolted to the
foundation, and brick masonry
walls were constructed measuring
at least 8" in height between sill
and ground level.

Identified below the parlor were
transversely laid 2" x 6" sawn
yellow pine joists, which were
carried by two log girders with
flattened upper faces.

The circa 1880, southwest wall 6” x
6" hand-hewn oak sill was rotted,
disconnected from studs, and
pulled away from the southeast
sill. The latter was also rotted and
crumbling. The sills were replaced
by new pressure-treated 6" x 6"
Southern Yellow Pine (SYP) sills
with half-lap corner joints and
termite shields. The new sills were
pinned with galvanized 60d spikes
driven into pre-drilled holes.
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BUILDING EVOLUTION

Description of Events

1992-
1993 The log girder paralleling the s
A Ma Broek

Features Decereo

southwest sill was rotted due to

between the parlor’s drywall and
fiberglass insulation. The lack of
vapor barrier combined with the
vapor-trapping fiberglass insulation
created visible condensation
problems such as de-grading
exterior paint. Thus, insulation
was replaced and bituminous felt
installed as sheathing.
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BUILDING EVOLUTION

Description of Events

n
o
—
3
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~

1993 Gutters at the southeast and southwest elevations of the circa 1880 addition were
replaced.

2000 Approximate date that the stackable washer/dryer was removed and full washer and dryer
were installed in the second-story laundry room.

2005 Approximate date that a modern corkboard, track lighting, and wall shelf were installed
in the dining room along with a painted quotation from the Declaration of Independence
and the name "Otis"” vertically illustrated on the northwest wall.

The modern additions reflect the building’s most recent partial use as a Boy Scout
meeting place. The former dining room was most likely used as a troop meeting room

NATIONAL TRUST TENURE

during its last period of occupancy.
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Five: Setting and Landscape

When the Masons still occupied the house in the late nineteenth century, the surrounding landscape was meadow-
like and informal. Lush, wooded areas surrounded much of the house, while a casual lawn of high grass met part
of the building’s southeast and northeast elevations. Fruiting trees and naturally growing shrubs and bushes
combined with functional barrel planters and a tiered table for potted plants formed a relaxed setting for the
Mason’s weekend retreat.

The circa 1900 image of the Otis Tufton Mason House is the only known photograph to date representing the Mason
tenure. When combined with previous research, historic maps, and later aerial photography, this photograph
provides a more complete view of the changing setting and landscape of the house during the late nineteenth
and twentieth centuries.

Aerial photography by Fairfax County provides additional information on the setting of the Otis Tufton Mason
House since the Underwood period of ownership. The earliest available photography dates to April 1937 (Figure
16). While imagery around the house clearly depicts open field areas to the east and agricultural buildings to
the north, the driveway and immediate surroundings of the house are completely obscured by a canopy of lush

vegetation. The house itself is barely visible along the eastern edge of the forested area.

Figure 15. Otis Tufton Mason House, circa 1900

Source: Fairfax County Department of Planning and Zoning
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Figure 16. Detail, Aerial Photograph, April 30, 1937

Source: Fairfax County GIS & Mapping Services Branch

While no ground-level images from this period were located during background research, this aerial view may
correspond with the few details of setting that were gleaned from the circa 1900, Mason-era photograph. The
placement of the house along the edge of the wooded area opens up part of its southeast and northeast elevations
to the grassy meadow featured in the foreground of the family photograph. The thick tree canopy enveloping
the building to the north and west in the circa 1900 photograph appears similar to that which remains intact in the
1937 aerial.

Though it is difficult to discern the type of vegetation near the house in the 1937 aerial, it is apparent that some
trees or bushes do continue around the building’s south side before a break exposes part of the southeast and
northeast elevations. The fruit-bearing tree present in the circa 1900 photograph could be the same shown

alongside the southeast elevation in the 1937 aerial.

ACCESS AND AGRICULTURE

A study by Leslie Plant Mayer in 1981 suggested that the section of the Otis Tufton Mason House driveway closest
to the house has remained relatively intact since the building’s mid-nineteenth-century construction. A map drawn
for the Mayer study shows the winding driveway extending to the then Accotink Turnpike and concluding in an
irregular turnaround along the northwest edge of the house (Figure 17). The 1879 Hopkins map, the earliest map
that labels the Otis Tufton Mason House , also includes a basic outline for a drive leading to the house (Figure 18).
This label, however, appears to lead from a spot slightly farther east along Accotink Turnpike before traveling to
the house in a straight, non-winding, path. As it describes a much larger area, the Hopkins map may not provide

the most accurate account of drives throughout the vicinity.
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(Above) Figure 17. Map 8, Landscape
Features of the Mason Period

Source: Leslie Plant Mayer, Woodlawn Historical
Site, Mount Vernon, Virginia, June 1981

(Left) Figure 18. Detail of the 1879 "Mt.
Vernon Dist. No. 3,” Map from Atlas

of Fifteen Miles around Washington,
including the County of Montgomery,
Maryland

Source: Library of Congress
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If Mayer's placement of the driveway during the Mason period of occupancy is correct, it is likely that a bridge

has traversed the stream at or near the current crossing since the Otis Tufton Mason House was constructed. This

bridge has since been replaced on at least two occasions, with the latest replacement dating to the 1990s. During

the 1970s restoration of the house, a cement culvert was also reported at the stream, but by 1975, it had been

destroyed (Walker 1974-1976). Large cement pieces still present in the stream today may be the remains of this

culvert (Figure 19).

Figure 19. Possible Culvert Remains in Stream, Looking West
from Sharpe Stable Complex

With the construction of the Sharpe Stable
Complex around 1913, the agricultural
buildings were situated atop the former
west-curving section of the Otis Tufton
Mason House drive (Figure 20). According
to Mayer’s study, the current arrangement
of the driveway matches that which was
present during the Sharpe period, with
the exception of the island of grass and
trees added within the center of the
turnaround following the acquisition of
the property by the National Trust (Figure
21) (Mayer 1981).

Along with the Sharpe-added agricultural
buildings, a large cow pasture was created
in the flat area east of the complex and

house. During the Underwood tenure, in

Figure 20. Map 12, Landscape Features of the Figure 21. Map 16, Landscape Features of the
Sharpe Period National Trust Period

Source: Leslie Plant Mayer, Woodlawn Historical Site, Mount Source: Leslie Plant Mayer, Woodlawn Historical Site, Mount
Vernon, Virginia, June 1981 Vernon, Virginia, June 1981



Figure 22. Detail, Aerial Photograph, December 17, 1953

Source: Fairfax County GIS & Mapping Services Branch

the 1930s, a cattle pasture was still used, albeit smaller, and the rest of what used to be the larger pasture was used
to cultivate alfalfa. When the National Trust took over the property, the flatter areas comprising much of Mason'’s
original tract became used for equestrian activities (Figure 22). Used for polo fields beginning in 1952, the present
primary use of the National Trust-owned tract as a riding school with large areas reserved for horse pasturing
began in the late 1970s (Mayer 1981).

The current alignment of U.S. Route 1 was also constructed during Sharpe’s tenure. The only remaining section
of the previous alignment continues to serve as a slightly U-shaped driveway leading into the stable complex.
Though traffic has increased along U.S. Route 1 since this realignment, the addition of a trees between the current
and previous alignment provides yet another buffer between the Otis Tufton Mason House and the highway
(Figure 23).
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Figure 23. Previous (Left) and Current (Right) U.S. Route 1 Alignments, Looking West

Aerial imagery of the Otis Tufton Mason House includes a faint path indicating a driveway in 1953 (Figure 24). The
only earlier aerial photograph of the house found during research dated to 1937 and was taken in April, during a
period of full foliage. Thus, a thick tree canopy prohibits a view of much of the area surrounding the house (see
Figure 16). The driveway extended only to the south end of the house in all aerial photographs until 1974, when

it looped around the building to the south and east before reconnecting with the previous drive just south of the

stream (Figure 25).

Corresponding to the Walker restoration, the driveway was in the process of being reconstituted as a single path

with an elliptical turnaround at the house in 1976 (Figure 26). During this reconstruction, one tree was removed

Figure 24. Detail, Aerial Photograph, Figure 25. Detail, Aerial Photograph, 1974
December 17, 1953

Source: Fairfax County GIS & Mapping Services Branch
Source: Fairfax County GIS & Mapping Services Branch



from the driveway area to provide more space (Walker 1974-1976). This drive is clearly visible throughout the 1980s
but begins to fade from aerial view in the 1990s (Figures 27 and 28). In recent years, the elliptical end of the drive
is barely visible in aerial imagery only during periods of light foliage (Figure 29).

The two-rail, mortised split-rail fence line surrounding much of the Otis Tufton Mason House today began to take
its current shape to the south as early as 1978 (Figure 30). By 1984, the line along the building’s northwest elevation
was in place (Figure 31). The lines to the north and east, partially composed of post and wire, are not as clearly
visible as the more substantial wood fence in any aerial views of the property.

Figure 26. Detail, Aerial Photograph, 1976 Figure 27. Detail, Aerial Photograph, 1986
Source: Fairfax County GIS & Mapping Services Branch Source: Fairfax County GIS & Mapping Services Branch

Figure 28. Detail, Aerial Photograph, 1998 Figure 29. Detail, Aerial Photograph, April 30, 2011

Source: Fairfax County GIS & Mapping Services Branch Source: Commonwealth of Virginia, Google Earth
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Figure 30. Detail, Aerial Photograph, 1978 Figure 31. Detail, Aerial Photograph, 1984

Source: Fairfax County GIS & Mapping Services Branch Source: Fairfax County GIS & Mapping Services Branch

PLANTINGS AND DETAILS

The immediate surroundings of the Otis Tufton Mason House contain both planted and unplanted vegetation,
including two planted shrubs along the northwest elevation. One shrub, planted in a loose brick planter carries
the shrub lies close to the facade (Figure 32). The brick is missing or out of alignment in several places along the
low planter wall (Figures 33 and 34). The planter extends southwest to the juncture of the original building and
the circa 1880 addition. Two more planted shrubs flank the main entrance (Figure 35). All planted vegetation and
planters are non-historic additions to the house.

Figure 32. Planters and Shrubs Along the North- Figure 33. Looking Southwest
west Elevation



Figure 34. Looking Northeast

Figure 35. Plantings Flanking Main Entrance
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During the 1970s restorations by the Walkers, a brick path was identified along the northwest building elevation.
Photographs taken near the end of the project revealed a restored brick path linking the driveway to the northwest
entrances, facade entrance, and around the southwest elevation to the end of the southeast porch (Figures 36-
38). Itis unclear if this path extended around the southeast elevation (Figure 39). With the placement of the brick
walkway lining at least three elevations, the restoration returned to a relatively cleared immediate periphery similar

to that seen in the circa 1880 photograph of the house.

This path was not detectable during site visits for the current study. Laura Walker also noted an additional, similar
brick path located south of the stream and west of the driveway. This path was destroyed in 1976 when the stream
bed was bulldozed.

Figure 36. Northwest Elevation, circa 1976

Source: National Trust for Historic Preservation

Figure 37. Facade, circa 1976

Source: National Trust for Historic Preservation

Figure 38. Southwest Elevation, circa 1976 Figure 39. Southeast Elevation, circa 1976

Source: National Trust for Historic Preservation Source: National Trust for Historic Preservation



Also pictured in two of the circa 1976 photographs are concrete globes set northeast of the facade (see Figures
36 and 37). As views of the building from this period depict work in progress, it is unclear if these spheres were to
remain at their pictured locations a few feet from the facade, possibly flanking a walkway, or if the spheres were
intended to flank the facade-entrance steps at that

time, as they do to date (Figure 40). These globes were
once part of gates acquired at the 1907 Jamestown
Exposition and installed at Woodlawn Mansion by
Elizabeth Sharpe (Figure 41). The gates were removed
sometime after the renovation of the gardens at
Woodlawn in the 1950s.

The simple wood steps currently leading to the doors

on the facade and northwest elevation match those in
the 1970s restoration photographs (see Figures 37 and
40). These steps were most likely copied from the circa
1880 Mason photograph, though other details present

in this image have not been replicated (see Figure 15).

Figure 40. Facade, Showing Concrete Globes

(Below) Figure 41. Underwood Estate, Woodland
[sic]. Gate, Harris & Ewing, Photographer, Between
1925 and 1945

Source: Library of Congress
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For instance, planted shrubs now cover much of the facade where wood barrel planters flanked the entrance in the
circa 1880 photograph. Also of interest in this photograph is the multi-tiered table of potted plants visible on the
southeast porch. Though the types of plants carried on this table are unknown and the table is not in full view, it

remains an interesting element of the informal landscape surrounding the Mason's weekend retreat.

TOPOGRAPHY AND TERRAIN

Constructed within an undulating landscape, the Otis Tufton Mason House sits above relatively flat and gradually
rolling expanses to the east (Figures 42 and 43). Though lower than the elevation of Woodlawn Mansion, the
house is situated on a hill above areas of horse pasturing and slightly above the Sharpe Stable Complex (Figure
44). U.S. Route 1 and Mount Vernon Memorial Highway lie to the north and east, while streams branching from
Dogue Creek to the south and southeast frame these areas. Primarily composed of opened space now used

for equestrian purposes, there are few trees found on the roughly 30 acres besides those lining the parcel along

Figure 43. Looking Northwest to Otis Tufton Mason House



1 |

'WOODLAWN

Figure 44. Looking West to Otis Tufton Mason House, Sharpe Stable
Complex, U.S. Route 1, and Woodlawn Mansion, (left to right)

the highways and along a road trace that divides horse paddocks to the north and south. However, a paddock
enclosure east of the house and the perimeter of the immediate house grounds are lined by a variety of tall trees
that prohibit visibility between the house, east paddocks, and highways during periods of full foliage.

Streams from Dogue Creek travel north and east between the flatter open spaces used for horse grazing and
outdoor equestrian activities and the relatively wooded paddock just east of the Otis Tufton Mason House (Figure
45). A line of vegetation follows the
path of the stream in a north-south
direction just west of a paddock
_ that holds a modern water tank and
T A three non-historic, run-in sheds. It
continues in an east-west direction
immediately south of the large and
small stables. The east-west stream
arm forms a natural barrier between
the Otis Tufton Mason House and
the Sharpe Stable Complex.

The Otis Tufton Mason House sits

L Sharpe . . .
Stable Complex at a higher elevation than the field

= .. expanses to the east and slightly

-

Woodlawn

Baptist higher than the buildings composing

Church

the Sharpe Stable Complex to the
Otis Tuf

Mas0n House th north. The land farther west to higher
elevations (Figures 46-48). From the

house, Woodlawn Baptist Church

and Cemetery are not visible due
Figure 45. Modern Aerial Photograph to the location of that parcel atop a

Source: Google Maps higher elevation on the opposite side
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of a forested, hilly divide of land. From the church property, the buildings are barely visible during winter months
between this small but densely wooded area. The undulating topography, however, completely obscures a clear

view between the church parcel and stables and Otis Tufton Mason House during much of the year (Figure 49).

Figure 47. Looking East to Sharpe Stable Complex Left) and Otis Tufton Mason House (Right)
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Figure 48. Looking Southeast to Ot
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Figure 49
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IMMEDIATE SURROUNDINGS TODAY

Of the over 56-acre parcel that the house sits on, about two-thirds are regularly used by the current tenant of the
Sharpe Stable Complex (Figure 50). A two-rail, mortised split-rail fence frames the Otis Tufton Mason House's
perimeter. A low picket gate opening sits near the west corner of the house, while a single section of the south
fence is missing (Figures 51 and 52). This opening leads to a small field with a two-bay, run-in shed. This shed,
constructed circa 1970, is not specifically associated with the Otis Tufton Mason House and is not located within
its fenced boundary (Figure 53). A post-and-wire fence lined by overgrowing vegetation defines a portion of the
eastern edge of the Otis Tufton Mason House rough boundary (Figures 50 and 54). According to staff at Woodlawn
Stables, the fencing throughout the property is repaired and replaced where necessary and has been mostly intact

since the 1950s. The fencing closest to the Otis Tufton Mason House, however, was installed in the last 40 years.

Though the immediate surroundings of the house are now used by Woodlawn Stables, this modern use of the
adjoining acreage has helped the house retain the integrity of its setting. The Otis Tufton Mason House sits in
an area of the property where, depending on the time of year, there is little-to-no visibility between it and the
busy U.S. Route 1 or nearby development not related to the stables. Surrounded by cleared horse paddocks and
wooded areas consisting of both mature and new vegetative growth, the rural setting of the house is maintained

despite its now-suburban location.

The high grassy lawn surrounding the house now intermingles with overgrowing mint and other herbs, privet, and
planted and unplanted trees. The tall, naturally flowering grass of the early house photograph is not unlike the
current, natural meadow-like ground covering surrounding much of the Otis Tufton Mason House. A magnolia
tree planted approximately 20 years ago, according to a former resident, now sits amid the tall grass near the

building’s southwest elevation (see Figures 52 and 53).

Mortised Split-Rail Fence
Post and Wire Fence

———— Driveway

0 60 120 Feet

L 1 1 |

T T T 1

0 40 Meters

i

Otis Tufton Mason House [ 4 b

Covered Well =
Missing Rails

Figure 50. Immediate Setting, Otis Tufton Mason House

Source: NAD 83, UTM Zone 18N; ESRI World Imagery



Figure 52. Fence Break, Looking Southwest
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Figure 54. Looking Northeast to Post-and-Wire Fence



A well with a square-shaped cover is located southeast of the house (Figure 55). During 1970s restoration work, a
trench was dug to link a new sump pump from the cellar to this well. Another manmade maintenance element is
located east of the circa 1880 addition. Covered by a concrete slab and plywood topped with pylons, maintenance

files state that this rectangular-shaped area marks that a septic tank was installed at this location in 1968 (Figure 56).

The area just northwest of the fence, which is now primarily used for horse grazing, was once directly associated
with the house (Figure 57). Here, what was once the primary, narrow driveway for the house remains flanked by
five mature oak trees before looping back south toward the stream bridge (Figures 58 and 59). The driveway trace
remains visually detectable from on-site views, though the tree canopy shields visibility from most aerial views
(Figure 60).

The setting and immediate landscape surrounding the house has been informal since the building’s construction
in the mid-nineteenth century. A variety of planters, brick walks, fences, and drives have been placed and replaced
within the building’s setting since before its oldest known photograph was taken around 1880. These small
additions and deletions to the landscape never reflected a high-style, designed setting for the vernacular building.

Instead, setting elements reflected both the needs of occupants through time and the building’s use at first as a

Five: Setting and Landscape

Figure 56. Looking Northeast to Covered Septic Tank
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casual, weekend retreat and later as a modest farmhouse and rental home. The formality in the landscaping of
other nearby properties is not depicted at the Otis Tufton Mason House, but the combination of naturally growing
and planted vegetation with humble decorative landscape elements has remained constant since the nineteenth

century.

Figure 58. Driveway, Looking North from Otis Tufton Mason House
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Five: Setting and Landscape

Figure 60. Tree Canopy North and West of Otis Tufton Mason House
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Six: Exterior Envelope and Fenestration

The wood-frame Otis Tufton Mason House is clad in wood weatherboard and shiplap siding, while the cross-
gabled roof is covered in square-butt cedar shingles. Similar square-butt cedar shingles adorn a single shed-
roof porch that spans the southeastern elevation of the rear ell. Two interior corbelled brick chimneys pierce
the roof: one in the ridgeline at the juncture of the original building and circa 1873 addition, and another in
the gable end of the circa 1880 building section. The following descriptions begin with the house's facade

continuing to its rear. Following this, the porch, roof, cellar, and foundation are described.

EXTERIOR ENVELOPE AND FENESTRATION

Description

The last section of the building was
built circa 1880. This northeast-facing
addition serves as the building’s
current facade.

EXTERIOR

The southwestern-most building
section dates to circa 1873.

Northeast Elevation

Otis Mason House: Context and Assessment
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EXTERIOR ENVELOPE AND FENESTRATION

Description

Southeast Elevation

The original circa 1854 building is
now the central portion of the rear

EXTERIOR

ell.

Northwest Elevation

Closeup of Central Portion, Southeast Elevation




CIRCA 1880 ADDITION

CIRCA 1880 ADDITION

The circa 1880 balloon-framed

ell measures approximately 21
wide across the facade and about
14" along the single-pile side
elevations. Wood shiplap siding
covers all exposed exterior walls

of this building section. The

facade includes a symmetrical bay
arrangement, with three bays on the
first story and two on the second.
First- and second-story windows are
aligned with first-story bays flanking
a centrally set entrance bay.

Description

Northeast Elevation

Otis Mason House: Context and Assessment
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CIRCA 1880 ADDITION

CIRCA 1880 ADDITION

The north and east corners include

slender wood corner boards, while

the southeast elevation has a single
bay of two centrally set upper- and

lower-story windows.

Description

The northwest elevation’s two-
window bay is offset closer the
building’s north corner.

A square, poured concrete landing
leads to a short stair of three

wood steps flanked decorative
concrete globes. Atop the steps

is a replaced, wood, four-paneled
door that sits behind a modern vinyl
storm door.

Fagade Entrance




CIRCA 1880 ADDITION

Description

On this building section, all windows
are vertical two-over-two wood

sash, with most set behind modern
vinyl storm windows. In the lower
sash of the northernmost window

on the lower story is a detached air
conditioning unit. Simple wood
surrounds with slender sills and
hoods frame the windows and
doors.

Southernmost Window, Southernmost Window,
Facade First Story Facade Second Story

CIRCA 1880 ADDITION

Northernmost Window, First-Story Window, Southeast Second-Story Window, Southeast
Facade Second Story Elevation Elevation

ES

Six: Exterior Envelope and Fenestration

First-Story Window, Northwest Second-Story Window, Northwest Northernmost Window, Facade First
Elevation Elevation Story
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CIRCA 1880 ADDITION

CIRCA 1880 ADDITION

FIRST PHASE OF CONSTRUCTION

FIRST PHASE OF CONSTRUCTION

The original building section
primarily covers the southwest
elevation of the circa 1880 addition.

Description

South Oblique

The roughly 16" x 14'4" balloon-
framed central building section,
constructed circa 1854, defines
the building’s first phase of
construction. Following the second
and third phases of construction,
the building's first facade was lost
and is no longer detectable. Side
elevations of the first building
section are completely obscured
by the second and third building
additions.

Description

Southeast Elevation




FIRST PHASE OF CONSTRUCTION

Both the southeast and northwest
elevations host entrance doors, but
only the southeast elevation features
symmetrical bays. The symmetrical
arrangement of the southeast elevation
may indicate the location of the building’s
first fagade. The three symmetrical bays
of the southeast elevation sit below

the shed-roof porch. The fenestration
arrangement is similar to that on the
fagade, with two two-story window bays
flanking a single-story entrance bay.

Description

Northwest Elevation

While the northwest elevation lacks a
break to help aid in weather protection,
the break in the southeast siding

aids in identifying separate phases of
construction.

FIRST PHASE OF CONSTRUCTION

Break at Porch Ceiling

The juncture of the original and the circa
1880 building sections juxtaposes wood
weatherboard siding with the shiplap
siding of the later addition, giving yet
another clue to the phases of construction.

Otis Mason House: Context and Assessment
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FIRST PHASE OF CONSTRUCTION

Description

A single wood step leads from the

porch floor to the four-paneled
wood entrance door set behind a
modern vinyl storm door.

Southeast Elevation Entrance

FIRST PHASE OF CONSTRUCTION

Windows on this and the northwest

L )

Northernmost Window, First Story

elevation are composed of six-

over-six wood sash, sometimes set
behind modern storm windows or
screens.

Northernmost Window, Southernmost Window,
Second Story Second Story




FIRST PHASE OF CONSTRUCTION

Description

Two wood steps lead to the
recovered, four-paned wood
entrance on the northwest elevation.

An aluminum storm door covers the

entrance. The door and window

surrounds on this section are

identical to those on the circa 1880
addition.

Entrance Door, Northwest First-Story Fenestration Configuration,
Elevation Northwest Elevation

FIRST PHASE OF CONSTRUCTION

The window bay sits immediately
south of the entrance.

First-Story Window Second-Story Window

Six: Exterior Envelope and Fenestration
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CIRCA 1873 ADDITION

CIRCA 1873 ADDITION

The small, approximately 14" x 14'4"
addition was constructed along the
southwest elevation of the original
building circa 1873. This second
phase of construction includes

two additional entrances on the
southeast and northwest elevations,
as well as the rear elevation of the
entire Otis Tufton Mason House.

Description

Northwest Elevation

South Oblique




CIRCA 1873 ADDITION

The southeast elevation is divided
into two bays. The southernmost
bay features an entrance on the first
story and window on the second. A
single, low wood step leads from
the porch floor to the six-light,
paneled wood door. The door is
covered by a vinyl storm door. The
northernmost bay includes a first-
and second-story window. The
three windows on this elevation,

as well as those on the northwest
and southwest elevations, include a
six-over-six wood sash composition.
Some sash are covered by vinyl
storm windows or aluminum screen.
All doors and windows on this
addition include simple surrounds
identical to those on the circa 1854
and 1880 building sections.

CIRCA 1873 ADDITION

Description

Second-Story Window

First-Story Window

Second-Story Window

Otis Mason House: Context and Assessment

Six: Exterior Envelope and Fenestration
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CIRCA 1873 ADDITION

CIRCA 1873 ADDITION

Description

The northwest elevation features a similar arrangement with a two-bay composition. However, on
this elevation, a first-story entrance solely composes the southernmost bay, while the northernmost
bay includes two windows. The four-panel wood door sits behind an aluminum storm door and is
devoid of access steps.

First-Story Fenestration

re—

Second-Story Window

s —

Entrance First-Story Window




CIRCA 1873 ADDITION

Description

The rear, or southwest, elevation
includes a centrally set bay of two

windows marking the first and

second floors.

CIRCA 1873 ADDITION

=—A
First-Story Window Second-Story Window

PORCH

Description

rHrTY

Six slender, chamfered wood
posts carry a shed porch roof
along the southeast elevation of
the circa 1854 and 1873 portions
of the house. The porch roof is

TTTTTEE

clad in square-butt cedar shingles.

The southwest shed end is clad in
wood shiplap siding.

Six: Exterior Envelope and Fenestration

Chamfered Post Support at Chamfered Post Support at Floor

Ceiling Joist
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PORCH

PORCH

Description

A pre-1970s concrete step lines
the southeast edge of the porch
floor, wrapping around the south
corner.

Looking Southwest Step at South Corner

At the south end of the porch,
fronting the door bay of the circa
1873 addition, the floor is topped
by plywood. Roof framing rafters
and joists are exposed at the

porch ceiling.

Second-Story Window




ROOF

ROOF

Two gabled ells compose the
cross-gabled roof. The two earliest
building sections lie below a now-
seamless northeast-southwest
gable. The circa 1880 side-gabled
ell creates the building’s L shape,
and has a northwest-southeast
configuration. The roof is covered
in square-butt cedar shingles.

Description

Looking Northwest

The earlier corbeled brick chimney
is located in what was originally
the interior southwest gable end
of the building’s first phase of
construction.

Circa 1854 Chimney

Otis Mason House: Context and Assessment

Six: Exterior Envelope and Fenestration
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ROOF

Description

A second interior corbeled brick
chimney was added circa 1880
at the northwest gable end of
the latest ell. This chimney has a
modern, capped metal flue pipe.

Circa 1880 Chimney (Left) and Original Chimney (Right)

Four copper lightning rods with attached cables are present in roof ridgeline.

ROOF

Central Ridgeline, Looking North Southeast Gable End, Looking North




ROOF

Description

A metal sanitary pipe, modern gutters and
downspouts, and a modern satellite dish

attached to the southeast gable are among

the addition, non-historic roof elements.

Southeast Gable, Looking North Circa 1854 and 1880 Roof Juncture, Looking
Northwest

CELLAR

Description
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CELLAR

Description

The roughly 14'-3" x 11'-8" cellar has a post-1930s
poured concrete floor and fieldstone foundation
walls. While fieldstone walls may have initially
been dry laid, mortar and plaster patching both
between and atop stones is evident.

IR

Looking Northeast From Stair Landing, Looking North

The reestablished access point and relocated wood stairs remain intact via the trap door in the
porch floor. The stairwell measures approximately 3'-6" wide.

CELLAR

The southeast fieldstone wall behind the relocated
stairs slopes downward below the stairs from

the porch access point to the cellar floor. This
arrangement may indicate that these fieldstones
were laid as such to further support the original
set of stairs. The stairs now rest atop a rectangular
concrete slab that does not appear to be attached
to the cellar floor.

View Down into Cellar View Looking Up to Porch From Cellar
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CELLAR

CELLAR

The trap door is located in the porch
floor on the southeast elevation,
immediately southwest of the
juncture of the circa 1854 and 1873
building section.

Description

The cellar door is attached to the
porch floor via three short, tapered
iron strap hinges and secured by a
metal hasp.

No pin or padlock was present
during the site visits for the current
study. The door is made operable
by a thick rope handle.

Rope Handle

Otis Mason House: Context and Assessment
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CELLAR

Original and replacement structural
members supporting the central
portion of the building are visible
from the cellar interior. From the
cellar, notches in hand-hewn sills
show the location of original hand-
hewn sills alongside later-installed
replacement joists.

Description

Central Support

An intact log girder with a flattened
upper face supporting the circa 1880
addition is visible from the cellar via
a small crawlspace. This crawlspace
is not mentioned in the Walker or
Owens notes or drawings, though it
does appear to predate both. Itis
possible that this opening once held
a two-light wood window similar to
that still present in the northwest
wall.

Looking Northeast

Looking North




CELLAR

Description

Non-historic, replacement bricks compose the
section of the chimney visible from the cellar
interior.

Modern updates and appliances located in the
cellar include a water heater, electrical panel,

a light fixture and switch, and rolled fiberglass
insulation.

Looking West Looking South to Stair

No stove is currently attached to the chimney, though the presence of a thimble within the
chimney's northeast face suggests that such did exist in the cellar at some point.

CELLAR

The sump pump installed in 1975 is located at the
east corner of the cellar floor. It is connected to a
covered well located southeast of the house.

Six: Exterior Envelope and Fenestration

Looking Southeast Looking South to Stair
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FOUNDATION

FOUNDATION

A fieldstone foundation repointed
in 1975 supports the two earlier
building sections, while the
northeast ell is a combination of
materials as a result of 1970s and
1990s repairs. Brick veneer covers
the foundation of the circa 1880
addition.

Description

Crawlspace

>
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Circa-1873 Addition
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FOUNDATION

Description

Access points for crawlspaces are located below the southwest and northwest elevations of the
circa 1873 addition, and in the northwest and southeast elevations of the circa 1880 addition. A
single trap door in the southeast porch floor leads to a cellar below the original building.

FOUNDATION

Northwest Elevation Access, Circa 1880 Addition Southeast Elevation Access, Circa 1880 Addition

Six: Exterior Envelope and Fenestration
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Seven: House Interior

This house includes a parlor, middle or dining room, and kitchen on the first floor; three bedrooms, a bathroom,
a laundry room, and hallways on the second floor; and two attic spaces. Descriptions begin at the current
entry room, the parlor, and continue through the middle, or dining room, then into the kitchen. The stairwell
description leads to the second-story main hall, before continuing with the two bedrooms and hallway composing
the second story of the circa 1880 ell. The bathroom and laundry room will follow, while the rear bedroom will
conclude the second-story description. Attic spaces accessed from the rear and north corner bedrooms are

described with those rooms.

FIRST FLOOR

Description

I
1
I
1
'
Parlor : = I
I
|
U S o
I
I
r*;(e';” I
T
I
I
Z 1
< |
n_ I
I
S - I
IU’!
. . . . . . . Im
o8| The first-story interior is divided into !
T o
> three spaces: parlor, dining room, Dining Room !
% and kitchen. |
= 134 ! N
wv P
E I(\ Not to Scale
T8

I Kitchen

13'3-3/4"

|

First-Story Floor Plan
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FIRST FLOOR

PARLOR

By the 1970s restoration, the
approximately 19'-2" x 13'-1"
primary entrance room was referred
to as the "Parlor”. The parlor
composes the first floor of the circa
1880 gabled ell addition. Walls

and ceilings are finished in drywall.
Various modern cable, telephone,
and power outlets, a light switch,
and an air conditioning dial are set
within the drywall throughout the
room. The ceiling height varies
slightly between 7-7" and 7'-10"
throughout the room. A non-historic
metal vent and centrally set ceiling
fan are located in the ceiling.

Description

Northwest Wall

South Corner

West Corner




FIRST FLOOR

PARLOR

The current interior view presents
plank wood flooring framed by an
approximately 6” baseboard with

a 1" quarter-round base trim. A
slightly shorter baseboard frames
the chimney base. Foam insulation
has been sprayed at the baseboard/
floor juncture at the west corner of
the room, and continues up the west
edge of the chimney/wall juncture.

Description

West Corner

A thin square wood trim lines the
wall and ceiling at the chimney. The
stove is a non-historic replacement
attached to the brick chimney at

the northwest wall. The stove and
the tile base on which it sits were
likely installed during the 1970s
restoration, though no record of
such was located during background
research.

Looking Northwest

Otis Mason House: Context and Assessment
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FIRST FLOOR

PARLOR

Description

From the parlor, the dining room is accessed by a single step set at the base of a stepped wood
casing-framed doorway whose door has been removed. Door hardware evidence is visible from
the dining room.

The four-panel wood front door framed by a
simple, stepped wood casing in the northeast
wall includes a rim lock that was added in the
1970s with a glazed redware knob. A non-historic
deadbolt and standard latch lock are also present

on this door.

Latch, Rim lock, and Deadbolt Locks Looking Northeast

Simple wood jambs and sills surround windows. Attached to the baseboard below each window is
an electric heater added during the 1970s restoration.

Northeast Wall Window Northwest Wall Window




FIRST FLOOR

DINING ROOM

The first floor of the circa 1854
building section was referred to as
the dining room by the time of the
1970s restoration and measures
roughly 15'-5" x 13'-4", which
includes an approximately 3'-4%"
x 6'-4V4" staircase leading to the
second floor along the northwest
wall.

The ceiling height measures 7'-2"
throughout the room. A metal floor
vent and modern ceiling light fixture
are located just northwest of the
chimney.

Drywall covers the walls and ceiling
of the dining room.

Attached to the baseboard below
each southeast wall window and
below the added southwest wall
shelf is an electric heater added
during the 1970s restoration.
Various modern cable, telephone,
and power outlets, a light switch,
and an air conditioning dial are set
within the drywall throughout the
room. From the cellar, notched
sills are visible that indicate the size
and placement of log joists of the
original floor.

A large, modern corkboard framed
on two sides sits immediately above
the baseboard on the northwest wall
and reaches almost to the ceiling.
Directly above the corkboard,
modern track lighting was added
consisting of three lights.

Description

Looking West

Looking South

Looking East

Looking North

Otis Mason House: Context and Assessment
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FIRST FLOOR

Description

Chamfered baseboards are 1" x 6"
with a 1" quarter-round molding
resting on wood plank floors.

Baseboard at Chimney and Southwest Wall Juncture

The winding stairwell includes one step in

the dining room, four winders, and five steps

in the main run. The tread run of the stairs is
approximately 8 ¥2”, with winders varying and a
riser height of about 8 9/16" in the roughly 2'-11"
x 6'-4" interior stairwell space. An irregularly
shaped baseboard follows the stair angle to

the second story. A low wood railing lines the
southeast floor edge of the stairwell.

DINING ROOM

Base of Stairs

Main Run Railing

104



FIRST FLOOR

DINING ROOM

Description

Hardware and evidence of hardware

suggests that a door was installed
at the second step. That door has
since been removed.

Hardware

Evidence of Hardware

A closet is located below the stairs.
Enclosing the closet is a trimmed,
four-paneled wood door. The
door is hung with metal hinges and
accessed by a metal rim lock with a

redware knob. A single wood closet Closet Interior
rod extends the width of the closet |
interior. Three painted, angled
framing members are visible from
the closet's interior.

Hardware

Stairwell Closet

Hinge

Otis Mason House: Context and Assessment
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FIRST FLOOR

DINING ROOM

The chimney thimble has been filled
in. A simple line of square trim
frames the chimney at the southwest
wall, while crown molding serves as
its ceiling trim. The chimney, unlike
that in the parlor, has no stove and
no baseboard.

Description

Looking West

Looking South

Top of Shelf

To the right of the chimney is a non-
historic shelf that runs the length of
that section of the southwest wall,
slightly wrapping around to attach
to the northwest wall.

Along Southwest Wall




FIRST FLOOR

DINING ROOM

All three intact, full-size doors are
in working order, constructed of
wood, and feature a four-paneled,
windowless arrangement. Simple
wood jambs, sills, and thresholds
surround the dining room windows
and doors. While evidence of a rim
lock is intact on the southeast door,
only a metal handle, deadbolt lock,
and its original hinges remain.

Hinge

Evidence of Rim lock

Description

Southeast Door

Threshold

Otis Mason House: Context and Assessment
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FIRST FLOOR

Description

Original hinges and a metal rim

lock with a redware knob are both
present on the northwest door along
with two metal deadbolt locks.

: Hi
Rim lock inge Northwest Door

Hinged on the dining room side,
the door leading to the kitchen also
maintains its metal rim lock with a

DINING ROOM

redware knob.

Hinge

108 Rim lock Southwest Wall




FIRST FLOOR

Description

The circa 1873 kitchen measures
roughly 13'-5%2" x 13'-3%".
Non-historic cabinets cover the

southwest wall and the lower

portion of the southwest window.

The cabinets are clad in a vertical
board veneer and include 1970s
metal hardware. A modern, metal-

hooded stove and dishwasher sit

within the wall of cabinets. Below Looking East

the cabinets, two salvaged trimmed,
painted tongue-and-groove boards
cover the cabinet base. Upper
cabinets are set approximately two
feet above the Formica countertops.
Small, open corner shelves flank the
southwest window.

A recessed light above the sink and
under-cabinet lights are also present

KITCHEN

along the wall. Electric heaters were
attached immediately above the
quarter round below the northwest
and southeast windows in the 1970s.
Various modern telephone jacks,
power outlets, light switches, and

a thermostat are set in the walls
throughout the room.

Looking West

SEVEN: Interior of the House

Tongue-and-Groove Boards Looking South
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FIRST FLOOR

KITCHEN

Description

Replacement wood plank flooring
is framed by 1" quarter-round
molding.

Southeast Wall

A metal vent marks the former
location of an appliance in the
room’s north corner.

Metal Vent

Random-width, yellow pine floorboards cover the kitchen walls and ceiling. Small beads of sprayed
insulation have been applied in some places along the southeast kitchen wall. An unusually high
chair rail is located approximately 3'10” from floor level on all four walls of the kitchen.

Southeast Wall Northwest Wall Northeast Wall




FIRST FLOOR

Description

Exposed joists compose the ceiling, which has a full height of 7'-10” and 7’2" to joist base. Joists
are spaced 1'-9%2" apart from one another. Above the stove, a joist-framed patch in the ceiling is
covered in plywood. A non-historic, centrally set ceiling fan is located in the ceiling.

Looking East Ceiling Patch

A large Real Apollo stove from W.S. Jenks & Son of Washington, D.C. is centrally set along the
northeast wall. The stove sits atop a pad of quarry tiles and plywood. Some damage is evident in
the tiles.

KITCHEN

Looking Northeast Looking Northwest

SEVEN: Interior of the House

Attached Dealer Plate Stove Name Panel
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FIRST FLOOR

KITCHEN

Description

The northwest, four-paneled wood door includes
arim lock. The knob of the rim lock is now

missing, and two non-historic metal deadbolt
locks were installed above and below the rim
lock. The door hangs on non-historic metal
hinges.

Door Locks Hinge Northwest Door

The southeast door features six fixed lights
above three wood panels and is not original to
the house or its additions. This door includes
non-historic metal hinges, a deadbolt lock, and
a knob lockset. Simple wood jambs, sills, and
thresholds surround the dining room windows
and doors.

Door Locks Hinge Southeast Door




SECOND FLOOR

SECOND-STORY FLOOR PLAN

The second story is divided into
smaller, private spaces, such as
bedrooms, a bathroom, and a
laundry room. These spaces are
divided and discussed by periods
of construction.

Description
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SECOND FLOOR

CIRCA 1880 ADDITION

Description

Constructed at the same time as the parlor, the building methods used in the small room, larger
room, and small hall that comprise the second story of the circa 1800 addition match that of the
lower story.

Though the chimney is located

in the small room, no stove is
currently present in this roughly
9'-9" x 9'-3" space. The thimble is
covered by a decorative painted
tin plate. The small hall space
joining the smaller and larger
rooms creates a roughly 3'-3" x 3'-
11" space at the small room’s west
corner, giving the room an irregular
L shape.

Drywall currently covers the walls
and ceilings of the two rooms, as
well as the chimney in the smaller
room.

Looking South

Looking West Looking North




SECOND FLOOR

Description

The four-paneled, wood door in the smaller room includes a metal rim lock with a redware knob
and metal hinges. Much of the trim in these rooms matches that on the first floor of this section.
However, the door in the smaller room features more decorative, beaded interior trim. Layers of
paint applied to this door frame leave the bead nearly invisible in some places.

CIRCA 1880 ADDITION

View from Room View from Hall

Beaded Door Trim Beaded Door Trim Where Barely Visible Rim lock

SEVEN: Interior of the House
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SECOND FLOOR

CIRCA 1880 ADDITION

Description

The larger room measures roughly
13'-2%2" x 9" and includes an added
wood shelf in its southeast wall.

Looking East

Looking South

The ceiling height measures 6'-7" in the two rooms. Various modern cable, telephone, and power
outlets, a light switch, and thermostats are set within the drywall in both rooms.

Similar to that in the smaller room,
the four-paneled, wood door in
the larger room includes a metal
rim lock with a rusted brass knob
and metal hinges. The doors both
include simple wood thresholds.

Looking Southeast




SECOND FLOOR

CIRCA 1880 ADDITION

Description

Plaster applied to the walls and ceiling of the approximately 3'-6%2" x 6'-4" hall that connects the
two rooms remains intact. The ceiling height measures approximately 6-6" in the hallway.

The northwest wall of the hallway features a built-in shelving unit, while a single metal vent sits in
the floor and the ceiling holds a modern light fixture. A small step leads from this smaller hallway
up to the larger hall of original second story.

Modern Light Fixture Metal Floor Vent

Hall Step Looking Northwest

The windows in the two rooms are set curiously lower in the northeast end than in the northwest
and southeast walls. Attached to the baseboard below each window is an electric heater added
during the 1970s restoration.

Looking North, Smaller Room Looking East, Larger Room

Otis Mason House: Context and Assessment
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SECOND FLOOR

CIRCA 1880 ADDITION

CIRCA 1880 ADDITION - ATTIC

Description

The walls and wood plank flooring
of the three spaces, as well as the
chimney, are framed by 1" x 6"
chamfered baseboards with a 1”

quarter-round molding.

Detail, Small Room

Looking North, Large Room Looking West, Small Room Looking Northwest, Hall

A handle-less, tongue-and-groove
beaded board attic access door
lined in a simple wood trim is
located in the ceiling of the smaller
room.

Attic Access Door Looking Northeast




SECOND FLOOR

CIRCA 1880 ADDITION - ATTIC

Description

The circa 1880 addition has its own open,
unfinished attic space that is disconnected
from the attic space of the rear building
sections. Rolled fiberglass insulation covers
ceiling joists. Rafters, some tied with rafter
sisters, and gable-end framing members are
2" x 4" boards.

Looking Southeast

The circa 1880 addition has its own open,
unfinished attic space that is disconnected
from the attic space of the rear building
sections. Rolled fiberglass insulation covers
ceiling joists. Rafters, some tied with rafter
sisters, and gable-end framing members are
2" x 4" boards.

Rafters are tied to joists via salvaged painted
and unpainted tongue-and-groove boards.
Some boards have minor damage, but
evidence of insect damage was not apparent
during the site visit. Tongue-and-groove
boards top the rafters, and untrimmed ends
of such boards are visible at the juncture of
the two gables.

Damaged Board

Tongue-and-Groove Boards at Gable Juncture

Otis Mason House: Context and Assessment
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SECOND FLOOR

Description

Much of the second story of the original building section features an open hall linking the two later
additions. The southeast side of the original building now includes a bathroom and laundry room.
The remainder is composed of an irregularly shaped hallway.

The irregular outline of the wood plank-covered hallway, which ranges between 6'-14" to 8' between
northwest and southeast walls and measures about 15’-5" between northeast and southwest walls.

Along the southeast and northwest walls, the ceiling-wall juncture is angled following the gable
pitch to allow for slightly higher ceilings. From floor-to-ceiling, the central space varies slightly,
measuring between 6'-9" to 6'-10" in height. The walls and ceiling are covered in drywall. Modern
light switches and fixtures are set within the drywall.

FIRST PHASE OF CONSTRUCTION - HALL

Looking Southwest Looking Northeast
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SECOND FLOOR

Description

On this level, the chimney is also
covered in drywall and, due to the
enclosure of the laundry room,

is now incorporated into that
enclosure’s southeast wall.

Looking South

FIRST PHASE OF CONSTRUCTION - HALL

The northwest hall window is set in
a simple wood trim.

Looking Northwest

SEVEN: Interior of the House
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SECOND FLOOR

Description

The 1" x 6" baseboard is chamfered and includes a 1" quarter-round molding at its base. The
later wall enclosing the laundry room includes a matching baseboard that also spans the drywalled
chimney base. Attached to the baseboard below the window is an electric heater added during
the 1970s restoration.

FIRST PHASE OF CONSTRUCTION - HALL

At Stair, Looking Northwest At Laundry Room, Looking South

Though the roughly 7-6" x 4'-10%" bathroom was in use as such by the 1970s restoration, it is
unclear when this room was first transformed as such.

FIRST PHASE OF CONSTRUCTION - BATHROOM

Looking North Looking East Looking South
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SECOND FLOOR

Description

Patterned vinyl Armstrong tiles compose the bathroom flooring, which is framed by a 7" squared
baseboard.

Armstrong Tile Floor Baseboard

A four-panel wood door encloses the bathroom. The door includes a metal rim lock with a brass
knob, metal hinges, and a replaced threshold.

Rim lock

FIRST PHASE OF CONSTRUCTION - BATHROOM

From Hall From Bathroom Hinge

Otis Mason House: Context and Assessment
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SECOND FLOOR

FIRST PHASE OF CONSTRUCTION - BATHROOM

FIRST PHASE OF CONSTRUCTION - LAUNDRY ROOM

The bathroom window sits in a simple wood
trim. Attached to the baseboard below the
window is an electric heater added during
the 1970s restoration.

Looking Southeast

Description

Modern power outlets and light switches are

set within the drywall. During the restoration, a
new bathtub, toilet, vanity, light fixtures, and sink
were installed. Additionally a combination fan/
light was installed above the bathtub and towel
rods were attached to the door. An added shelf
sits above the toilet in the room’s northeast wall.

Combination Fan/Light

The Laundry Room was added sometime after the 1970s restoration and covers a space of

approximately 7'-7%" x 7'-%".  According t
as a walk-in closet during the 1980s. A tall ¢

o a previous resident, this small room was first enclosed
abinet and clothing rods were installed at that time.

Added shelves now sit above a circa 2000 washer and dryer along the northeast wall. Behind the

washer and dryer the walls have been covered in exposed, nailed hardboard. Modern power

outlets, a washer/dryer hookup, and a thermostat are set within the drywall.

Looking Southeast Looking East

Looking West Looking North




SECOND FLOOR

Description

The southeast window sits in a simple wood
trim. Attached to the baseboard below the
window is an electric heater added during the

A remnant of the 1" x 6" chamfered
baseboard and 1" quarter-round molding
sits along the southeast wall. This
baseboard matches that found in the main 1970s restoration.

hall. Other baseboards have been removed.

Baseboard Remnant

A two-panel, wood louvered door
with a metal handle and a missing
hinge hangs gingerly from the
door frame.

FIRST PHASE OF CONSTRUCTION - LAUNDRY ROOM

SEVEN: Interior of the House

Handle From Laundry Room
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SECOND FLOOR

Description

The second story of the circa 1873 addition consists of a master bedroom. In the ceiling is another
access door to both the circa 1873 and original attic spaces.

Above the kitchen, the second
floor of the circa 1873 addition
consists of a single, roughly 13-
3%" x 13'-6%" bedroom. Walls
and ceilings are finished in drywall.

The height of the bedroom is 7'- Looking West
6" from floor to ceiling. Various
modern cable, telephone, and
power outlets, a light switch, and
a thermostat are set within the
drywall throughout the room.

CIRCA 1873 ADDITION - BEDROOM

Looking East

Looking South
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SECOND FLOOR

Description

The wood plank flooring is almost completely
covered by a rolled vinyl floor covering.
Along the floor perimeter, the vinyl covering
is tucked below the baseboard.

Vinyl (Left) and Wood Plank (Right) Along Southwest Wall

CIRCA 1873 ADDITION - BEDROOM

The 1" x 6" baseboard includes a
chamfered edge and a 1" quarter-
round base trim.

West Corner

SEVEN: Interior of the House
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SECOND FLOOR

Description

The vertical wood board door framed by a simple wood casing in the northeast wall includes a
rim lock with a bronze knob Metal hinges carry the door, whose base is marked by a simple wood
threshold.

Rim lock

Hinge

From Room From Hall

CIRCA 1873 ADDITION - BEDROOM

Simple wood trim and sills also
surround windows. Attached to
the baseboard of the northwest,
southwest, and southeast walls,

below three of the four windows, is

an electric heater.

Southeast Wall, North Window
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SECOND FLOOR

Description

The trim surrounding the attic door interior
A handle-less, tongue-and-groove beaded d

board attic access door lined in a simple
wood trim is located in the ceiling near the
door of the circa 1873 bedroom.

includes graffiti by some of the latest tenants
of the property, including David Koritko

and his son, Nicholas, and Joan Mitchell of
Woodlawn Stables.

Attic Door Graffiti on Door Trim

Only the original chimney divides
the attic spaces of the circa 1873
addition and the original building.

CIRCA 1873 ADDITION - ATTIC

The space is otherwise relatively
open. Unlike the northeast
end, the cladding covering the
original gable is not present at the Chimney and Framing Dividing the Two Attic Spaces
southwest end. Rafters, braces,
and gable-end framing members
in both rear-ell attic sections are
sawn lumber. A mix of tongue-

and-groove and plywood boards
tops the rafters.

SEVEN: Interior of the House

Circa 1873 Attic Space
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SECOND FLOOR

CIRCA 1873 ADDITION - ATTIC

A metal ventilation pipe runs the
length of the attic spaces from
northeast to the southwest gable
end. From exterior view, small
ventilation holes are visible in the
southwest gable end at the attic

level near the southeast elevation.

Description

Ventilation Holes, Southwest Gable

Rolled fiberglass insulation covers
ceiling joists. Joists are tied to
rafters via painted and unpainted,
salvaged tongue-and-groove

boards.

Circa 1873 Addition, Looking Southwest




Eight: Assessment of Existing Conditions

The Otis Tufton Mason House appears to be in good shape overall; however, due to its current vacant state,
insect nests and damage, as well as small animal droppings are evident in the interior. Such damage and nests

are mentioned in the description, and will become more prominent without attention.

EXTERIOR

Description

The main entrance door was not
operable during the site visits of

the current study.

EXTERIOR

The kitchen door on the northwest
elevation was also inoperable

during site visits.

EIGHT: Assessment of Existing Conditions

Kitchen Door
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PORCH

Description

The porch floor is currently
devoid of much of its paint and is
deteriorating.

Missing Floorboards and Chipping Paint

Boards are missing or shifting in
some places.

PORCH

Paint is peeling from chamfered
porch posts.

Pealling Paint
132




CELLAR

Description

Some insect damage was visible in
the sill marking the southwest wall
of the original building.

Southwest Sill

Rolled fiberglass insulation is
damaged and falling.

Damaged Insulation

PARLOR

PARLOR

Description

The window to the right of the door in the
northeast wall has a broken muntin, while the
window to the right of the stove in the northwest
wall has a broken pane.

Broken Muntin, Northeast Wall Window

Broken Pane, Northwest Wall Window

Otis Mason House: Context and Assessment

EIGHT: Assessment of Existing Conditions
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DINING ROOM

DINING ROOM

Damage in the dining room
includes minor gaps and cracks in
floorboards.

Description

Floorboard Gap

Damage in the floorboards is
evident along the northwest wall
near the stairwell.

At Stairwell Opening

A gap in the floorboards at the
chimney led to the application of

sprayed insulation at that juncture.

Gap at Chimney with Sprayed Insulation

Minor cracks in floorboards
surround the metal floor vent.

Cracks Near Vent




DINING ROOM

DINING ROOM

Description

Drywall damage is visible behind
the northern-most heater on the
southeast wall.

Looking North

This room has recently been painted in a patchwork of yellow and violet, with the name “OTIS"
vertically painted into the northwest wall. Above the southeast wall fenestration is the following

quote from the Declaration of Independence:

"But when a long train of abuses and usurpations pursuing invariably the same object evinces a
design to reduce them under absolute Despotism, it is their right, it is their duty to throw off such
Government, and to provide new Guards for their future Security. July 4, 1776"

Looking South

Looking East

Looking North

Otis Mason House: Context and Assessment
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DINING ROOM

DINING ROOM

Names carved into the sills of the
northwest wall window and the
window to the left of the door in
the southeast wall, and into a pane
in the same southeast wall window
suggest that such graffiti was
added as late as 2006. At least one
sill bears the name of the building’s
last tenant.

Description

Southeast Windowsill

Southeast Window Pane

Southeast Windowsill

Northeast Windowsill




KITCHEN

Description

A damaged quarry tile-and-

plywood pad carries the Real
Apollo stove in the kitchen.

Damaged Tile

SECOND FLOOR, CIRCA 1880 ADDITION

Description

The drywall surrounding the chimney in The large room drywall includes both patched and
the smaller room is cracked. unpatched holes.

CIRCA 1880 ADDITION

Holes in Drywall

Damaged Drywall

Otis Mason House: Context and Assessment

EIGHT: Assessment of Existing Conditions
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SECOND FLOOR, CIRCA 1880 ADDITION

Description

In the smaller room, the window in the Though covered by a storm window, the lower
northwest wall has a crack in the left pane of | sash of the northeast window of the larger room
its upper sash. is missing. A matching vertical two-light sash is
currently housed in the cellar.

Broken Pane Damaged Wood Strips

CIRCA 1880 ADDITION

The windowsill on the southeast
wall of the larger room is currently
detached.

Detached Sill

Above the southeast wall window
is a small insect nest.

Insect Nest




SECOND FLOOR, CIRCA 1880 ADDITION

Description

Several wood strips previously
applied to window frames in this
building section are damaged.

CIRCA 1880 ADDITION

Lower Sash Missing

SECOND FLOOR, FIRST PHASE OF CONSTRUCTION

Description
- Drywall is cracking on the wall and
% ceiling near the north corner of the
laundry room doorway.
y y
Cracked Drywall at Laundry Room Door
5
s . . 5
% | Insect damage is evident in the S
8 muntins of the southeast window. 2
= | Muntins have been painted since 3
< : i
| this damage occurred. =
s
g
<
e
5
Detail, Insect Damage =
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SECOND FLOOR, FIRST PHASE OF CONSTRUCTION

Description
=
o
8 A large drywall hole is visible from
= | just above the vanity.
<
om
Drywall Hole
The louvered door is missing its
upper hinge.
Detached Hinge
=
o
o
24
= | Insect damage is evident in the
% muntins of the southeast window.
3
Muntin Damage
Some baseboards have been
removed from this room. Small
drywall holes are also evident in
this area.
Missing Baseboard
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SECOND FLOOR, CIRCA 1873 ADDITION

Description

Holes and peeling are evident in the drywall of this room.

Hole in Southeast Wall Peeling Near Attic Door

All but one of the windows in this room shows muntin damage. Windows in the southwest and
northwest walls displays such, which appears to be caused by insects.

CIRCA 1873 ADDITION

Southwest Wall Window

Detail, Southeast Wall, North Window

EIGHT: Assessment of Existing Conditions
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Nine: Conclusions

The L-shaped, two-story Otis Tufton Mason House was constructed in three phases beginning around 1854.
The original two-story, three-bay building was constructed with a fieldstone cellar that remains intact and in
use today. A cross-gabled roof covers the original building section and the attached circa 1873 and circa 1880
additions to the northeast and southeast. Though a hip-roof porch was added to the building in the 1930s, the
last building addition was constructed during the tenure of the Mason family, which ended with the sale of the

property in 1902.

The ownership of the Otis Tufton Mason House from 1902 to the present has resulted in its long-term use as
a secondary dwelling connected to the Woodlawn property for over a century. Residents of the house since
Paul Kester purchased the property from Otis Mason have been tenants or employees of Woodlawn owners
or, beginning in the late twentieth century, sublessees or employees of Woodlawn Stables, Inc. This use, which
likely both prevented further additions and substantial alterations, and the 1970s restoration have resulted in

the building retaining its nineteenth-century form and much of its nineteenth-century character.

The building's placement in an undulating, partially wooded landscape approximately 475 feet south of U.S.
Route 1 has also helped to preserve the building's character. The immediate setting and landscape surrounding
the Otis Tufton Mason House maintains a rural feel despite encroaching high-density, suburban development
of Fairfax County. The meadow-like quality of its immediate yard and the mature trees framing parts of the
building and its surroundings are not altogether unlike the setting visible in the circa 1900 photograph of the
Mason family seated outside of their weekend home. This placement and the surrounding mature vegetation

also shield the house from views of modern development during most months.

As tenants have occupied the building in recent years, its current condition appears stable. However, the present
unoccupied state of the Otis Tufton Mason House has led to some mild, but visible deterioration. Muntin
damage due to invading insects, as well as insect nests and small animal droppings are present throughout the

house. While currently such damage appears to be minimal, problems will increase without attention.

It is the hope of New South Associates that the historical context and architectural and landscape description
presented in this report will aid in the successful relocation of the Otis Tufton Mason House. While the house
is not individually eligible for listing in the National Register of Historic Places, it is a contributing resource to
the Woodlawn Cultural Landscape Historic District. The Otis Tufton Mason House combines with the other
resources of the historic district to convey a multi-faceted, enduring history whose sustained presence is of

mounting importance within the ever-growing suburban streetscapes of Fairfax County.

Otis Mason House: Context and Assessment

NINE: Conclusions
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MEASURED DPRAWINGS
PROPOSALS AND SFECIF/cAT/IoNS
CATALOG OF FPHOTOS
CATALOG ©OF ARTEFACTS
ECRAPBOOK OF APPLIANCE /NFO. SHEETS

SEE ALSO 'WOODLAWN AFTER THE LEWISes'. by Tony Wren
NTAP HISIORIC PRESERVATION

GEE  BACk OF BOOK FOR.
l—'/ﬁf r 3
F  PRINCIPAL CHARAKTELS

REFERRED TO IN  TEX].

|




FI1RST |

) PARLOR.
|
|
|- A
I
| )
<1
. E
| §9§
Tz
SECOND  FLOOR. STUDY | GUEST
ROOM
: [E??L. /\
-- l 2 .
5 o)
= il
745
Y, B
| BEDRCOM
|
| | _
- | S R ]
%

OKETCH AN WiTH ROOV-NAME 1 DENT /A7 CATIONS

FLOOR (5@0/\/0 Fl&bﬂ) NORTH PORCH
|




Topee. /974
2 POLE STRINGERS ARE COLLAPSED

" BRIDGE ACROS CREEK VERY UNGAFENBUT TRUCK CAME ANYIIAY,
SEPIIC TANK WAS PUMPEDY, HOUSE TRACT

\WAS BuUsH-HOGCED FOR THE FIRST TMIE,
zedsl Pick-vP STARTS. (U Pick-wP TRUEK
izaAﬂs OF BEER CANS AND  BOTTLES CAME
ROl THE GROUNDS ). Lineieunl REMOUED FROM) FLOORS.
{&T/MA s FROM  PMC CONTRACTORS CAME

|
O FIGURE  HEAT-LOSS R A FORGED AR

HEAT Sy STEM.

NEW TOILET WAS INSTALLED AND NIAJOR. LEAK
W PIPE E(/LD WATER. SUPRLY N CHASE on/ BACK
lm@d REANRED. B0/ STACK WAS REPAIRED.
CEL10R wAS PUMPED OUT- BAD PLUDBING
AND  LEAKS N FOMDATION LIALLS —HAL

| COULED CELLAR. TO  REMAN FLOODE D
WITH J20=18" OF WHTER AND SEUNEE, ROTHIN G
| Access  ETARS, ETC. —GRIEFIN PAV/??B/A/@-
AND HEATING . 72/6 /S A TEMPORARY ﬁ?EPA/R
act. 31 mﬁfées— STEND  FIRST MIGHT (N
| HOUAE, CAMPING OUT, 7O  DISCOURAGE

{-IALLO WEEN,  VANDALISNI
# VANDALASHA, Piaes wilt CONTINYE TOFAIZ
ENABLES m:m 10 MOUE 1N, WHILE WIBITING FOK GRANT. 7 MOVED WiTWiv WALLS




 MOUEMBER 1974

HOIOE 15 AL OF TRASH, STACKED 4-5" ticH /N
CORNERS , CAT L17T7ER, DEAD ANI/MALS, FILTH.
FEAST  PLANE OF ROOF LEAKS BANLY AND DRYwWALL
CEILINES ON SECOND FLOOR. ARE HACSING, STANED
AND MOLDY., E winbowsS HRE BROKEN, Als
I/mu FIF POORLY. ALL (hhld> ARE CREASE AND
LjfncJKE ENCRISTED, Bar/-/ Raeafé:ﬁ ARE ROTTED
AND UMBAFE | ,L/OEA/GB A A/asf ING ON EAST POKCH
INSIDE OLD UVPHOLSTERED FURN, TURE, HONEY
_‘355 JAnfE WORTH  HOUWSE joidid  BATH FLOOR 1S ROTTEN,
COAL /5 TO GET THE HOUSE PASSABLE
FOK TEMPORARY OCCUPATION SO THAT we
WherERSs  CAN - MOVE  IN COMPLETELY, GIVE
UP  REATAL OF QUARTERS ON FORT BELVOIR.
AND — MAKE PROPOSALS IN DETAIL FOR_
THE RESORATION OF MADN) HOUSE,

BROKEN) OUT GLASS WAS REAACED WITH New
| PANES _ @AL SASH MYST BE COMPLETELY REWORKED
ONCE  RESTORATION (5 UD€ whAY,) ALL WinDows

ARE WASHED . TACKED AND BATTENED SCREENING




|

AND PLASTIC — WiNdol AnD DOOR  COvERS ARE W/
\SHREDS  AND  ARE  REMOVED.

l.K:TCHE/u, BATH, AND STUDY WALLS ARE SCRUBBED
WITH  STEEL. (00t AND AMMON/E-  BECAUSE
NOTHING ELSE (it COT THE DIRT. EXIST/ING*
TOTOKE, REFRIGERATOR , SINKS AND BATHTIE

ARE  OULED AND DISINFECTED. REFRIGERATOR.
}/é 19405  ROUNDTOP -~ THAT St WORKS, SORT OF,
BUT PERSSTENTLY LEAKS ONIO THE FLOOR , AND
KITCHEN.  FLOOR 15 VERY OFONGEY RROUND 1T , AND
KIICHEN SINK  AREA HAS FAILED COMPLETELY 30 THAT
THERE 15 AN 8" HOLE N THE AOOR, ALL FAUCET
WHSHERS HAVE VANISHED wiTh AGE , SO ALl NEW WASHERS

THERE 15 A FAIRLY New HOT WATEE HEATER /N

CeLear (110 V. MOBILE HOME Quick RECOVEKY, FROmM SEARS),

THO CAEACITY 1S TOO SHALL | ALl 1T NEEDED wAS wMEW
ELEMENT 5p WE whit AFEP 1T, #5F BT MAKE ALLOWANCE
N NEW WIRING FOR FUTURE INSTHLLATION (OF A LARGER

ONE. NEW TOUET WSTHLLED
KITCH

R OU-BUKNING SPHCE  HEATERS DO NOT WORK 4 PARLO

|

INSTALLED  EVERYIWHERE. . FACH SIOvE EAEMMF WOKKS AT | 0 2 Tepik
BJIT NOT AT ALL SEITINGS ~70 TURN Dbiy) 4 TEMP. MUST SWitcd 7o OTHE BURNEE




\NOY. 74 cont
\AND WE  REMOVED THEM. F@iﬁﬂgﬁ)ﬁ;ﬁc’fffﬁ e
A SMALL  LWOOD-OR-COAL  STOrE, FOR STULY AND
INSTALLED 17. T WE ARE LSO LOOKING FOR
FPARLOE. s COOK STOVES . [ HOUSE HAS NO HEAT AnD
\BUESTIONABLE ELECTRI c:x?’j/]. WICK CLIMBED ON
\ROOF AND CLEANED CHIMNEXS 8BY RNWNNGA
TBL'A’LA)P BAG FULL OF CHAMNS UP AND DOWA THE
FLUES ON A ROPE. CHIMNEY TORS RARE CRUMBLING
\AND THERE AfE NO CLEANOUT DOORS OMN THE
\BOTTOMS OF THE FLUES . [ PLAN ON USING "CHIMNEY -
SWEEP ™ fRySTALS  ONCE A MONTH TO KEEP (T CLEAN.
PARLOR. CHIMNEY  HAS Vaey SMALL FLvs- #x8"
WE AOTTED AND FERTILIZED A VEGETABLE RLOT
1O THE SOUTH OF THE MOUSE, AND CLEANED

THE  GUTTERS,
DECEMBEL. 1974

' we

WHEERS BUMD A KENNEL YARD TO EAST OF

| p
HOUSE . BOTTON EDGE |5 ENTRENCHED APPROX 6

CELLAR IS  CLEANED OF FEASILY REMOVABLE




|

 DEBRIS, LEAKS IN. FOUNDATION ARE

| I CELLAR.

AOCATED ., WE  FOUND H  HOME-MARE

ST wmDos  FOR  FARLOR, AnD

CLEANED, PAINTED, AND INSTALLED THEM.

THEY Wit NOT BE (SED, WOWEVER, AFTER THE

RESTORATION 15 COMPLETE. .

| WE ENLARGED A  FRENCH DRAIN IN CELLAR

FOR TEMPORARY CGAIN |, BUT EITHER LARGE

OCALE  DRAWNS  OUIBIDE THE FOUNDATION., OR.

EVENTUALLY -

A SUMP PuomP  Wite 86 4, REQUIRED . FROM)

DIGGING IN THE DRAIN IT GEEMS HS IF

THERE 15 A NATURAL SUBTERRANEAN). WATEE

~CONDUCTING LAYER OF GKRAVEL DIGRLAYING A VERY
LAYER

HARD, " IMPERVIOVS TO WATER., THE CELLAR FLOOR

‘,«5 CONCRETE | HARDLY ORIGIN AL . CONCRETE  WAS

\PROBABLY PUT IN wHEN CEL.AR Becan To BE

UsED  FOR  COAL HEATER AND/OR. — ELECTRIC WELL

PumP AMD  WATER TANK. ONE 15 TEMPTED 7O

FECURTE QBT THE EARLIER CELLAR - IF IT WAS 8%

DRMP AND  TROUBLESOMIE — DMLY THE CLOEST FART OF THE

MOUSE HAS A CELLAR BUT THE FENTRANCE WAS REWORKED




DEC 74 cont

ONCE  WHEN THE BITCHAN < BEDRCOM) WERE ADDED,

[ VIA TRAPPOOR (N EAST PORCH ,WHicH Wil BE R’Esrozglﬂ
AND ONCE AFTER 1953 (DEDUCED FROM NTHP PHOTO)
 WHEN |NTERIOR. DINING STAIRWARY WAS CHANGED, A5
SHOWN :‘NTﬁAU&ﬂ wﬂmsz@ 1974 "BEFORE" MEASURED

DRAWINGS, CHANGED TO HAVE READY INSIDE ACCESS oz
FOR. SToKING OF COAL FUBNACE T SEE ROLL3>%20

JANUARY 1975

\WALKERS PURCHASE WOOD-OR-COAL BURNING  REAL
iAPOLLO COOKSIOVE  FROM  ACME STOVE Co.  IWASHINGTON
iDc. [PURCH%ED BY THEM FROM HOUSE IN D.C. TORN DOWN

FOR. URRAN RENEWAL [. SToveE 15 IN PIECES , COATED WITH
HEAT-RESISTAN]

an LAYERS OF PAINT. IT HAS =CREW-ON PLATE FROM
UENK!) HARDUARE. [ W. 5 JENKS & Son WASHJU&TOM>C]

WHO WAS MOST LIKELY (TS RETAILER, JENKS 15 STILL
‘ OLD BUS NGESS

(N BusinesS. THEIR \CATALOGS WERE JusT  GIVER

|

(To THE SWMITHSONIAN §j HAVE NOT YET BEEN
|

THRU THE KAXCESSIpN CATALOG ING AND ARE CURRENTYY
NOT AVALLABLE. , BUT /T SHOUD BE TOSSBLE To PATE
THE STOVE  THIS WAY | LATER . WICK & CLEANING
THE  SIOVE  WITH PAINT STR\PPER, WIRE BRUSH,




NAVAL JELLY AND BRASS-O . (T (S A TERRIBLE
LONG  UNPLEASANT JOB .

THERE 1S A PILE OF OVERGROWN CRUSHED GRAVEL
AGAINST THE SOUTH SIDE OF THE HOUSE, THIS
WE WHEELBARROWED To THE WORST SROTS

N THE DRIVEWAY- AGAIN A TEMPORARY MEASURE
. PECAUSE  THE HILLSIDE AROVE DRAINS OVER.

‘ AND THEN DOWN THE ROAD , ERODING IT AS

. IT CGOES. THE DRINEWAY S 4" UNDER WATER.
DUKING A THUNDERSTORM). (T NEEDS DITCHING AND
TwO CUVERTS IN ADDITION To REGRADING.

CBASED ON ARMY FIELD FORMULA , WE DECIDED
WHERE CULVERT OSHOULD BE , AND NFoN CLEA RINTG

BRusH AWRY AND HAVING A CLOSER LODK DISCOVERE D

PBRICK RUBBLE . UroN TENIATIVE EXCAVATION X
CEMENT

WE FOUND AN OLD CULVGRT , NOW CRUSHED,

( BRICKS AT THE CULVERT SEEM To BE RUBBLE _

| NO STRUCTURAL PATTERN REMAINS . MR. SMITU

;‘; | SUGEEESTS 1T MAY BE RUBBLE FRom THE

[i.. REWORKING OF ~WOODLAWN PLANTATION HYPHEN
. DEPEANDERCIES.




|
AN T8 conZ

\IN B WALRING SRrEr OIHER STRUCTURAL BRICK | erc.” [I
whS f??y/l/D.Jfﬁleiﬁf OF THE MISE 1S UNMORTAKED 5@0{’
FATH. B SimnAR BRICK - PAVED SURFACE FRAGMEN]

[ ~ 3" x 6 PAXIMUN) RECOENIZABLE AREA CONTAIN/NG
| JUNTAPRSED  BRICKS , ALTHO SINGLE SCAT7ERER

| BRICKS ARE Expo=ep FoR 20° ) 13 LOCATED ARIONG
| THE TREES JST  S0UTH COF CREEAR AND WEST |

*
| OF  DRIVEWARY = BPPReX 30 FEET DOWNSTREAN OF

| BRIDEE 45 MORTARED STENE WAL IV CREEK BED. TH/S
WAY HarE BEEN AN ABUTMENT  FOR AN EARLIER BRIDGE
OR A REZAmiNG AL OF THE CREER BEP.

ij)( ROUND FoOs7S } POSS )BLY THE FounwdbAT7on/
| OF A SmALL OUTBUILDING , ARE LOCATED ON
THE HILLSIDE SOUTH OF THE CREEK AND
 WEST OF THE BAeNS . KAREN KELLEY , WHO

| UBED To VisiT THE STABLES SiX YEARS A6GO

| RECALLED A LO& CABA) RUIN IN THE wobbs
| SOMEWHERE SOUTH ANDJoR EAST OF THE

| MASON  HOVSE ~ BUT SHE CouLd NOT NowW Fab

IT L OR 4TS LOCATIONy og.  RECALL ANFTHNG ABTT 7,

ANGTE ADDED 1976~ BULLDOZING BF CREEK BED AND REMOYAL OF CREEK-
UNDERCUT TREES BY WXODLAWN SJABLES ING TDESTROYED THESE TKACES.



EAST ANP
IN THE UNDERBRUSH OF THE FIELD pSOUTH OF THE
RECENT (WITHIN 20 1
- HOUSE, AmonNG A GREAT DERL OF j HOUSEAOLD £000S
TRASH AND  AUTo PARTS , H WAGON WAS FOUND.
| EAST  OF HOUSE  THERE ARE TwO HWEAVILY SET
. AND  BRACED |RON PIPES , SUPPORT ING R twiRE
HREEN FENCE., MW BANY OBRERowWN WITH
HONEXSUCKLE AND YOUNG WRLMIT | TH1s PROBABLY
ONCE SUFPPORTED GRAPES, AS THERE ARE TRACES
OF & MuGE VINE STUMPS , AnD GRAPE VINES RRE
| STIhL FIEHTING THE HONEXSUCKLE BUT MOT PRODUCING,
PARALLEL TO TS FENCE/SCREEN) ANO ST SOUTH
15 A MORTARED BRICK FOunDATION, FISSIBLY

Y3
AN OuTHOUSE T

FEBRUVALY THRU BSEPTEMREL. |97.5

DRAW PrANMNS  AND SUBmi7 PROFOSHL.
INSTRALL  KipCHEN) BT COOKSTOVE AND
}EMP&EHE)/ LINOLEYM FLODR IN KiTCHEL
CONTINVE ~ CLERARING  PRUSH AND  DEEBRIS

S AFTER FURTHER CLEARING OF ARER, THIS (AS DENT/IF/ED
BY MRS THORFE AS A coed FRANVE .




SPRING, SUMmERL. 1925

!F,eoM Hovse  AND GROUNDS,
| ONE-TIME
MRS, THORPE , p RESIDENT OF MASON HOUSE

!WA@ NOW WORKS AT WOODLAWN PLANTATION | CAME

BY mor A VST, HELPING TO IDENTIFY WHAT
WoRK WAS IDONE To THE HOUSE DURING THEIR
oceerAne VAT  ROOMS THEY USED FOR WHAT, E7C.

SEE REPoET ot /NFORAIAALTS .
| AFTER  MAJOR TRASH FROM FIELD HAS BEEA

| STACKED, MR. BATTEA! REMOVED 17T IN THE
| PICK P  AND BUSH - HOGGED SEVERAC T/IMES
\SucH  TRASH INELUDED

FROM CELLAR. & WELL PUMP; PRESSURE TANK
| FOR WwiELL FPUMP,; GAS HOT WwAH7ER HEATER ; COAL
!é",a.f.a' HEATER [4 ONE-ReOM MODEL THAT HAD BEEMN
HOME-MODIFIED TO DUET WARM AIR VPWARDS THKU Ny opiz
GRATE IN  DINING ROOM FLOOR - KEEPING THIS HEATER
FED MAY HAVE BEEN THE REASON FOR  MOZIF /WG STAIRS
(AFTER 1953 ) AND COMVERTING OLD CALLAE. ACCESS Wid TRAP
o o PORCH B A (COAL GH(/F{] S CCPPER. PIPES;
\COAL ; KLINKERS, ROTTED 0D
| FRom  GROUNDS | ELECTR/C STOVE | IN PIECES |

7
CAR DCOORS , FENDERS, SEATS , CAR AND TRUCK




WRINGER - TYPE WASHING MACH INE ]
Ou. BARRELS ; FUEL STOKAGE )

TIRES |
/IRON BELSTEAD ;
TANK | ROLLS OF STOCK FENCE ; BARB WIRE j
IRON PIPE] |RON FENCE 78STS; FLYWOOD AND
PLANK BopY FOR TRANMSFORTING LWESTOCK OA
FLATEED TRUCK ;| TRICYCLE | BICHELE HEARS of
 CLOTHING AND SGLL  HOUSEHOLD APPLIANCES (TOASTER,
RIS PANS, KETTLES ...) AN AXE AND DRIE

\d#ﬁxzr REMAIN 7> BE PICKED UP.
VIRTCA /s
7000, PARTIALLY ROTIED  [JOODEN AITCHEN
| CHAIRS WERE SHVED , AND HOPEFvicYy wwHer
ALl ELSE LS DONE | THEY CANV BE FREPAIRED
JHERE /S ALMOS
Grorat SorD weob BETWEEN THE PAIR OF THEM

END
o MABE ONE &6’4/}?)'.. THE STYiE OF THESE GRS

(5 OLD ENOUGH THAT THEY MAY DATE 7o THE
MDA DCCOPINCY. RLTHOLEH  IT 15 AGkIE A

LT 70 THWAK THAT THEY ACTUALLY ) RE ASSCCHZED
UTH ERRLY TENANTS , IT /5 4 VAGUE AUSSIBILITY
RN VPHOLSTERED SIDE CHAIR OF [ARIOR TYFE

UWAS ROUND ON EAST FORCH | pND (T 700 MAY BE
LD ENOUGH T0 B oF MASONE FAarkipd,




|
\SPR N/ SUMMERS 1G75
THE CoNDTicn) OF Caa/RS /5 VERY TooR
BU | wonD LIKE TO SEE THEM EO wWiTH |
THE HOUSE
WE TOOK THE FOSI-/953 STAIRS THAT LED FARO
e KOO TO  CBLAR | PISASSEMBLED THEM,
| CUT OFF THE BOT7oM 7o STERS HHICH HAD
ROTTED DURING  CELLAR FLOORS, AND RE-INSTALLED |
THEM IN THE  ERSTWHILE COAL CHUIE, ?"H‘ERE/
U5 NOT A WHOLE LOT OF HEAD ROOM jn 7475 |
KB RECONSTRUCTED ACCESS. ‘J
WE Creared TUer FROM RES] OF B2 BR/ICK
(THE FPATHE NORTH ENO
PATHWAY, BE, APPEARS TO HAVE EROCDED ALY AS DRAWN

\BUT  THE SOUTH END SKI|RTS THE HOUSE AND Con-

\TINVES TO THE EAST PORCH, EVENTUVALLY wWéE
LEX7TEAD

\WIiLL  TARE PATH TO NORTH DOOR,

| THE NORTH FORCH, ACCORDING To MRS THORPE, |

Whs BDDED N THE 19305 . AcThoved (T 1S A |

PLEASANTLY COOL SP0T ON  HOT SOMMEE. DARYS, 1T

15 VERY BHAKEY, ROTTED , AMD | Finvp THE

FORCH
LINES OF THE \RODF DISCORDANT . | WAS TEMFPIED




7O TRY 7o FEABIR IT , EXCEPT T#HAT —THE

AN OF THE RESTDEAT/ON 15 FOCUSED 47
1893 AFPRIX.)
THE NASON PERIOD), AND THAT WOULD NEVER 2O,

WICK AND | REMOVED THE PORCH, $ WicK

WAS FleHnes T#E BEES AND IS ASSEMBLING —

] WAs5  SAWING P DPEBRIS AS FIREwWDSOD .

WHEN THE PORCH POSTS WERE FINALLY OFF I
(P corERAGE, MOT z:;e;f:_;_)

[’(M/) SEE TRACGS OF IHITE ZAINTAON THE

Ij/ﬂ//m_/f THE FORCH INDEED HAD BEen' ADRED A7 By

'4F7££ THE HOUSE HAB Bez/ PAINTED

THE TRy GE/A/A/G-' WAS ROVEHSRWN  IX6 (nrommiac)

ON THE LARGE MNORTH TLANE , FINGSHED Ixe(Nom.)

ON THE Two SWALLER Sipe  72anEs (1D

THE FORH HAD BEEN SCREENMED, ALTHOUEH

NOT OR/GINALLY AND  SomE OF THE

SLREEN BATTEMS APPEAR Tp MATCH THE Kirowen/
Cuak ka5 Swun/ W NTUP Ploro 1968).
SINCE THIS  MiLL WoRK ( MORGAN C’#A/£ LAIL >
IS STILL IN PRODUCTION  Jadf, AnD ,\xwa-’
AS YET NO EARLY  ASSOCIATIONS UNDISTURBED,
Wro CAN TELL umEN T WAS ADDED 7o



THE KITCHEN C Hope FULLY  ALL PAINT -LAYER/NZ-
WiLL NOT BE GONE WHEN WE GET THE
KITCHEN WAULS OFF.

UNDER THE NORTH PORCH | SAw NO
TRACES OF THE BRICK WALK. s&s=ss 1 DID
NOT UNDERTAKE MAJOR EXCAVATING B(T IT LOOKS
AS |F THE GROUND LINE IS LOWER. HERE

| THAN  ORIGINALLY SO WE CANT REALLY RULE IT

AND NO ARTIFACTS AT ALL.NOT LIKE REST OF HOUSE AREA Wieg, |
| OUT.p THE NORTH FOUNDATION, HOWEVER, 1S N "

| 3|
' BAD SHAPE , SEE PHOTOS, SET ON COBBL&&EQ“(EE%%
b =4
IWITHOST  TFOOTINGS , OFTEN REPAIRED AND E@E n &
| &5 185 Z
 STILL FAILING., Yeo @ U
¥ &
£S5 TR
VI /S Er 9 Pt
LUMBER R BRIDGE ARE- PELIVERED BELVOE = “:,\ ._
WiLL BUID JT AS ACOMMUNITY ACTION PRuleT o @§
M
BIT N PEEPARATION FOR CONTRATORS’ X }ﬁ &
IMMINENT  ARRIVAL , THE  WOOD LAUWN) §' § B ;-
> = Q0@
STAFE  LAID PLANKING DIRECTLY QLER. gg = ?3
OLD BRIDEE 7o ADD TEM|PORARY A% 5%
M2 Z 5
STRENGTH- . SE5E]
SNEQ
T é
e




2ORCT 1975

I CONTRACTOR. WORK ON PHASE I

| !PM(’. CONTRACTORS.  arrives , unannounced, to begmn.
NO MATTER. THAT I AM  HAVING THE NEIGHROR

l LADIES IN FOR.  COFFEE THAT AFTERNEON, | AN

I LUST VERY GLAD To SEE THEM.  WINTER. HAS 31 OC
ALREADY SET 1IN, AND WE HAD TLANNED AND

{ HOPED THLOT WORK OF PHASE T WOULP BE
‘ tOMPLemD BY Now.

. S MO
' PMC  REMOVED EAST TORCH FLOORING , Agals
! . REMOVED ALL GUTTERS, DOWNSPOUTS, LIGHTN (N2
I !.:Rotss AND CABLES AND ::‘E’iT :fgjba TO
4  BE. REINSTALLED AFTER ROCFIN(G < CHRIMNEYS,
! , EAST PORCH OR\GINALLY WAS RBRUILT COF
RO 06 JOISTS 0N BRICK PIERS WITH

UNKNOWN  FLOORING., SOMETIME SIKNCE.

’ | THEN, SOME OF THE JOISTS HAD BEEN REPLACED
|  AND LATER STLL, A CONCRETE. S[EP WAD




1OCT 20-75
BeEenN POURED AROUND IT ALL. PoRCH FLOORING
WAS PROBARLY NOT RENOVED WHEN THE STEP
| WAS ADDED SINCE. FORMS APPEAR TO HAVE
PEEN JAMMED UNDER. , AND THE CONCRETE-
COULAPSED Some OF THEM | THE REMAINING
| LOG JoisT THAT WAS STILL SOUND WAS RETAINED.
3| OCT75PN}§EQL DTHER FRAMING WAS REPLACED WITH NEW

| =
| PRESSUELE TREATED [LUMBER. ,PoRCH FLOORINZ-

NAILED Down WITH LIGHTWEIGHT <uT FLOO@I\ImAtL&
PMC REPLACED ROTTED VERGE BOARDS AT EAVES
S NoV 75 FORTBELVOIR. © CpT SMOKEE, MR. DANIES  Cpr Boori
| CAME. 8¢ To OSEE THE BRIDGE PROJVECT. THEY say
| THEY wite Do \T TH\S FALL- JOR TIME | to Lz DAYS,
| GNING US  PRIOR. NOTICE S6 WE CAN TELL WORKMEW
 (PMC o) PROBABLY BEFORE 14 Noy 75 - THEY
COT  HARDWARE (NAILS 4 SPIKES ) FROM DAN CLEASCN)

AND TooK MY DRAWINZ OF THE BRIDGE,

| GEORGE SMITH  NOTIFIED US THAT THE CONTRACT

| HAS BEEN AMENDED To INCLUDE ELEC. WORK,' AND

;THAT PLUMBERS Wit BE HERE MONDAY <o WE
NEED To GET WALLS 4 CE\LINGS OFF for. THEM




6NV 76

PMC  JACKED HoUSE UP AND REMOVED NORTH
FOUNDATION WALL, THE FOOTING AREA WAS
EXCAVATED, THE FOOTING Wit BE 8”
THICK AND  WILL BE STEPPED st
ONCE TO FoUow CONTOUR of (AND,
GRIFFIN PLMBING < HENTING- CANE BY AND
To> ME FOR SURE WHICH AREAS OF WALL
MID CEILUNG NEED To RE CPENED UP FURTHER
THEY Due TRENCH - FOR SUMP PUMP  RUNOFF LINE
(Eunn'mnq T <.e. From .EAST PORCH N'COEMEQ),
LAID PLasTic PIPE AND BACKFILLED |, TAKING
CARE T© TREPLACE TORSOIL ON TOP.
THEY HAD TO CHIP OUT OLD SPILLAGE OF
CONCRETE FOCOTING  FROM  AROUND SOl STACK
AND  DUG  HOE FOR. SumP Pump IN N.E.CELLDR

T NONTS GRIFFIN INSTALLED SUMP POmMP

PNC  BEGAN PUTTING DowN NEW PORCH FLOORING-

AND TRAP DODR . THEY UsED NEW ROUGH
LUMBER To 7@ INSIDE  CELLAR. DOOR._TO
CoVel up THE [ PRESSURE TRENED FRAMING



8¢9 NO%(;'LB WE BEGAN TO TAKE DOWN WALLS ¢ CEILING
| IN DINING RCOM, TO MAKE ACCESS FOR.
| PLUMBERS .
| DRYWALL HAS BEEN INSTALLED DIRECTLY
OVER.  HORIZONTAL BEADED TONGUE
| AND GROOVE. BOARDS ON ALL WALLS
AND  CEILING., MOST RECENT WALL FINISH OF
DEYWALL HAD  QUARTER ROUND (1) IN ALL CORNERS
AND A | xb PLAIN BASEBOARD LAID OVER. THE
BOTTCM EDGE , AGAIN WITH A 1" QUARTER. ROUND,

BOTTOM EDGE OF DRYWALL RESTED ON ANOTHER.

BASEROARD , | X6 WITH UPPER CORNER. CUAMFERRED,
THIs CHAMFERRED BASEROARD , PROBABLY THE
ORIGINAL, EXTENDS BELOW THE PRESENT
FLOOR.  PRESENT FLOOR, WHICH WiLL BE RETANED,
NOTCHED

1S NOT  ORIGINAL | A\ SILLS | VISIBLE IN) CELLAR,
INDICATE Si2E ¢ PLACEMENT OF ROUGHLY HEWN
OR  TRIMMED LOG JOISTS OF ORIGINAL FLOOR,
;T%Cs BEADEIS BOARDS, REST ON THIS CHAMFERRED
| BPASEROARD AS WELL . TH4G BoaArPs BUTT

'UP To TeInM AROCUND DOORS AND WINDOWS.



KT CoRNERS AND CEILING , ENDS OF T1G. RoOARRS
CARE ROUGHLY cUT 4 EXTEND INTO OPEN INGS BE-

2" MARG 10D
iTWEE:I\I STUDS, THELE 15 AN UNPAINTED AREA

- ARCUND  DOOR. 4 WINDPOW TRIM § AROUND  INSIDE-

| CORNGRS THEKE 15 A |I' MAREIND, THIS WAS
PROBABLY ADDED TRIM TO CONCEAL CAPS AND NAILLS
 SINCE WINDDUYS 4 DOORS WERE TRIMMED 00T LOAT-
BESR BEFORE. APPLICATION OF BEADED RBoarDS
CACTIVE ROT 1S ALL OQVER N.E, @UADRANT OF
CEILING ( UNDER #5385 BATHROOM ) - CANNIOT
BE SAVED. '

UNDERNEASTH THE BOARDING , WE FOUND
LATH MARKS ON STUDS ¢ PLASTER. KEYS BE-
TWEEN STUDS. THERE IS JUST SPACE BEMHIAD
TRIM  ARCUND DooRs. AND WINDOWS TO
SUGGEST THAT WHEN HOUSE WAS BUILT, THE

FINAL

LATH WAS PUT ON, TRin\ AROUND OFPEN NG S

WAS APPLIED, AND THEN THE Room (WAS
PLASTERED.,




MR. FRED BRANDT , NTHP CARPENTER. , RECOGNIZES

THE T%G. WALL 4CEILING SHEATHING AS “SEALING
02 “CEILING -BOARDS . HE SAYS IT WAS FREQUENTLY
UsED TINTo THE 1930 AND OFTEN TENANTS
WOULD COVER. 1T WIiTH HEAW WALLPAPEE, TACKED
ON  WITH MATCHING TACKS RATHER THap) PASTED,

e wWallpaper
150 THAT THEY CoulD TAKE T WITH THEM

WHEN THEY MOVED.

1 LIKE TME CEILING BOARDS , BUT THIS
IROOM SHOULD BE DRYWALLED TO REPRO -
_DUCE.“ THE ORIGINIAL PLASTER. ROOM FiNISH,
ORIGINAL CHAMFERRED BASEROAED TO STAY
IN PACE. DOOR ¢ WINDOW TRIM REMOVED
AND LABELLED . NGT ALL OF (T 1S SounD .
WE WILL SAVE THE CEILING BOARDS ThaT
ARE N  SATSFACTORY CONDIMON) , HOPEFULLY

THEY CAN BE USED SOMEWHERE .




1O Moy 75 WITH  woooLawn Ceew, we orenmep P THE
BarHkooM UNDEE LINOLEUM. FATCHES, THE  WODD FLOOR.
HAD BEEN PATCHED , BUT MUK FLOORING IS STILL
ROTTED - DUE 0 LOMs EXPOSUEE TO LEAKING PLUMBING,
We REMOVED DRIWIALL AND  [xb BASEBOARD FloN] AL whLLS.
- LATH B HAD PREVIOUSLY BEEN REMOYED BETWEEN NORTH-MOST
Two  STUDS OF ZASS WHL 7o RACE Soit STACK < VEN], NO
LATH EVER  WAS LsED ON WESI FARTITION WHLL , AND
LATH OF NORTH WALL CONTINUED  UNINTERYPTED FRIM
HALL DOERIRY 70 JUBIOF Lhht. 1E, SOUTH BAT#x07)
FARTITION Wil MAF (& QKIeHL. , BUT WEST (AL 1S
ey SINCGE FATES ARE Bewow) CEMING LEVEL
1T WL GE DIFFIcal FOR. THE VENT To & THKY
THE Wit Inge ATTE ¥ KIOF . FROBABLY THE BL&si
THING 70 00 1S RELOCATE THE STAK. 10 THE EAS]
WU AND SO THE VENT PIFE ARUMD THE BATE AND
BOA [N AROUND IT NEAR SLOPING SIDEwhLL.
O NOV. 75 GRIFFIN FPLUMBING  RE-WSALLED THE b KITCHA
Y OINK  AFTER  [NSTALLING AN “INTERNAL VENT ' UNDER.
— THE SINK ON (TS DRMN LINE , 4ND INSTALLING A Ny




| PLASTIC DRAIN LINE. PREVIOVS KITEHEN DRAN
AND VENT WEKE EXPRSED ON HOUSES SOUTH
EXTEL/IOL LIHLL. THE JNTERNAL VENT ELIMINATES
[HE NEED O A VENT OOTZET pu/ THE KOOF, BIf

CAN Ny BE LsED O SIVKS.

Il VOV 75 CRIFFIN-PMC-GEOREE SMITH AND | EOT TOGETHER
IO DISCUSS  PROBLEMS WITH THE EX/ISTING FLOOR
JOTS  ouER THE Diwins oM (LWpER THE BATHROOM)
| THE Zx& JWIS]E AFE 'c’BM(@ AT ANOTS, PARTIALLY
 ROTTED BY JHTER ,mé%%’/&z ¥ FOR FLUMBING,
| SAGEING 27 AND MORE  AND EACH HAS AT LLASS
| ONE  SCABBED ON EINFOCCING FATCH . TN OBDEP. 70
RUN New DRAIN LINES FOR New) PATHROOM FIXTURES,
NEW  STRAIGHT 4D STRONG JOISTS ( ZXB'S ) SHOULD
BE  RACED., IZx8's WOULD ALLol) FOE BETTER,
\GRADIENT IN DBAIN LINES WITHOUI COMPROMISINE

_ 8y RemoViNG
STRUCTURAL SIREMGTH  AND y THE EXISTING SAG , CE/LING
\HEIGHT Wikt \Mr GE AFECTED.  GRORGE SMITH, IV 7#
PMC, (it | WVESTIGATE NEw EXPENDITURE AND CONTRACT
DETAILS 70 SEE 1F WE CAN DO THIS.




SO0 WE Wit HAWE 70 REMOYE ALL WALLS AND
CEWNE 1V DNING, D STAIRWAY. — BEFORE N
WISTS CAN BE P IN.  NEW JokSTE SHOULD 60

N  BEFORKE FLUNMBING SO THAT HISIS CAN FE
DRILLED INSTEAD OF NOTTHED.  GRIFFIN WHL DO
THE KEWMAINING WORK It/ REST OF HOUSE |, BUT™ BATHROON
Wit BE [NOFERABLE FOE SOME TIME. POSSIBLY
New Toé Hokd BE BRoUSHT IN BEFORE FPARTITIONG

AND STRIRWRE ARE Ceisen M AcAnl 7o .

RNV 75 we TOOK Doul THE %gz;_— 2’1’%4%- OV ING food]. W THE
SOTHIEST COCNEL-, THE , BOARDS 70 THE STAIRWELL
OPENING  ARE NAIED OV WiTH 8 P WIRE NAILS, RES™
OF Room | EXCEPT /DR LATER, RERMR HOLES, IS Do
WUTH COT NAILS . BUT i/ ATH CASES THE INEXADSED
EDGE oF THE GROOVED SIOF HAS BEEN
SPLIT OFF LONF AGD. BoARDS ARE ALl
FACE-WAILED AND  TONMEUES SHOW MO

SIEN OF BENG PREVIGSLY NAWED. THERERRE IT /S
UNCEETAM IF THEBE BOARDS HAD BEEN USED ELSELIMIRE.

BEFORE . (BIDE 1bLL CEninG BOALLS WERE NAILED

—ESPLTS



| THROUGH THE TPAGUE Lli7# COT NALS , NOT FACE
Maned)  DiNiG cErns HAD ORIGWALLY

Bézw pASTES. AT CHIMNE wNNE '
| FLOOR. JOIST FOR. UPSTAIRS } THE CEILING-
\BOARDS FIT BACK INTO THE BRICK-
|WORK % 3" FROM FINISHED SURFACE

12 NOV 75 WOODLAWN STAFF  FINISHED  SIRIPPING OFF
DINING CEILING AND  STAIRWAY PARTITIONS
ON DINING ROOM NORTH WALL | THE CEILIAR
BOARDS  DELINIATE AN EARLIER. STAIRS
LOCATION = A CUT-OUT fOoR. THE BOTTOM 2 STEPS

Lu\sr_ or— O\J:-E’.LL-ND
BENDS. OF //
MENBEE-
o

DEFINED BY ED&!:S?ENDS '
OF WALL "CEILNG Bopeps t

||"-"—-'--_..‘
L
=

PG
EAE‘.E&'_AED
— CURRENT ruf)tf:..

(OLD FLook- -
Y LOWER.




THE BRICKINASONS ARRIVGD , REPOINTED ThHe ExTeriof_
OF SIONE FOUNDATION , LAID NEW ComtcerE Beock.
(FACEO CHTH BRICK) NORTH FOUNDATION) , LewORKED
NORTH CHmNEY FROM ROOFIIE P NORTH CHIMNEY
HAS A 4'x8° FfLuE open /e - NLINED | BUT 1 &u/ff
COOD SHAPE " D CLern)
THekE 15 4 Bow W NOEH woks Sttt , BIT S/UPS 4D
L OSTS STre e SsuEEErENT B ws O fcE So
POCNDATION ke wlhS Budi 7o Forlow THE Src =7,
TERMITE SHIELD |5 LAPPED . | THink THATS Acr

RIGHT | BIT tice HALE 7o crlccs .

UK I THE Dl RbOHl, THE  STMPLAY HAS BeeH
TAKEN OUT AKD THE FEMING &
> MORE  Vis/BLE. THE WOEE (5
A fwﬂ@ STeDS (ROVlsgy
4ka’ ) QAo St 1o
 nd SPRY RATE. 2nd ToLY FLIOK,
IS oNe FRom A RIBEAN BAND'
- (Ke) ser jup THE STuss . BoTw JOIST < RIBBIN SLIGHTLY

 NORHED . Slip SHACNG IKFEBUAR 1O FIT DO0€S ¢ (ONMLS
/% MIN  TO RS2 pMax  Ts  eoom .




|| « BROKEAY ©OFF BOARD
| |12 EMEEDDED IN FLASTEL.

THS HEADEE. :I "

2x/ (S 4x4 WAS PROBABLY THE

[N Féi’_» :32‘.]? | HEADER FOR, THE ORIs: STAIRS
STAINRD :

A4

|
: = =1 ——1 Y = F/ = __,—i_"\"‘\: : _;;:_‘-C- Wk
Hiﬁ = ===
| : =% -‘—_‘_;? —— »

WEST Wil
DiNiNs Roam) z /\1/

AND IN OTHER-
FLACES , FLASTEE
LING O~ LATA,
SAM\E SLOPE |
SEE. PASTOSD

| UASTAMES  HALL , ABVE DINING Room . DEMOLITIoN
THE |RRESULAL FLEOR Leysl WAS Foened
L WieN  PeeViDus TeNANTS  LAID MORE FLooP Bosels,
L OVEE. SHUIMS, OVER. PREVIDUS Tk TO  COUNTERACT
T A Tool TS, |
THe  PARTITION WHicH TORMS THE BATHRIOMS
 2O0TH WALL IS QUITE INTERESTING, \TS BEE
15 DIRETLY ON EMNRUEST ROORING (T+&: RANDOY)
L WICTY YL0K TINED. WHERE. 1T JOINED THE EAST
 WALL THERE 1© NO RBREAK. N THE LATH BEHIND




ON ARD
(T, BUT  THE PLASER  MARKS \BETUEEN THE

LITH INDKATE THAT THE BARTITION WAS (P
BERRE THE oM (AR PLASTER ED.,

MADE OF 4 RousH ' SLABS | s8> Lam—> 1,3

é’i’% EnD
NAILED  IN VEETICALLY To HODOR Brock.
AND  4ND FLO0R CEIUNE> JoisTS Ftmmmst
(BEFOKE CEILING LATH RUT UP) A8

A BASE TOL THE LATH - SANDWICH STYLE.

CLATY SHewn pele

PN ree
L X OAUTON OWE SIDE

s

T HD To & Kelioyed TO RersiR FLOOR, AND COULD RAT & Rernca)
. W/ EOLLUN
/AN 75 SMAKIED DIl ) 70 Biasuse A Lever 7K.

Wer! HIS[S — T /5 BETER B #y /7 A izl
HEIGHT 7RI DINING FIN. FLAGR , SA%S ME. BeDT.
Pyad  evipmon’ (* 76") o/e g7 TR Leviz.




W& Faok Joisis INSTALLED  WiTH MOPEKN COKET METHOLS ~
ENHED PINE IXBS  IMUWE TECO" METAL JoIS CURS 0~
HANGARS , (/7 DOVBLE HEADECS Mmfj‘ ?g/%%ﬁ-w
A Bl ) THE wiEST whll AT SEEoMD FLOOE LEvEL WAS
CRREGGED BY DEWinG LoME DIACINAL TEMDRALY BEACES
BCMINET EXTERIOL 0F MOUSE AT Ehen STID BUF 7HE
MAIOE CAUSE OF THE Bow (A ROT7Ep St onbee Peodsen
BECONSTRUTED W] DINWG- DOok) Wit BE DEALT wizy BY
PNC PE REC COMIRACT wiha) e BE D0 THE WEST LhLL
\SIDING ¢ ALIGNMENT
e BeLor ]l T EnerR. BA).  PEMOVED ocp
BEIDEE AND  BONT New) TIMEEE JRESTLE BLRIDGE.
LEAVING Ly WD BB Us 10 USE ROE FIFEWOOD,
THEY EINEHED BY AE0F | PM, My FASTEE THAN
THEY ETIMATED .
PMEC  FLACED TEECMITE SHILzD AMD cOWERED THE
HOBE O 175 W NOCTH FoosaTin).  THEY ALSO B =
| FINVSHED  PACING  NER) TEOORING- N EAS FORCH I J _‘

AROUND  PLUNMBERS DPAIN LiNES ., THEY OSHORED (P

|77r‘¢’ EABT PoReU  ROF TEMARARIY N PREAACATION]




FOL, ROOFEZRS ANVD e KEARBCIV G MAIK) HEADEC,

V15 75 (SAT) _ BECK MASONS  REBIIT S0TH CH Ny
TN RO /7.

/7 MRS A FLE Ll . THEY CONEMRMED

THAT /7 L85 MOT ORiG M. ( IN THE ATTIG ,

THE CHMMNEY LOOKED 72 ME AS IF 17~ HaD

BEer/ REROEKED) |
MoK T prepases KON DEan/ ks m/ wes)
SETS IR UASTAIRS BATHAON].

AORSTH e

FIC. BACTF D AROUIMD WORTH Bunitdzion,).
AND. EINISHED RERYES > PORCH POSTS 1 HAREE,
TRIBMED TRAF ook .
LAOLLAUN (4D K. BRANDT) FIMISHED oo
FRPAIING |, LAID 157 IneERne. sRA0E i) St
AND lams Fookme SURARS, BRIDSZD Baicen ML
. 7Y KemMoled Caued HALLE KEMAINING Jdacis D
CEHUNG ( DEPWALL ;' Uhidae. DEYINLL ON CErein/Tr
AL LATH IMARKS D (LATH NDER, DRYILe on ot Ls)
 (CEKING JOISTS  ARE SmAE 3" FoLes WITH ONE
SiDE ADZED OB CHOPPED Make o, 2ESs FLAT,




D ACCELT LATH WHEN OBIGIAIMLY TLASTERETD

ONE Lo CEALING JOLST HAD FAILED AND HAD

BELN REPLAGED 221770 2 K5 AND SHoeT U
CROSS FRAMING HAD BEEN ADDED — PEEHARS FOZ.
OTHER PARTIZZ00/ LWALLS

RAFTER TLAL
ZND STORY)
CEATRAL HALAL -

-7 ORIGINAL. FALT I TION

STAIE OFEN | NB-
< Berowl
Nt ==

N R T A A )

/2 Live FrROM RECEAY DRPUWALL CEALINE

NopTH —>

1 =T |

1 .
t

STAIRS AT ONE TIME JMAD A SIOPING CELINE-
MG FOLLOWED UPPEE, RASTEE <CAL (SHOWN 1N
"BEFDEE RESTOLATION ' MEASURED IRAWNGS) , AND RSSiBLY
MSO A VERTICAL ENGOUNG WAL UPsrAre,&,Bur
MAY oe  May Nor Be ORiGinNAL .



CEILING JOISTS WILL HAVE To BE TIED
TO RAFTERS To CRTAIN LEVEL SURFACE
T SUPPORT THE WEISHT OF DRY WAL~

NOVTS  loopLmon)  CPew) REMOVED ALL 2x4's Feem
Beruleen Poe Celuine- <oTs , AND BING
OMVAGED (Fem FLORING) |Xe's , TIED
THEM TO RAFTERDS; NEDGES AT ENDS OF %ﬂm .

ONE JoisT, THE <ecoND Feom e SOUTH, HASR i

NOT SURVIED  excelr Toe A +2' STUB wikckH

HAS BEEN REMoVED ¢ CATALOGED.

TRED AND SiXTH 0675 (FRam SOUTH ) Weke TRINMED

ONARAT JRFACE. WITH A SKILSAW TO Leret

THE CHRILING JOST To WeicH THE.  ORIGINAC

Cratee, Baueoom) BRTITIEN) was ATTACHED LA

SHOPED ON o2 SIDES (FDP. YARTITION AND PR

er-
Conie ) [\ EhiEnce T THe PACTioN) (ks

% ORGINAL .




/19 Mov 75~

IR NEBLETT AD WE SMITH DISCUSSED ITH ME
COrFES OF MF
o ME NEHETT 1IOUD LIKE ANNOTATEDy PHOTOS OF ALL

KTHEC. heK. SENT To Ml DPOukTown).
R SING THE TRIST pS FALLEY BE#NY SEHEDULE( SEE
 LEASE, MDD  CORRESTPNDACE FreE ) WOONAM) P~
TATIoN, Wi 467 Bree e85 e Al RelT...
G. PAINT ANALYSKS Wit BF SCHEDAEDS

*

POWEE (Elce,) EATRANCE MAY BE Movep 7o Cécidrh.
SINCE ~ FAEFAY COUNTY DISARPRIVES OF THE /284

OF COMCEALING CIRCUIT BEEAKER. FANEL N K1 TCHEH)
CREINETRY . BaT THERE 4S

INSUFFICIELNT HEADELEOH.

IN CELLAL - FPROBABLY HAVE To RELY om0 HISTOLA

~CREAT7OL)
Boiome WAWER. |, LIKE REQUIRED FOK RESTERA7 e~

OF STt RS

5. M NEBETT REViIGwD THE JNEX e ((E nar
W ORIGINAL PROFOAL) WORK ~ALCOMPLISHED
ON  CENTRAL SEET704/, DINING CELCING S O STS.
WOoDLHIN  ERexy  HME UHECPROOF DEF e BaTe CertmG-
AND e Nad BATH PARTITIONS, AGAm/ - A Mobesw

CONSTRUCTI00 TECHNIQVES — BIT SOUTH BATH PARTITION
/0 GE ORIGINAL DIMENSONS, NOT 5% * THiCK  LiKE STD.



D NV 75

. ¥ >
DAN GLessen  pecpern MELATION AND & SHEETS | L
OF 12! DEfiemic. woooiaum cfew appep |7
HITTHER. 12" PLy wvoe subzane. w @i (7o 7ome ") 4
HINNED  STURS 0F BaTH 0T 70 PLAze. (2
[ AT looorms " T cons pu meaw Ry FZOOR., v
&
MV D5 WooLaun CRaw) DD 4 INSULATED FPH
(PiTI Ly )  BATHEDOM). &
Ak

WINDOWS - FRom ceugess A SOLTH SECTINS OF sov i |
W CONMmE St ST (THE Moome Stapes o 24 MoK 7
THE MANTING ) | 1T 1S OBUIOUS SASH WM Becn/ K.
- TRKEN OUT AN MixED . TOP 4 BOT701]  MOLOINES Do |
NI MATCH 5 SomE AgE W URSIZE Downd 5 THEEs Aes U
4 Mied PATTEENS . FAcH SEH  CONTAMS SsomE | W
KD &ASS IND e g . | Wi KORT, 1k 7# VA
ME BRANDTS  RecommMaDATIonS 4s To SONDNES < 2z - I

 UBBB11TY OF Fegpmes ) D THAT  STIcAnBES
Ty i B koom.  Tae wOoR) S4sy Wi




\BE SCPAPED AND STRIPAED. THEN ALl Drd GLASS
\WitL BE REPOSIT/IONED 7o MOST VIS/IBLE AOA~
TIONS . ME. BEANDT 1D  THAT CHANMNELLING THE
i5/;24{5 Fre  LIEIGHTS OB ALUMmitr) GU/IDES AS
\(URREAT NER  STOCK  dimponls REE MADE  jJortD B
WWIWISE  BEAUSE 1T WOLD PDIMINISK THE ~IOOD .
BUT IF FPANIES ¢ AH ARE SHAPED 1O FIT, WITH
\PROFPEL. HOLDING STRIAS , THN Wmdwls wjee 2&

| CONSIDERALLY ~NOCE WEATHERTIGHT THAR THEY AfE
Ao

|

|
4 NoY 75

ME BRANDT BEEINS FITTING T REPAIRING- dlnboz) SASH
- CRIFAN ZLUMBING  RoUsHED IN — FLEXIBLE COPREL
| WHEE soPpLyY LS AnD OODO0E SPiGoT. SPGB
| WATEE, LINE 15 3’ DEEP AT SPICOT , TRAVELS

| UNDEE  |OWER EDSE. OF FOUNDATION AT CRAWLWA f
L IN THE BATH, SHOWEC HEMD |5 6 RATHEE THAN

| STANDBED 64" BIAUSE OF LOW CENMR
 PLUDIBEKS  HAD  TWD DIFFICULTIFS.  THE FIRST
| WAS  THAT TOILET [HS KOUGHED (N BEFORE




THE NORTH ~ WHILL (S SHIMMED OUT T THE
PROTRUSION OF  RLATE, 50 THEY WEDGED
THE DRMN LINES DUeR 1", SecoNDLY | THE
ENTIRE VENT STAcK FROTRUDES BEYoND
WALL LBYEL ( NOF JUST THE ELBOW AROUAD
THE PLATE WHICH WE'D ALREADY PLANNED To
Box IN) AND THEY ADIVSTED THAT

Wha/ | Tocd MR BRANDT ABOUT THE ConereTe
PIER  UNDEE THE KITCHEN FLOOR, HE THOUSHT _
IT MIGHT HAVE BEEA/ DONE FOR A WASHMNEG- Mickm/Es 2pec,
SO THAT IT COted BE BOTED DOuN Smice LARLY
WASHERS. DID. NOT HAVE BAcagiecd Pl

=7
BADI 75 (BATHTUS # Toner (WS 1A8E) # W) Wit
METER.  INSTALLED |

DEC 75 MR SMITH CALLED - THE ELECTRICIAM MEEDS
. ACCESS To ML WALL AREAS DEc. 9,

® W PHASE 2, WHEN KITCHEN FLDOR [AS REN\OUE) We DD
3 Dscovee Bars RoTRWDINEG FrRom TUE anmrg PER.,




THIS /S AMOT QUITE AS WED HOPED. WE
| WANTED T HAVE ONE ROOM DONE A7 A TIMIE
| TO MINIMIZE  DISTURBANGE 70 LIVING N
THE HOUSE .  WE WILL HAVE JTO HAVE ONE
0. TWo ROOMS IN WHICH To SIORE OUR.
| PACKED HOUSEHOLD POSSESSIONS |, Ja/ WHICH
10 &SLEEP, TO COOK, TO KEEP WARM ., WE
WILL MOVE AS MUCH AS WE CAN OUT [NJo MY
;HOR'SE TRUCK ., WICK AND | EMPTIED THE
| PARLOR. TODAY.
ZDEC? WOODLAWN STAFF  BEIN DEMOLITION) - PARLOR_,
WICK- 4 | PACKED THE GUEST ROOM ¢ STUDY

i
PARLOR. CENWING WAS CELWOTEX (AAF{BBE-

I! BOARD /2" T“"CK7 SHEETS WITH LATTICE

| BATTENS. CEILING HAD BEEN ORIGINALLY

| PLASTERED , AND LATH REMAINED UNDEER_
THE CcELOTEX, BOTH BELOTEX 4 LATH WERE
RENOVED. CEILWZs JoIsTS ( FLooR- JoISTS
oL 2NDSTORY ) ARE [N GOOD CONDITION
EACEPT TOR ONE WITH A SPLIT TFHRU




A ANOT,  ALL bETS, HOWEVER , Swow B S

AMONT OF 46, AND ESpecsdcey EASTERL) JISTS Az
ARE SPRINGY WHEN CPSTAIRS LAOE IS WHAED. S -
O BOUNCED LA, JUSTE A%  fbs Saun <2xbs e
NOTCHED  LVER  #1BBen) BAND. R /&
AT MR BRANDTS SUSGESTION, HE FPLACED e
FRE-STRESSEL 2 xXx45 AMONG EACH /ST T
L W
2x4%5 PRESIRESSEp }—
SR 4 pec 73
Tl ARRERG) Ll . |a
PARLOE.  WAULS WERE AMSO CELOTEX, wITH TAPED =
: SEAMS, OUBE LATH . LATH FITS BEHIND Dooes 9
-~ AND WINDOWS TRIM AND |5 CONTINVOUS ( EXeN A
- NAILED To A STUD) BEWIND THE PARLOR. CHIMAEP 1 30
. AARLCE. FLOR 1S SOUND. EXPOSED FLOOR. 1S NOT : W
. THE ORIGINAL FLOOR.. Twoe LAYERR OF FLOOR. | £,

. CAM BE NOTED BY REACH INZ- BEH/ND THE |
_ BASEBOARD., FLEOE JoI1sTs ARE SUBRORTED By | | UF




‘ A LOG GICLEC RUNNMNG E- JHE LEps7y OF THE
ROOM. W] OUTS/0E THE BALLOOW FRAME. , RESH
CORE" PAPER. (FADED RED IN COlOL) WAS PLACED,
!Jé/é?‘ BEFORE GELCMAN SIDINE- WAS RPPLIED . RODEATS
(MICE #.59u18CELS ARE NOW N HBINDAIME HERE)
iHAVE DONE SEEAT DAIMAGE , AND WLY SCEARS RENIA/1)
I: THE House FRAME HAS AGONVAL BRACING N NVE.

\CORNVEX. CNO  DIAGONALS IV DINING: LS E//'/r‘é-'/e)

4 DEC|T5 W00 AL STAEF BEGING DEMOLI TN I S V(%24
| AND BUET Roon)

| VERIO CREH) CANE 7o STAKE THE LNE FOL.
SN A FIRET W D Gens THEN A
‘5 JE FLANG BUT THEY DREW UP ONE wwicH
LS ALL WRONG, AS REGARD 70 CREEK AND BARAKS
SO ACTUAL PLACEMENT OF LINVES Wil DEPEND 1)
WHERE TJHEY — REALLY PO /7. = ] Wie ADp IT TO
EIN/SH DRAWINES

THE FPARLORS S.E. (opNER. POSI 15 ROTTE )
VP To 3" ABOVE FlLpoe. , PROBABLY HRES® Flom
| PLUMBING LEAKAGE & PORCH

[T




WCODLAIN  STAFF- DEMOLITION OF SUDY, GUEST ROOH)
BASICALLY, ORIGNAL CONSTRUTIon) MATTHES. Taar 07
PagioR. (INCL. LATH BEAMD TR * BEHIND G#/MA/EV)
LINOW TR 1 GUEST ROONT, HOLEYEE, 15 CENLNE
BOde) RERACEMENT, NOT ORIGINAL

UBILS AND CELINGS WE  KE MOUD WERE PRY L, |
N CEUMES |, THE PEEVIO LATH HAD BEEA) REMOVED 5 Qe
BERRE. THE.  DEMIALL WHAS INTALLED  THE Stius.
ENTRANCE HALL YO THESE TWO Roows (S iy
PATERLD, WALS MD CEILING-, BT SINCE Bucks of
AL [gess ARE ren FROW DTHEE, LEMOKITION), WE
HOFE JHs RSSIBLY DKiGinar WDKK Char) ReNhn), WizH - _
WY UINOE. PATEHING. o lec

THE E7182  BI05 AppiTion) (AL Hau Y7

4

. GUES .69@/?0 VESTRIRS , WAS FLODBED In) ome 17
EXFANGE ,  BUT PARTITIONS AS WE FoumD THEM. IV Lk
Berke' PRAWINGS 1974, WERE PLACED BEsrE XS
RS WEE  TUSTEEEDS . LATH W6 STAGGERED Eveey 7 L 7 7

ROWS. Coime- Jouszs 46 Rocshun) x4 ’s.
-~ THE NORIY GBLE ) & THE OCIEMAL HOUSE.




G LE e A THE BF3 ATTIC. . SIDING HAS

l TRACES OF R—UWIITE 2]

 WIhtois  OF THE 1893 ADDIT/on) 4E SE7 LOER-
N TRE  NOCTH  WRLLS  THAR N THE EASTE LEST
LHLLS . Beksy nsvoun/

5 0015 ROOFEES BEGM/ , ASKED IF THEY COULD WORK
| STRAIGHT  THeu THe WEEKEND.!CO-ORDINATED
WITH PVC. SINCE  PMC  HAS TO  THEA/ WorkK.
JATURDAY  TO  GET  MORTH ROOF  SLOPE

| RE-SHEATHED ToR_ THEM),

6D 75 Dy oW ROOF SHEATHMNG. /T W#WAS NOT
| KIGINAL.  MATELIAL THEY  JlaeE REPLACNG-—
THereres  MATCUWZ  REAACMERT MNOT CRITICAL .
\WE OK'D THE £ OF 4 "B GRIDE RyWEOD,

7060, FOWND \Fpnaee FRAGCMEITS  LJITH PANT
N 1893 ATTick |7 MATCHES NEw WORK.
INCLUDING  AOUNIT  OF  SHIMNGLE EXPOSED

HOUWAVER, M) SHINGLES ARE KOPAERS TREATED
70  RESIST 1 LE




S0, VERD TEEE ~TRIMMING CEEW 1K) For nGy
LINE. | PMCLSED GELMAL) Si DING |, ABE 48
REMoraD, T0 REFLACE SOUTH  END OF PorH ¢

108¢75  ERO POLE SETTING CREW CAME BY
IO JEE WHAT WORK ¢ T0OLS THEYD NEED, ¢
WILL  BE. BACK TROBABLY' MONDA Y
VER  OES  CERVICE ENTRANCE
TAKES 7o) KITCHEN To  CELLAL. 4S
FREFEL LED 8}’ Fh ICFAX  COUNT 7’
lo beg. d:gmgjf%o Y GEORGE SMITH THAT . STILL
MO ELETRIC4L  FECMIT HAS BEEN RPPROVED BY
THE CouNTy ; THE ELECTRICIAL) PEEFERS NOT TO
START  UNTIL HE GEIS one. PMC 1S mow
APPLY ING: UNDEE,  "COMMERCIAL™ Sinee 85 A _
| MATosAL. TRUES FROPERTY , IT 1S AMOT " BESIDENTAL”
WE RRE GO 7o BE QUTE FIRM ABOVT NoOT
HAVING  DEMOLIT 10/) IN Tlo  SoUTH. ROOMS
iyt AD - BEDROOM)  UATIL THS. 1S



CLEARED OF AND UNTI IT #UL 6F A Quick NE77ER.
L OF 208 3 JEAS BECE WE CAN INSULATE |
- SE T ENMCLOSE, THE LMULS AEAIN. COKSTovE
| IN KITCHEN 45 QUR/ ONLY HEAT.

Il DEC75  IERD TRMMED TREES
| ROOFERS FLASHED THE RCOF, £GEOESE M /TH
l CONFIRMED MY GQUESTION THAT COPPER. MATEE/AL
AND  CHIMNEY  FLASH 1452~ (NOT SET JATT0 /2?08/‘/0@3

\ARE NOT TO SPECIFICATIONS, APPARENTLY
THE SUB-CONTRACTIAG— HAS NOT /NCLUDED
THE ORIGINAL FLANS, AND WHILE THE (DN~
TIRACTOR, |, PMC, FULL Y UNDERSTANDS ABOT
WOORK ON  HISTOR /. BULDINGS, THEIR
SUBCOINTRACTORS  ARE  OccASONALLY | RATE
AND FRUSTRATED WHEN WE loans oryce.
THAN  1975°CTANDARDS . Espec/ALLy sz

THE BIDDERS AND WORKERS HME MT SEEN THE
RANNED SPEC/FICAT/IONS , WITH TS SIAULATIONS
ON WORK  QUALITY + EXACTNESS OF REFLICATION



(25 75 MO DELINEKED \3 TOLES, DECIDED 17 Dee.

BECAUSE OF HEAVY IND F TOR0 GRAPHY THAT ! .
POLE- M £

THE D ME D 6 Al s By D |5

15 DEC. ROOAEKS FnisH. | PHOMED FPMC — ELECTRIC/AN
Wice Becn/ (7 7H. THE ACTvAL BUitd/NS PEEMIT :
|\ WAS CRANTER /2 DEC TS, TODAY THE ErLecihicin 18 beg.

L Wl APy PR H4S

6 DEC 75  VEPro PoLE SETTELRS Finiswéer ¢f TODAY
ROOFERS CLEPANEZD UF, ANOTHER SET OF WOCK-
MeN FRow] SAme ComiPANY wice COmME To PO COUNTR
FLASH INGS  LATER. FAT PADBELG oF FMC BeousHT
THE.  BUILDING PERMNIT 7o BE DISPLAYED , AND
S0 THAT (HEN ELECTRICAN DL ARRIVE TO -
MORROW , WE COULD  MOpIFY THE ELECTRICAL
|  FPLAN AND  ESTABUSH 1 wORK SEQUENCE. (TS 1S
NECESSRREY LECAUSE ORIGINAL DRALWMIGS FOR. -
 PROPoSAL WERE PBASED ON [FDRCED MR HEAT
CBND Mo BOX LACEMENT 15 7o Be CHENGED .

£
i,
E
s
<
1a
e
R
&
M
e
£
-




17 DEc 757 PLUMBING ROVSH-M) | SPETI00)  PASSED,
MR- BATTEN AMD STANLEY CUT Dowr) A TREE
THAT CRAMFED THE DEIVEWRY — WoODLA)LY)
CRew REMOVED SOUTH KITCHEA) CABINETS ¥

CovnNTers , BACK 7O , BUT AEAVING ORIG, LWOOD WALLS

18 Dec 75
ELECTRIC/AN) ( EDPIE wBRD of JAannNIS EA-ECF'/E/::)
| PRRIVED. AFTERL CONFERRING WITH PMC ¢
\ME SMiTH t+ NE , HE AGREED T© MOVE SERVICE

ENTRANCE TANGL. , BOX AND SWITCH LOCATIONS

b
WELE ALSo REVISED 7D coNForm O counTV
[ CODES, RICHARD EWARLD (ouwWNER of JANNIS gégc:)

CAme BY AND IT WAS DEC/IDED THAT /N ORDER

70 REDUCE HOLIDAY DELAYS , HE WOULD GET THE
ROUGH-IN  IMSReCTIon) MON. OB TUES IF WE CcOULD
GET  KITCHEN AND  BEDROON  WALLS OFF [MMED-
ATELY . THEN WE COULD Go AHEAD AND COAMEAL
WRING  WITH  JNSULATION, AND DRYIWALL BT Oue.
DWW SPEED . WOODEAWN) Wil Do DENIOLITION) N BEDRG?)
FRIDAY, WALKERS Wice TAKE Rown KITCHEN CEILmE-




CVEL. THE Lib=hEn D AND  WOO AN Chad e , _ LSoAST

BRE DOul/ KITCHEN, WD JWEBLS MOV, FIRST TH/NG _ | caTE

SO BECTRIc,HON CAN GET THAT Done BEDEE 196

N 7700/ . -

| VO 4G4

PAINTS—

19 D2C. LA BEDRON DEMOLITION) : CEinite JASTS _ .
RRE Ay, RLREALY 18D 0 FRFERS , 3 SZns Diacona

W WET wps RRE piadfes 2X45 , REZACED PROB. %ﬂgﬂi -

RBLE fiTEe,  [T68 FIRE . THE ELECTRICIAN W/IRED, | _

WORLUALN PUT™ OF  CERING AND NSHLATIoN) e

IMDEDIATEL Y . A=

_ A CH

o DEC we (wrkd ) Took D Kiennl Gz - THIS _ Br &
FIRS ™ loft) TElLSH, , THEA ) Bl e

SURFACE Tucrz PANTED g —NOT ORIG/MALLY |  THEE:

ENCLOSED . KEFT WITH —EXPOSED JOISTS L _ ABE

1= EST 1/

2 DECTS SiTcwen’ DEMpL: Tro0] sy 2

VNOER, RANDON WEBPT WOTH Py CEiL/nE .

Gy feuiow PINE ook BOAEDS USED N | -

- | td@u.&) THE SoutH WALL OF KiITCHer) HAS | R

Two PiaGonAL. X6  BRACES . 3TURS UNDEL.
WRLLS SHOW ONLY NAIL oLES FOR- THIS WAL “TREATMENT.




| SOUTH KITCHEN WALL- LAYERINGS OF PAINT  INDI -

| CATE  WHAT  WAS ADDED , FRoM ORIGINAL TO

L /968 SMOKE S HADORW OF
19e8 FIeE. . SHAVING M IREOR
|
SHERVES +— e
AFTELC o (180 g ZENEINES RETER.
| VOR MG ' A BLue PaINST
PA]A]TS —\—\’_—_‘JF-@E— - b
h s l:j [:ID L ‘ZC,
~ ¥
\.\‘:\ D—G /C/ HAI‘EE«J‘}"—’.
N ! -
e v UNTERTOP To
DIACONAL e s BARE US0OD AnD
BL::AQlMCrCJF f\\\\ > '// :' BoUE a}.-d_,r
FRAMME BEHIND NS e,

i ‘”“L“w' "This AREA ONLY 2 COATS PAINT
GREEN THERN IVORK — 1€ 1N5ide
' a base cabinet.
| WEST whi (4 ALl NEW) COMSTRUCT/ON) , DAT/NG FEOM]
 AFTEL. THE /F6e8 FIEE. , EAST # NOETH (JOLLS SHOL) 4
A CHAe RAr. BaoJT b FROM FLOoR - THIS IS A
Bir #icy L. RESULAL CHAL. ROIL.

THEEE 1S B SIMPLE WIRE HOOK- A/ CEICIAG CENTEC

 ABDVE S WINpOW-  FoE- AN o1 LamP T
ESTI/IMATED CELOL SEQUENCE OF (DALLS
MsS]” RECENT - GSA GREEN', IVORP, RED (FAPED, BUenED
| FRLEEDING MANY SHADES , DK. DUlL GREEN , /IoRY,
TORBUOIAE |, LT. GREEN (Tversd DA BRIGHT

[ 1

GREEN IN DARK FARTS OF kicop SRAIN) , BARE 400D |



R3 DEC TS _INSULATED ENTRE. KITCHEAD . L
ELECTRICAL INsPECTION) (| PW) PASSED ENTIRE T
HOUSE WITH THE EXCEPTION OF THE KITCHEN) _
WHICKH WAS NOT WIREP FOR. PHASE I APPLIANCES

<
C
MR BBANDT BRICKED UP FLUE OPemile- 1N <sourH | S
D

BEDROOM - FLUE LINER. IS CONTINUOLS DOWK THIS
FAEL.

S4DEC 75  mME BRANDT ¢ STAMLEY WORKED % DAy TO B
HAVE US CLeseD IO ( DRYWALL 1 I NSULATION)
FOR CHRAST Mos,
A4f TELEPHONE COMAUY AT MY REQUSST -THiS IS
NOT HANDLED iN CONTRACT , PRE-WIRED & PrUcs

-2 DEC 715 PMC MEASURED FoR wesT DiniNg Dooe.d STAIRWELL,

AN

=

T

-

OB TELEPHONER - WIRINDG  WITHIA THE WAL, |
S

B

- PLAN HAD TO BE CHANGED AFTEE. WE FOUND MABKS To
N

1 ON STUDS THAT INDICATED  WINDERS , RATHER THAN
A RULRE LMNDING 1T Wi BE A TIGHT FiT
GCETTING STAIRS To CLEAR DOOR .




VEPCO CReEW BACKRHCED AND COMPLETED ALu
TRENCH)NG- | LAD POWER AND TELEPHOMNE
CABLES UNDERGROUMD = RACKFILLED DRIVEWAY,
CEDAR ROOFS of MCLEAN CAME TO Do FLASHINGS
BUT WILL NOT Do PORCH SINCE THEY 8AY T

30 DEC 75 PWMC DELIVERED MATERIALS AND DOORS (ONE NEW
4 -PANEL FO&%HITCHEM) MOLD NG DOES NOT MATCH
AND DNE WHICH WE FOUND IN THE CORN-CRIR
FOFT IN 1975 WiMCH THEY RE-GLUED. THER
THEY  TCRE OUT WEST CENTRAL SIDING (SOME
OF 1T PXTCHED WITH PACKING CRATE 165D
TO CLEAR AREA AROUND DOOR 4 SiLL . REPLACED
SECTION OF ROTTED SilL UNDER DOGRWAY,
PUBHED SILL BACK INTo BETTER (BT IMPOSSIBE {
To GET PeeFecT) ALIGNMENT AND FERAMED
IN THE FLO0E. AREA To BE TATCHED.




3l DEC 75 VERCO CREW INSPECTOR/SOPERVISOR. 51D
THEY WIL  BRING 1IN GRAVEL TO RUT OUER.
MUD IN  DRIVEWAY CAUSED B THEIR-

| TRENCH,

Z JAN 1976 ) DREW UP SEVERAL POSSIBLE
STAIRWAYS . WILLIE MAYS (of PMC) AND )
DECIDED ON | STEP IN DININZ ROOM , 4}

WINDERS , 5 JERS IN MAIN RUN. TREAD
RON 84" CAT WinDERS * 18" RADIUS £/4 "RUN)
REEE HEIGHT 8%@” APPROX. - 1T DOES NOT
| DIIDE EVENLY )
B R N R e, T 0P
OJRN To PROJECT SIGN ARRINED
- MR SMITH APPROVED THE |IDEA TO PUT A SMALL
-~ CLOSET (NDER THE STAIRS RY RE-UsiNG THE
| 4 1965 Six PANEL KITCHEN DOOR, CUTTING IT
¢ own To. 587 AND 4-PANELS.
VPO BACKFILLED  Now THAT GROUND IS FROZEN
~ PND THeY CAN GET THEIR MACHINES IN. 4iso

INSTALLED TRANSFORMER BT NO POWER. (AN
BE TURNED oOn YET,

TIAN TT6

Pis




o AN 76 GEORGE SMITH APPROVED PURCHASE OF
AND PRIMER-
-STE’JPPEE,AFOE ME To STRIP DOORS + (WINDODWS
AND, WEATHER PERMITTING, PRIME pNew) WORK .
WE HAVE INSISTED ON REPLACEMENT SIDING-
BEING 100% ACCORATE. : RECTANGULDR.SECTION
 YELLOW PINE 5/4 xco’/z,” ACTURL . THIS HAS
HELD PMC OP CONSIDERARLY PMC HAS
O FOUND ANOTHER. SOURCE. OF NOMIANAL (X8
CWHICH Wil HAVE TO BE REMIus> T© T M
ToON To THE PROPER- SIiZ&. WHEN IT COMES,
'\ WILL PrRE-PRIME plL SIDES of T BERE
L INSTALLATION).
CEOBRGE ASKED ME T© BEGIN WRIT/NG

| SPECIFICATIONS FOorR PHASE TWO— IE

CKIMeHEN), BATHRCOM TiLE, DRYWALL TAP/NG,
CFENCING y  LANDSCAPIA IS | ETC.
ELECTRICIAN BEGINS INSTALLATION OF

CIRCUIT BREAKERL. PANEL .

TJBN TG ELECTRICIAN - BATHRODM FAN-LIGHT

WORKED ON) SERVICE ENTRAANCE.

INSTALLED ,

PIPE CEMENTING IT 5TO  WALL I CELLARL



L MNUE: Dueinve THes PERIOD ; ME BEANDT HAND
SIANLEY ARE — INSULATING  AND DY (WALL /0T~
AND  PMC  CARPENTERS WILLIE maKs And
DENNY ARE  WORKING ON. EXTERIOL
SIDING AND TR 1), B / Al ST I1PP/ N2~ AL
WINDOWS, DOORS , TKIM AND KFEGLAZING SASH.

D IAN T . WEST KiTeHEn DOOE 45 Mew), THE Lok &5
SALVAGED  FRom THE BrensAed.

S JAN Te SAT FMC - o/ /eL1E  RGAIV Lok inG-
OVERTIME . [ LIORKED O THE Gur7ees
HOUSE FPROBAALY HAD MONE.
THEY ARE ANOT OR/IG/NALA (BUr on) MAr-
NEGRETTS ADVICE |, WE DECDED THEY SHOULD
£ BE RETANED 7O MELP PRESERVE THE
EXTERICR_ FRO/ WATES DAMARGE. THEY APE
SEM = CIRCULAR, GALVANIZED IRON AND Whsee
= THEY  HAD  BECOME CLoGGED > ANTERIOR RUST
. | HAD PITTED THEM AnND SmAce LEAKAGES
HED _OCCURRED, Tp  REMED Y THESE, OA)
— ! ME BRANDTS SUCGCESTION, | WIRE -
- BRusHep THe INTELIORS, PATeHED

DR
WERE
GCERAM,
AS S5
As i
| WHET
| INAL

12 J/w; 76 '8




THE HOLES WOrTH A  COMPRSITION] TRAR MIXTURE
AND  FINE MBH FIBERLGLASS CLOTH. WHEA)
THIS PRIED | THE ENT/LE NTELDES OF

ALL CUT7ELS WELE PAINTED /74 DE-RUSTo"

PAINT SPEC/ALLY POLE EALVANI/ZED FROA)

DR /P CARS “REPLACED BY C CONTEACTORS
ERE JVADE FRO7] GERMAN) SIDING | ALTHOUGH
CERNAN SDING LIRS NOT CBED OV THE HOUSE
AS SIDING ONTIL ~18F3, CERMAN 51D/
AS DR/P CARS WERE QN THE FARLIEL HOUSE,
WHETHEE THESE WELE ADDED AFTER OR/IG—

INAL  CONSTEOCT o) 4S5 NOT  AROWA).

2 AN 76 JANNIS ELECTRIC .  FINSHED ELECTRICAL FAr/r.

IS2IPN 76 JEPOOS FrELD SUAERVISOL. ASKED How

SOoN  THEY CavkD CHANGE OVEL 70  peyw)

ELECTEICAL, SERVICE SHUsTern) . [,7?45/{’5 LS

Now — CHLY — ONE  OPERABLE m:ag‘;; 65%7‘
i

OF FEARLIER. ELEC. SVC, JUST BY PANEL
nS o=+ A’/}—C/f(_?&.),j




I BN T FAIRFAX COUNTY ELECTRICAL
IMSPED L., MR, CRABTREE CAME. HE
KINEW — NOTHIA/G ABOUT  THE HISTORICAL
BUILDING WAIVEL ABOUT HEADRCO) IA)
CELLAR- By PANEL SO WOULD ANOT PASS
VS O FINAL IMSPECT70A) . ALSo HE
RS A TEEeT tugoae A D4S—
AFPROLED  GROUNDING 70 WATER L INES
AFTER  THE WATER METER . SAID IF

b THEY (FUvRE TEAANTS) Evee TooK THE
METEL. OJT |, THE SYSTEM Would HAVE
NC GROUND, HE ALSO WANTED 7o SEE
IHE BIETER,  CATCH 22 .

THE SUVFAELLISORL. FROM CEDAL ROORS
CAZE BY TO EEE wWHAT THE COMPLAINTS
RBOUT  FLASHINGS WELE AL ABOUL. HE
HAD .  MNoT SEEA) OUL. SPECS . EITHER.. S
HE CAULED Puic 70 CHaEK WHAT PHIC
= .S?'/Lc. CANTED. A1) TO DO,

NPT




15 A1 76 NORTH EnDd OF FPORCH ROOF WAS
COUNTER -FLASHED BY  CEPAR -ROORS’ AND
PAT  PADBELG CAmiE BY 10 FERSONALLY BE
SUKE  THE WORK WAHS DONE To HIS SATISFACTON). |
FOR. PHASE L , PAT ASKED ABOJT KITCHEA
SFPECS .  TO GET AN UNDERCOUNTEL. RE-
FRIGERATOL. AND FREEZER. TO F/7, COUNTEL-
TOP  MmuST BE FiM. HT. 367 . THERE /5

\NO  GOOD  LRY OF FUDGING OR GETT/NG-
AROUND  THIS STANDARD  DIMEMS/ON) . wn -
 FORTUNATEL Y THE (SOU7TH  KITCHEN & inDou)

| THEN  Wite NOT CeEAR THE COUNTERTOPR
WE AGEEEDL 17 oD, HOw/ELEL BE FEAS/BLE
| 7O  RAISE THE ENTIEE Wi dow) v 37
WITHOUT — DAMAGING PROPORTIONS OB8Viouss 3
AND  THIS  oved REQUIPE A MODIFICATI oW
OF OFPFGS SINCE  WINDOW  SHO VLD

BE  NMoOVED BEFOLE DL WHILE THEY(PVC)
A JRE  REPAIRING SOUTH WALL EXTERIL,
\SIDING  AnD  WINDDD TRIM). | e

<1
INTIATE R REQUEST RO THE MODIFICATION |
XSEE JAN Q0 FOR " REQUEST- DENIED "




. | THREE VEPCO CREWS WORKED HERE

TODAY, ONE ADDED GRAVEL OVER. | 1581
AREA OF DRIVELWORY WHICH WAS DISTURRED .

% WHEN) THEY TRENCHED. TWo OTHER. 7 JAN 76

CREWS TIE IN' THE TRANSFORMERE. AND s

NEW overHeAD Pore LINE. ( APPARENTLY Nei

VEFRCo &OoT THEIE. O'K’ EROM FAIRFAX ca) lf LIG

T, (WITH NEew weon) | DO

AN G 76 MR BRANDT PATCHED , BASERCARD (\) | WM

NW CORNER OF DINING ROOM WHIXH wAS / ND

DAMAGED BY GRIFF)N PLUMBI NG, | we.

ED OF JANNIS ELEC. TESTED CIRCU (TS l[ wel

= | AND  INSTALLED WALL PLUGS +SWITCHES . ‘ SOy

I YES,'THES(:U!AJ\IQJPEQTJO!\J WAS PASSED, PowEe. 1' HAD

- WILL START ON New LINE ON MONDAY ©en!® | St

A | TELEPHONE. 15 STiLL NOT  HOOKED. OP iJ| We

| ED SUSGESTED THAT HEATERS SHouLD NOT oz

= | BE INSTALLED UNTIC DRYWALL (S TAPED, 112

Bl FINISHED, AND PAINTED. | ASKED GEORGE. | Fec

- SMITH ABUT. THIS , THEN  RICHARD EwALD, AND f DiDs

WAITING TIL AFTER. Pdase IT (FINisHING The




 DRYWALL)  WitL PREVENT THEM EROM FIN-
LISHING | AND GETTING PA\D FOR , PRASE s

17 JAN 7o~ WICK AND | WENT TO GENERAL WRECK N~
IC FIND AN 0OLD 4-PANEL Dook. TOR. THE
New BaTrroon) (0D BATHROOM HAD A
LIGHT |, OBVIOUSLY 1940-isH 2 PANEL
DOOCE. WHICH wWAS NOT .‘E\HTABLEB
WHicH we FTOUND AT CAST. THEY HAD
NO SUITARLE REPLACEMENT WiINDOW SASH,
WE Also WENT T GEORGETOWA) AND
WEEE DISMAYED TO LEARNY THAT OCURL
SOVECE. OF 61D RIMLOCKS (AN’T(QUE&:AET@ANS;)
HAD GONE OUT OF RUSINGSS . ALso We
StorPep AT ACME  STE  COMPANY | \WWHERE
WE HAD FouND OLUR (COOKSTOVE | INS THE
HoPe THAT THE PARWE STOVES  WARE
StiLe Tueee, (THEY ) HAD HaD 2 PEE-
FECT ONES Toe- Fi126% ga, , BUT WE
DIDN'T  HAVE  THE CASH  ONTIL THE
TRUST ASSURED US THEY wWouLD REIMBURSE




VS | wHcH THEY  STILL HAUENl})_ BJUT THE

FARWOE.
TIME FOR GETTING> Trﬁsksroua WAS GETTIND
CLOSE THCSE  SIOVES WeErEe GONE., AND

THE PARWOE. JoVES THEY NOW HAD FOR_

CSALE WERE AOT AS  APPROPRIATE, AND

cosT  T300 v F40o.

AT A FLEA MARKET IN GEOCRGETOWNA,

WE MISSED PBUYING ONE  FOR TI3%2 BRE-

CAUSE WE CouLD NOT REACH ANYONE.
AT THE TRUST TO APPROVE THE PORCHASE ,
AND IT WAS SoD 30 MIN, LATER. TOo SOMEONE

ELSE. PURCHASE ORDERS AND OPEERATIND-

THRU  BUDGETARY. CHANNELS JUST WilL NOT
WOKK  TOR THIS KIND OF OPPORTUNISTIC SHOPP/AD-

MOn Jand 19,1976

MR. BRANDT | IN INSTALLING ORD TR ARDUAD WIND0WS

PISOVERED THAT /T UKS NECEsSAeY 7o Rodr (U7
FPAKT 0F BAK COF TRM Wod) To EGET A &OOD

SN bzt Berr  DRIWALL WARLL AND  WinDow

FEAME .




Neww) WETER. M NeW ERVICE CONMMETED BY WD

I T6  NAT NEBLETT s THE S. KITCHEN [N 20L) CAN NST
- BE MOIED,  BECAUSE 1T NOPARDIZES THE AcclRACH
OF THE EXTECIOE. RESTORATION AND NATIWAL
\PARKS SERVIE  ANRS ARE INVOIVED,
RICHARD Eniied DELIIERED HEATERS (8307M) Foe
 INSTALLATION  ToM 0RO

A ST EVEN WHEN WE HUWE RUNNING wIATEE | wk
DONT HIVE RUNNING waATER. | THE kireHEN,
\PALY  AND  DEAIN LINES ARE FROZEN AGAIN.

WE HAVE HEATER TAPES  AND  INSUZATION , AND
AN E%%?/‘f“?mﬁ HEQTEL. GOING /N THE CELLAR.
(VERY EXPENSIVE 70 RN’ ) AND EVERYRACE
WE CAN REACH BUT NOT LNDER THE KITTHEL,
BECAHWSE Yoo CANT GET THERE WITHOUT TAKIMS-
e  FLOOE UP  [(WcH (S PHASE L, WHICH
BT APPROVED YET ) . EvEn Twe wew Kiewe/
DRAUN  LINE 45 FROZEN, BECALSE 17 CAN T
BE &ar AT 10 STRAP (T U, Anp /7 HAS




BEING FLASTIC, DEIELOPED A SAG, WHERE
- ST S Mo FROREN . BT, ONCE THE LE4KS
W THE SURRLY LINE  WERE LOCATED , AT AEAST
I DIDN’T  MIND THEM CUTTING- ANETHES.
SIMALL  ACITNSIZED  HOLE [N THe MesADY
ROEN FOOR, TD FIX THE LEAKS. WE ADOED
MOKE  WNousAmer) —AS FAL AS WEe Cau)d
- REACH BT NTHNG |5 REALLY GOING 760 HELP
- UNI7<  PHASE 77,
IR . CRENDT f STANLE Y . SR07- IWORK — TO
BE SURE  Despisc AND TAPING ARE
LDOMNE  EANOUGH ) EACH Koo So THRT

- EETRCa CAN ASTALL  THE HEATERS

NI/ alng To THE FNIC WAREHOUSE 5HoP
o FRIME  THE  SiDiai (K HAS
ST RRRIVED BAck FRoM BEINT-

S BEMEDS . IT 4S  COD , LA 7ED,

- THERE, B | more THE  PRIMER.

- DR/ES ok  EvesTiALe 2

A3 JON T

.
7/

| A




<3 Jﬁ/;u /e  RETER 984/ N RORPT BELIDE. BROKE -?‘L

| UWE 105 ppTEe PRESSURE | COLD sy KEEF
K1ienen’ WATEE RUNANNG | HOT wWATER.

| AINE  LNOEEC A7 FZOOL FeprE B sl

SP2i7 B [ HAVE  ANOTHER: HOCE A ""vp...'ﬁ '|'|||||".|| |'|
|H||||| |I
il

\\ u " ll

o JAN |76 GRIFFIN  PLUMBING  INSTALLED NEw) | h |"|‘” “'|‘ m
I |||||

MY KigesENS Froo”R. .

MR. BEANDTS LAST DRY Herpe R A tesxk '

BATHERCO/T)  SINK  AND  VANITY,
,l ELECTRIC/AN) FINISHED UPrP EXCer] FoR
| WORK WHiCH REQUIEES PARTS HE CAN’T
| GET YET, OB (JOck wHICH 1S DERERDEWNT
'\ ONn PHOSE IT (e KfTChLEAA

| AmM HAVING A VELYy MARD TINME FiadINS-
RIMLOCKS, LIGHT FIXTURES, CURBOARD (ATCHES,
HINGES | [WHLLPAPEL (JELL PUnpP

[
|
| *
 LOODLAWN  PCANTATION GETS 1TSS WATEL. FRO]
FOR] REL VOork
1




WED 28 JAN 170 5 FE® 1976
NO  WORKMEN , NO ANYBODY. AND THO
THERE 1S A LOT OF STUFF AND RUNNING-
ARCUND To DO, | DARE NOT LEAVE THE
HOUSE , FOR NOPBODY HAS SAID THEY (oN'T
Come. CABIN FENER , CoLD, FLU-ISH. |
DONT KNOW WHY | FEEL 1 HAVE To BE
HERE EVERY MINUTE. WORK CREWS ARE
HERE, AND YET WHEN I'Mm HERE 1'M
L OUT OF THE(R. WAY mMcS OF THE TIme AND
F I'M EONE , BNEN - QUST To GROCERM -
SdeP 02 o To THE LAUNDROMAT, SOME—

THING GOES WRONG OR SOMEBODY NEERS
A DPECISION) .. .

> FEB 70 PMC  BESINS THE WEST WALL, THE wWIND
TAS  BEEN BLOWING THRO THE SIDING FOR. MONTHS,
. AND | HAVE To KEEP TACKING SIDING BOARDS
_-bAq( UP  TO LESSEN THE WIND BLOWING THRU,
- BUT  THIS- NO SIDING - 15 WORSE., (TAK:UG_THE

OLO DowN To PUT THE NEW UP) EspeciaLlY

AND
LWy
| CoOPi




SINCE  THE COOKSTOVE, AND HEAT , IS ONLY

IN  THE KITCcHEN CLOG CARST TORN) OonN THE
ELEC, BASEROCALY
| PARTIALLY I NSTALLED , HEAT \YeT,
ME - SMITH APPROVED THE SUG&EESTION THAT
sHow A
| SIDING ON WEST  WALL NOT j BREAK AT JUNCTION
OF DINING ROOM AND KITCHEN BECAUSE THE
ADDITIOAN) BREAK LINE 1S RETAINED O©MN
LEAST WALL AND AN UNBROKEAN SURFACE
GIVES BETTER. WEATHER. PROTECTION TC
THE BOILD NG,
7T FERB 76 PMC WORKS THRU THE WEEKEND TO
| GET  WEST WALL <¢LOSED BACK UP So WeE
CAN GET WARM AGAIN, THERE IS A HORRIBLE
| FIERCE.  PENETRATING WiND BLOWING ToDAY.
| REALLY PITY THEM. THEY HAVE TO SICGP AND
WARM UP  EVERY HALF HDUR. THANK GOODNESS
| FOp. THE STOVE. WE KEEP COFFEE OAN FOR. THE
|WORK CREWS AT ALC T/IMES , BUT TODAY IT

LAND  HIOT SOUP WERE (NDISPENSIRBLE.

WHY (s T THAT THE WEATHER. <0ST WILL NOT

| COOPERL.ATE ?



9410 FEB- PMC TRIMMED WEST WALL. | AM NOT
HAPPY QABOUT THE ACCURACY OF THE W.
KiTcHen) winDow) (e 1968-1G69) APAPTON .,
PAT PADPERG ASKED FOR A LIST OF YET-
10 BE- COMPLETED 1 TEMS (PHASET COMTR
1 PATCH EAST PORCH SIDING WHERE PIPES
USED To ENTER.

2 abRIPLCABARD. (WL,

D, NW. CorNER BOARD

4. Lowee W. 1893 SiLu

5. SUPPORT NEEDED foR FLOORING, 6@7-%0CKH

G. W KITCHEN WINDouw) \

1. CONCRETE PATcH NEEDED AEOUNDMgt(/g ENTRANCE
THRU CELLAR. WAL,

8. LIGHTN N2 RODS -RE-INSTALL

. | 9. GUTTERS - Re-INSTALL

(O« QUeSTIONS for NAT NEBLETT. (WASHER/DRYE,

C/TERIOL. CONVENIENCE OUTLET . (12 FER.

NAT AGREES WITH PMC THAT THGSE
| ARE lMPRACTlCAL_D
- Il. HOW T VENT RATH FAN >




| NAT OK ED A CIRCULAR. PAITELL) OF DRILLED
HOoLes N S0, GABLE, SXEEENED BEHIND,

| FOZ  BaTH TFAN,

ISFEB 76 WK IS IN BED SICK WIiTH THE FLU.
THEN ME TOO _ FOR A % WE
BOTH STAVED DOWN wWIiTH THE FWL.
Shen BROUGHT JUS HOT oD SOMETIMES
BuT WE Weere Too MISTRABLE To GET UP
AND KEEP A FIRE GOING 10 COOK. FOR
CURsSELVES , NOR DID WE HAVE ANY
APPET)TE, THEA) , JUST AS WE RECOVERED,
TRE HOPSES CGOT FLU/SHIPPING FEVER.,
BY THE I17TH, WE WERE (P AND AROUT, AT

LEAST,

17 FEB 76 MAT MOSCA FRONM TROSH HEADRUARTERS
COMe To Do PAINT  ABNAWSIS — HE CUT

AWARY LAVERS OF PAINT DOWAN To BASE COAT

AND VISCALLY  MATCHED IN  MCST PLACES.,

HE Tcok. R FEW SAMPES BACK To THE (AR
INCLUDING g SHINGLE WITH  TRIM PAINT GREEN




IS FER MR SMITH BROUGHT RINLOKS WHICH
He BOUGHT NEW AT A  HARDWARRE
STORE (N WINCHESTER,VA. THEY ARE
PLAINER AND FLIMSIER. THAN THE OW
ONES., (To BE [NSTALLED on feepeoom)

BATH, STupY, STAIRWELL, CLOSET, W. DN ING-

Deors ).  GLAZED REDWARE KNOBS , FROM

THRUOUT THE HOusE HAVE Beed MOVED

To ALL RBE ON FIRST FLOOR ,

9 FER 7e  NEW ACOUNT NUMBER. FROM VERCO FOR.
MASON HOUSE. WiLe BE. 79 47 0352 &

27 FEB, WICK AND | CLEANED UP LAST OF DERRIS
FROM BACK. FIELD READY FOR MR.RATTEA)
T HAUL AWAY. HAULED IN 3 PIekUP
LOADS OF &CRAP WOOD FROM SAME FIELD
FOR FIRBWOooD . WE Took DOUVIN THE
ROTTED PoSS  AND BARE WIRE SEPA-

RATING THE  FIELD FRoM THE HOWRE

AND 40D AND DISASEMBED THE KENNEL
AND Do £uUnN

| MAE 197

-




|
| MAR 1976 MR BRANDT <CAME BACK. TO TRIM
INTERIOR. OF DOORS ¢ WINDOWSS _ UNTIL
FURTHEE NOTICE - - -
2 MAR. 197G ELECTRICAL INSPECTOR. FAILED US

ON THE FINAL BECAULVUSE .

1. LACKED 2 OUTLET COVERS 1IN GUEST ROOM)

Z. OJILET 1IN STUDY HAD REVERSED POLARITY

S. LACKED GROUND FAULT INTERVPTER. BREAKER.
IN BATH CUTLET CIRCULT

4. FAN LIGHT SHoULD NOT BE cuer. TUR

5, MAIN GROUND AT WATER METER. WRONG-

@. DINING RN HeAT NoT COMPLETED, THEREFORE
NOT GROUNDED

1. CORNINZs CCOKTOP AND DRYER. NOT
OFFiciALLY DELETED FRom SPECs

8 KITcHEAN) Nor  DoNe.

SMAR- ME BRANDT ot B MANSIOW

Bmee MR @RANDT «t TPoPe-LeEiGHEY House

9 mae. SNow- MR BRALDT 10:30 -2,




12 IMIAR. T FPLUMBING |MNSPECTO £ MAY pa
CANNGCT GIVE S5 A "FASS® on) e
FLUIBING FNAL  INSPECT /oM BECAUSE | _ LalE
NO  FINBHED FAULETS IN TUS, NO WALL ~Ties _ AD
E _kE 7,
15 MAL. 76 RICHALD EtiReD CALLED AND BEEn
WANTED 70 ANoOw) WHAT To DELETE So =
HE oD GET PAI1D, | REFEELRED w177 e
O PAT + GEORSE. ___AND
THES
Il MAR 76  GEORGE DIsSTL  CAME Do) GOl
FROM TRUST HEADQUARTERS 7o Grue e
VS ADVICE OA/ PAINTMIEG . AND WE LEFT
BEGIN  PREPABRATION RAND PRIMING - | Jo XK
NO INTERIOL. WORK CAA) BE DONEGE JINTIC [THES
- DRPwhce (5 TAPED, ETC, /A ST e x
. STRIPP/ N & LOOD W 0K, AL
& | AS IF
TS SPRING WE HAD FOUR SETS OF HOUSE - LIKE

BUESTS [ 70 JRUEEAS EACH,” AND FOR. | MONTH | e

- HAD A BROKEAS HAND AND ARN (& A CAST




MAY anpD JonE 7776 PREPARAT 0D OF KITCHEAD,

| GME) THE DESQIALL LAS THAEA) JEF THE KIFCHEAS CE/M/Z-
\AND WALLS LAST UINTEC) DR 1iBiNB— AND INSUATHAS
WE 7DU0D  THAT THE CE/L/AG- LUTH EXUSED JoISTS H4D
BEEN PRINTED ( LML DASHED ) lusiTE poRIGAAL COATE)
THEN BLUE |, BEFORE CE/L/INMG- WAS CLOSED /7).

WE HAND-SCRAPED THE BOT707S CF FLOOR BORLLS
VAND EXFOsED JST5E To BARE wWo0D | THEN WASHED
THEM Do TO REMOVE DUST , £rc. (THE BLUE
COLOR 15 WHTER. SOLUBLE ) . ONE SECTION WHICH
Wite BE CASED & | AT ToRS OF CRHBNWETZS , WAS
LEFT LNTOUCHED THE JO/S7S HAD BEEAN, DRILLED
O Rond 2 GENERATIONS OF WIRING, AND

\[THE TOF EDcES AT CENIER HAD BEEN CUT OUJUT
" x 3" FROmM ABOUE  AND FLoOR. BOARDS
JMMEDIATELY ABOVE  SHOWED SIGAS AND DLITS
AS IF  THEY HAD REEN REMOVED __ LOOKS
LIKE. A ~PIPE - FOR B EAS LIGHT ) CEAVER
OF  KITCHEN B THAT SEEMS  UMLIKELY



~ AL 4 KiTeHEN) WALLS weee oficimaLLy | =
SHEATHED /N RANDON WIDTH PINE T36, | WAL
WEST  WARLL NOW. MISSING SINCE 1968 FRE A
NORTH KITCHEN WALL SHEATHING JAS LERT

INEA
INTACT - MOT  REMOVED BY Us S/MeE wlE COuLd : WAS
GAIN Access  ViA - Dinuner  Room) SiDE. Tros)
HEATHIN G- FROW)  OTHEE  TWO k)TCHER) wor
WALLS — HAS  BEEK SAVED FoR. FE-iSALLAT o) PA AT
AT on)  NORTH (IBLL WAS BADLY AT _E
BLISTERED FROM 1968 FIRE , S0 | TORCHED _ AND
AND  SCEAPED, AND WASHED AND SANOED 17
CENTERED on) THE CHIMNGY | THERE 45 NEVEK
FPAINT LAYERING EVIDENCE FOR AN ARTI - |STOVE
Bl ke MA«\,’?Z% COL0R  LAYERING RPART | Bureg
FROM  THE MANTEL  AND IN THE “ FIRE Box” APEY O5TEN
LJAS ( OLOEST Jo NEWEST ) ! GREEN(SOBLE) Brve (ot um) E | RCOm?
= Wory sRGEN RED vopy &SrEEA BEH IND THE THIS
[MANTEL. “SHACoW) * THE SEQUENCE STARTS Lui7it KITCHE

L WoRY  (OmarTing THe EIRT Touo 449eRS) OVER, SHELE
- BALE LX0D, THeEy — GRGEN, RED oy, GREEA. NEAE




;: ASSUMIE THE PPNTE. LIRS ORIGIAAL , THEM
| WAUS WERE PRINTED BREEAN, THEAN BLIE.
| THEN CHR/2- RA COAS LAPFLr/ED P 7O
MANTEE . ROON RS PANTED WO . M AHATEL
WAS  ReEpIOVED , BREMAMNING CHAZ RAL SEC—
T70o/) AND PAFEH AIANTEC SCAE  ALSO DL TED
WOLY | THE MPANTEL 17552F MAY HAVE BEEA)
FAINTED OR- STHMED MED. DARL BROWA  AS
AT EDGES OF BHADOW' THERE ARE DRIP
AND  SMUDGE MARKS OF THIS COLOoR,.

THIS whRS A FALSE MANVTEL , (8. THERE
NEVER (JAS A FIREPLACE THERE , BJT A
\STOVE . WOULD QUAKERS (WHO wWeE BetiEueEd
BuiLT  THE  KiITCHER)) HAVE USED THis BI7 OF
OSTENTATION 7  IN A KITCHEAN) 7 WAS TH(S
Reom  THEN NOT ADDED BY QUAKERS T (JAS
THIS ROOr) ORIGINALLY OTHEL.  THAAN £
A ;'Tc#é,u/_ A FPARLOL. MAYBE’> whS A MANTEC
SHELF NECESSARY or (SEFUL IN A KITCHEN,
\NEAE. THE STtovE ?7




LOOK Inics BACK OM. MY NOTES, AT THE
FAINT  rRYERING , THE COUNTER. |, prso ON
BAKE OQD, LEADS ME 7o BELIEVE THAS
Room  HAS ALWAYs BEEN A 5ITCHEL.,
IT WAS A  KITCHEN LWHEN MRS THORPE
LIVED HERE, ANMD 1T 15 THE BES; PLACE
FOE A KITCHEN AW TOO.




PrasSE [T

SPECS POT our 9 APR. I976; BIDS OPENING 12MAY 1976; §
NAT, PARK SVE. FONDING JONE (976 y PAT PADRERG (PMC)

SieNep CcoONTRACT (7 JUNE 1976 - HE HAS 20

DAYs To START, D0 MORE DAYs To FINISH .

b JULY 1976 PAT <AmME BY TO LET Os KNOws THEY

WiLL BEGIN TOMORROW , BY REMOVING THE
KITCHEN) FlLooe_ . | THeEN MoOVED A

MINiMUM  KiTeren (1 CABINET FOR. FOOD 4 UTEASILS

15 ALL 1'VE HAD TOB MONTHS ANYWAY) T

DININSG Room . WE wWiLL USE A CAMPIN

PROPANE SToVE. AND THE BATHROOM

SINK, ,

7 JOY 1976 PMC MOVED OUR. COOKSTOVE OUTDOORS,

WHERE | WRAPPED IT (N HEAVY PLASTIC..

THEY REMOVED KITCHEN) SINK AND FLOORING,

LO& FHoog JOISTS RON) E-W AND ARE \

AXED OR ADEED FLAT ON THE TOP ONLY.




T2 JOISTES A%OST SOUTH END OF KliCHi:U

ARE ROTTED AT ENDS ESPECIALLY THE OME_
THAT HAD BEEN CUT AND RESET ON) THE
CONCRETE 1=c:>oTnJcr)r AND WAS EXPCED TO
WORST oF LEAKINZG PLUmMBING AND REFRIGERATE
[TH-E OL> ROUNDTOP FRIGIDAIRE , WHICH WE MOVED
OUT-OF-DOORS |, ALWAKS LEAKED A SMALL BUT
STEADY AMOUNT DUE TO CONDEMSQT!O?\D
KITCHENY FHLOORINSG WHICH WARS REMOVED (WAS
UNIFORM  WIWDTH TS &, PART CEDAR , PART PINE |
mEr FINOHED  TOP AND BOTTom , AND APPARENTLY
BUT NOT (CERTAINLY  ORIGINAL , BASED ON NAL feres
IN Lo& JoIsis. THE SiUs ARE OK EXEPT
DIRECTLY UNDEE. W, KITCHEN Dool.,

NEW FLOOR wiLLe BE IMPOSSIBLE To GET

- ABsocutELY  LEVEL BECAEE OF GRADUAL

* APPARENTLY TO INSTALL THE TQOTING ForR. A WASHER. (iT HAs BOLTS
- BMBEDDED INIT) . THE T¢& FLOORING (WAS CUOT
OUT = 3'x3’ Box- Aoem WAS BUILT, CONKEETE WAS
- PugeD Ppeom INSIDE - THE ROOM | THER) THE TLOOL. wWAS
PATCHED. LArel THE EATIRE r‘z_oo,e, WAS COVERED WITH

mn.semme AND ASPHALT TILES,

TAK

. ThHAT

Acce

| Resgy




SUESIDENCE OF WHOLE FOUNDATION AND
HOUSE IN THE SOUTH.  BUT SUPRLEMERTARNY
PAIRED 2x8 NEuw JOSTR Wikl BE USED TO
MAKE THE Frooe. A taT Peane (EVen iF

| “-2" OUT OF |—(»OfdiZOM'_IAL.> UWITHOUT BUCKLES
O WARPS

O MAXIMIZE THE RE-USE OF OLD wood,
THE THIRD JOIST FTROM SOUTH HAs BECw)
TAKEA) OUT AND RELOCATED IN THE PLACE.
OF THE SEconD FROM KNORTH DBDECAOSE DT
THAT LOCATION, T OSHOWS. (N CELLAR
ACcESS,. \T 1S CONCEIVABLE THAT THE
REASON) THE ©CLD 2NP- FRoM-NORTH JOIST
L WAS IN THREE SELTIONS WARS BECAOSE OF
L AN INTERICR. TRAP POOR. To CcELLABR. AUTHo

| CANS FIND NO EVIDENCE oOF M, OR.-SAC

' NONE I THE  FLOORING- WE TTOOK OP.

.-...a—=._.—-....,.—-..._,___.ﬁ__.1,._]
- ~ 2 = |




THU. JULY & 76 MR BATTEN ¢ TIN  SROT- Pac it | Din

- CELLAR. ACESS 4 FCONDATION WALS | 558
FROM  INSI(PE. ., MR. SMITH Prked | NOI

OUT  BATHROOM TILE | HAL

- ELECTRICIAN)  WIRED KITCHEN , UNDER FrooR__ | THE
DRYwALL-TARING MAN camE  UNANNOUNED. 4 _ | AN

We Din NOT  HAVE ROOMS CLEARED OUT '3 JUY pe

For. HimM | AND THERE WERE WORKMEK i 1 LS

HS (WAY I CLEARED BoomMS. | TO i

JUukY+ 9.6 b
ELECTRICAL |NSPETOR. DID NOT COME. For. | MucH

IS APPOINTMENT SO PMC CREW BEGAN) | Wout
CONCE ALMENT ANYWAY,  PNC  csANED ;'rneq_

-~ OP 4 JNSTALLED AS MUCH FLOORING TO | Iy | S F
- URSTaurs  HaL AS WGE TOSSIRLE, ART 72 . | AND.
= REST it BE N (e, i | DRY W
B | GRIFFIIO STRAPPED OP AND INSULATED PIPES 5 Juryl DrYu
. WUNDER. KITGHEN, STRL
I ‘ I JoLy Py
- Mo 12 JuY T | HAVE ML ROOMS EMPTY ERcerT R mR.

- for eEEsT MASTER (S0 BEDROOM AND . I




PNz Room, WHERE WE ARE Now
SIoRINZz AcL  BuLkY ITEMS WHICH it
NOT . FIT N TROCKL ( MY 1956 HORSE VAR)
HAS BEEN FILLED wWITH STORACE SIKNCE
THE STaRT oOF FPHAOse I) AND WOULD BE.
L ANAGED OUBIPE. .
TARASG
V3 JULY  DrYWwALL AMARY AGREES To WORIK THIS JOB
IN Two PHASES To ACComoDATE US. HE EXPECTS
TO pE READY Fok VS To SHIFT AGAIN ON MON,
PNC's iumpee 15 DEUVERED. THERE IS Too
L MUCH VARIATION TR THICKNESS _ KITCHENS WAUL
LLWOOULD HAVE To BE SANDEPR, AN IMPCSSIBLE o8B —
THEY wilL HAUE To FIND DIFFERENT U000,
FIUY | Do PMC  WORKED ON URSTAIRS HALL FLOOR/NZ>
AND TILE MAN WAS i THE BATH | So THE
 DRYWALL MAN LEFT .
'BJuny DRYWALL TAPING MAMN Sis SHIFT FORNITURE TULES.,
STRUGFURAL. INSPECTOR- PASSED KITCHEAN) JOIST..
JoY PMC INSTALLED KIT. FLOOR.ING-

MR BRAKNDU 1S HERE ToDAY. HE DERYWALLED




REMAIN NG DININE WAL , AND BRICKED
UP THIMRLE IN DN R (SincE 'T.SHAE.ED
THE KITCHEN FLUE AND THE TwWo Siove
OFENINGS WERE Too CLOSE TOGETHRER To
BE sAare - 3/ s RECOM”’\EN’DED)
NO DeYWALL mon - HUMIDITY AND THE
COMPOUND 15 NOT DBYINZ (VELC.

Ly cagivers peELVECED . PMC CONT,

OIJULY - DRY e man SIS SHIPT RQOMS o THORS,

2 Jory BACKSPLASH CONVENIENCGE OWTLET mis—

S RAED . SHEQ WL HAVE 1O RESWIRE.
. AND REWT RACKSPASH. FITT/AS IN CDRINETR
- AND  CounTseToP  pAs  BEEW HELLISHLY DIFRICULT,

2oy — 1 am HAND-CARRY N2~ wATER. 15 my
= VECETALLE <CARDEN) SinKE  KITEHEL AND HOSE.
& ARE  STILL SUT OFF.

— WoopiawN  STAFF  WELPED MolE TO New SET oF Rooms
_ PRYwALL TAPE PaeT 2 Besin

26 30 76
| WIcK
| AR

MR- B
- OF WK
| SIoRE
| BEE
L To W
’ ELEC
- Couni

27 Joj.!aai DR

ZQJLJ'L\}’ mi

29 Juy MK
| IO




26 JuLy 76
- WICK SOY¥s (We MIGHT GET TRANSFERRED BY THE
ARMY TO GEEMANY  AS EARLY AS THIS OCT. |
. MR.BRANDT ARRIVED, UNEXPECTEDLY. THERE 5 LOTS i.
OF WORK FOR WM BUT WITH THE DRYWALLTAFER. |
- STORED FURNITURE, AND gTHER. WORKMEA) , 1T WiLL
. BE DIFFICULT TO GINE HIM THE SPACE HE NEEDS
- TO WORK.
ELECTRICIAN RICHARD EWALD ADDED AND MOVED
COUNTER. CONVENIENCE OUTLETS
27 Juey  DRYWALL MAN BRCK. ; ELECTRICIAN FINISHES
28 JULY MR BRANDT HERE. CASING WINDOLS.
29 JuLy MR SMITH 4 ME BRANDT DECIDE To TRY
O GET New RERLICA TRIM FOR 1893 URSTAIRS
3O THERE. IS NOT MOCH MR. BRANDT CAN (UORK. O
JUsT QET, He SAYS.

2 MG, = ALL REMAINING CONTRATOR WORK. 1S HELD

UP  WATING ForR. PARTS (FAUCET, REFRIG.ek)



SAUG 76 PMC FINISHED ALl CARPE NTERY

© AUG T6 ARMSTRONG FLOOR. INSTALLED 1N} BATL:

ORUC 76 MR BRANDT , WHO 15 UP AT THE WOODLAWL
OHOP , CAME Town) AND INSTALLED THE
UNDERCODINET  LicHTs ( OkDEEED BY
WOODLAWNS FRoMl  £EARS) 1N KITCHEN.

Il MiG 76 CHARLES HASEMAN ,  NEIGHBDR. VOLWWNTEGE.
PESINS ToDAY , HELP/INZ To PAIT,
DRYWALL FINISHERS FInIsH TODAY  AS Dews
DOES GRIFFINPLUMBIEG ( KIT SINK)

12 QUG 7¢ FLOOR. GANDERS ARRIVE. THEY ToO, e MUG'!
WILL DO wWoeK. Yoo AP 7.2_) WITH US { AN
NOUING OUT OF THEIE WRY  WE WwiLlt Do LT AUG.  mD

- THE  RERINSHING - THEY RECOMMEND TDURA-SEAL B MG o
PENETRATING OL/ SEALER [ &TAIN ., dd | comeiem PAR:

s TRIS CHOICE WITH MR SMITH AT BELLE-GROVE. MOY!

. | AUD GO TO GET SUPPLIES. | BACY

8. . MAS

3 AUG 76 GEDRGE DisTi. , THE TRUST'S PAIRTER. s - HAD




. HERE. TODAY To  HELP CET THE FLOORS
| REFINISHED QUICKLY - WE G&ET THE FIRS(

. . - DA 1SS \
| COAT ON STUDY , co=sST 28 K |7, mmmmee . |\)
 MASTER. PEDRCCYY] THE SANDERS Wit HAVE.

| MORE. WoBK. To DOY, GUEST RCOM  HAS Some TERMITE (?) ||
HOLES TO BE PATCHED.

NG ;)4 | GEORGE DISTL. MID CHARLES WORK TODAY
'\jl:]-
TO EXPEDITE FLOOR. REF/NISHING-

!i-%(&u@ FINAL CoAT DURA-SEAL. N GUEST ROON

|
] ¥

o MG | 1 WAXED AND BUFFED  KiT, DINING, STUDY, GUSST.
| AND PANTING GOES &N, - MOVE ROON - TO- BOOM).,

' !
TAUG,|  Move FURN. FROM ROOM TO ROOM-MR BATTENsT!M Hellf )
IAUG|  WpODLAWN STAFF CAME TO MOVE SOFA OUT OF
| PARLOR. 1T & A Steer-Sora Pasauy 4-man)
MOVIN G TASK. . FLOOR. SANDERS CcOME
 BACK FORL PART Two.( PARLOR, HALL, STAIRS,
MASTEL. BEDROOM ). GEOPGE DISTL 4 T
HAD TIME AFTER THEY LEFT To GET




THE FIRST COAT ON EVERY Newwy
SANDED FLOOPR..

9 AUG  MR.DISTL PAINTS, | PUT THE SECOND COAT OF
DURA-SEAL ON . PAINTING GOES ON AND ON.

23 MIG.  PMC RETURNED ToDAY FOR. FINAL CHECK.
ON  JOB COMPLETENESS , AND RE- INSTALLED
REFRIGERATOR. ¢ FREEZER SO THeY FIT IN
CABINETS BETTER-.

L. 1 KITCHEN CABINET DOOR. NEEDS FLANIUD-

2. | WiNDow (E.KIT) NEEDS HEAD SOP
3. BASE. CABINET> NEED 10 BE FITIED
MORE TIGHTLY AGAINST WALL ¢ ARDOND
PiPes (ADD-0N PIECES @K.) TO
1 DiMinl s MICE Accecs.

4. BATH DCOR. DRAGS ON) THE FLOOR
L O, THRESHHOLDS NEEDED
©. STAIRS SANDINZ- WAS TERRIBLY UNSATS-
FACTORY - LEFT BIG CIRQULAR MARKS
7. PORCH ~50. END- NEEDS, DOWNSPOUT | Sonianct

! PR




THIS AFTERNCON) ;| FINALLY TOUND 2
WALLPAPERS WHICH | FEEL ARE APPRO -
 PRIATE AND PRACTICAL ENOUGH To EN-
COUVRAGE.  INSTALLATION) . THEY DO ~NOT HAUE
- THE  SHiNY INYL conTIiNG, ARE PRE-PASTED,
| DRY- STRIPPARLE , CHEAP ENOUGH AND CooD
| PERIOD PATTERNS. ) HAVE LOOKED AT
SANMPLE Books AT IS SHOPS For. |\ /2 YRS
LAND | BELEVE THIS IS THE BEST WE CAN) O,

25MIGTe MR NEBLETT APPROUED WAWLPAPER.
| CONCEPT AND PdRCH ASE,

| &29T7. 7o MOLDING FOrR. URSTAIRS TRV WAS BROUGHT
BY GEORGE SMITH. HE FouaD A WOBD -
WORKER. (JP-COUONTRY WHD STiLL USES OLD
KNIVES ,  AND FOB- THIS JOB U2ED 50 JEAR_
OLD LUMBER. (TRIM GDOES ARDUND  WINDOWS

4Doors N STuDY £ GUEST Room)

2 SEpT 76 MK MASE! oF THE DownNTown HEADQUARTERS
<AME BY,



S| SEPT. 76 = ELECTRICAL INSPECTOR. cAME

8 4cer g

L

BY SR SEin AL TODAY. THERE 15 A Pareg -

Wory Du:r—wc.uu'ug BECAOAET THE KITCHER)

WORK, WAS DELETED FROM Prase Is Pep-
nNMIT e

WICk | BOILD NG A STove ™D OF QUARRY

TILES AND Y woed so Thar STove 1S
Removaere .

PAISTIANG GoE=. o) AND ON)

ONE Rcom
A LUXURY !

SERT 76 MR BRANDT Is FINALLY BACK ; Becgo
O TRIM BASTER. BEDEROCOM)

@ISEPT 72 mp, BeanDT ONTINUES  BeDRoOoMm
TRIN,  WEATHEL. BAD - ND WAY T (oK.
ON EXTERIOR.  ToDAY. AL INTERIOR
PAINTING / PAPEQING 15 ps Done

WE MOVED COOKSTOVE BACK. INTO K ITCHED.
|S COMPLETE. AND DonE. wWanwAT




AS (T CAN BE. _UNTIL NORE PRBOOMs HAVE.

FINAL CARPENSTEN COMPLETED .

CHARLES WOEBKED SEUSRAL WEEKS,
FOZ US AFTER. SCHOOL ArD THEA)
BECAME A MEMRBREL. OF THE LOooD-
LAWON  STAFE, WITHOUT Hih I'M AFRA D

| WE wWoULD HAVE GIVEN) UP,

THE HoCSE (wWAS FINALLY FIANISHEDS
 oR. AN “OPEN NG RECEPTION  FOR. THE
| ZO-OR~-50 MEMBGES OF WOODLAWALS BoarD
,I OF ADVisoes /’/COUNCJL MEETING- COCT qu
[Buthoveu THE  NAT. TRUST BoaeD oF TRUSTEES (D)
VISITED  BRIEFLY MtD“SE‘PTj WE HELD OUR.

IOWN OPEN HOUVSE 26 DEC. 1976 .

e




Chron. Ho.: Photo io.: 7»60

Property: Woodlawn Plantation

Building: Otis Tufton Mason House

View: _\ZbtsT. TORLLL

pate: &) OCT 7"/) Photographer: LAVEA W ALK EZ

Source:

Remarks:

8x10 copy Neg. Ho. : = oo



Chron. Ho.: _ . Photo io.: #Rf f;

Property: Woodlawn Plantation

Building: Otis Tufton Mason House

View: _EPET TOELLE SHOWING
1 oRgINA)\ LOQL\JOI.‘)TL t%éO

1 AUMBI\NG TOBE REFLALED
pate: B0 (LT 15 Photographer: [AUZS WALK EDZ
Source:

Remarks:

8x10 copy _ Heg. Ho.




Chron. fHo.: Photo No.: //'/(_5

Property: Woodlawn Plantation
Building: Otis Tufton Mason House 0Pl

View: N@N : fq75 NOQ—T-H'
i — FOUN AN

N
Date: MO'\[ 7( Photographer: WA’ WA(L«KEE;____

Source:

remarks:  MATEBR\AL S — POUQ'EP ONCETE

e N ﬁﬂmciﬁr@
: W ITH % L

8x1G copy _Heg. Ho.




Chron; Ho.: o T | Phéto lo.: //}/*ffgw

Property: Woodlawn Plantation

Building: Otis Tufton Mason House

View:_ (ENTZAl - PLTNES

0 LOOZJNCC{ NO=ZT L
N
Date:#H_H‘ zj 25 Photographer: MUZ-A( sz
Source:

Remarks:

8x10 copy Neg. Ho.




Chron. No.:

Photo Wo. : //—4

|

Date: NO\{ 7§

Source:

Property: Woodlawn Plantation

Building: Otis Tufton Mason House
View:_CEIUNG JOISTS (susten rored

- CENTRAL UPAHTAZS
- LOOKI Nq SOUTHWAR D

Photographer: WZA( \NM/ZEZ‘

Remarks:

Ox10 copy

Heg. Ho.




Chren. Ho.: - Photo io.: //’ /

Property: Woodlawn Plantation

Building:_Otis Tufton Mason House

View: CENTEAL WEAET Wi L-
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Appendix B.

Restoration Documentation 1974-1976






HERITAGE CONSERVATION AND RECREATION SERVICE

DEVELOPMENT PROJECT COMPLETION REPORT

GRANT NO. 90-74-00109-00

Miscellaneous Development

Woodlawn

National Trust for Historic Preservation
Office of Historic Properties
1785 Massachusetts Avenue N. W.
Washington, D. C. 20036



PROPERTY IDENTIFICATION

1. Woodlawn Plantation
Mount Vernon, Virginia 22121

2. Grant No. 90-74-00109-00

FISCAL REPORT

1. Total Project Cost:
H.C.R.S. Share

2. Final Cost Breakdown:
Otis Mason House Restoration
Restoration Workshop
PMC Contractors
Material Purchases
Gutters on Mansion
Price Roofing & Sheet Metal Corp.

3. H.C.R.S. Funds Expended

4. Source of Other Funds:
Federal -- ©None
Non-Federal -- Available through donations of cash
and securities, investment income, membership
income, admissions, tour and special event income,
preservation shop sales, advertising and royalty
income.

5. Project Supervisors:
Nathaniel P. Neblett, AIA
Historical Architect
George Smith
Administrator, Woodlawn

CERTIFICATION OF PUBLIC BENEFIT

In accordance with the Charter of the National Trust, this
property will be maintained in perpetuity as a museum for
public use and enjoyment.

CERTIFICATION OF CONFORMANCE

This project was conducted and completed in conformance
with the Secretary of the Interior's Standards for Historic

Preservation Projects.

$42,919
21,459

$ 5,088
26,183
10,254

1,394

$42,919

21,459



E.

REPORT & ILLUSTRATIONS

it

Otis Tufton Mason

This house, located south of the stables across US Route #1 from
the Woodlawn Mansion, was long used as living quarters for stable
help. As such, it was subjected to a great deal of abuse; indeed,
a kitchen fire several years ago resulted in substantial damage to
the southwest end of the building. Although somewhat secluded and,
perhaps, not of museum interest, the house does have an interesting
history and is worthy of preservation.

A young Army officer and his wife stationed at Fort Belvoir became
interested in restoring the house for use as a residence and made
such a proposal to the National Trust. This cooperative agreement,
unlike any preservation vehicle undertaken by the Trust heretofore,
seemed a viable means for rehabilitating the building as well as a
worthwhile social experiment. Captain & Mrs. Walker agreed to supply
labor during the course of the restoration, the National Trust agreed
to furnish materials, preservation expertise, and certain specialized
craftsmanship beyond the capability of the Walkers.

The Walkers moved into the house immediately and commenced archaeological
investigation including probing into the structure. The building
sequence was determined and certain appurtenances such as brick walks

and well location were uncovered. The major change indicated on the
interior was <ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>